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NOTICE TO READER 

 
No person is authorized to give any information or to make any representation not 
contained in this Listing Statement and, if given or made, such information or 
representation should not be relied upon as having been authorized. This Listing 
Statement does not constitute an offer to sell, or a solicitation of an offer to purchase, 
any securities, by any person in any jurisdiction in which such an offer or solicitation is 
not authorized or in which the person making such offer or solicitation is not qualified to 
do so or to any person to whom it is unlawful to make such an offer or solicitation. 

Unless otherwise indicated: 

 all references to dollar amounts and “$” are to Canadian currency; 

 any statements in this Listing Statement made by or on behalf of management 
are made in such persons’ capacities as officers of FAX Capital Corp., (formerly 
God’s Lake Resources Inc.) (the “Company”) and not in their personal 
capacities; and 

 all information in this Listing Statement is stated as at January 10, 2019. 

NEITHER THE CANADIAN SECURITIES EXCHANGE (THE “CSE”) NOR ANY 
SECURITIES REGULATORY AUTHORITY HAS IN ANY WAY PASSED UPON THE 
MERITS OF THE TRANSACTIONS DESCRIBED IN THIS LISTING STATEMENT. 

 
FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS 

 
The information provided in this Listing Statement, including schedules and information 
incorporated by reference, may contain “forward-looking statements” about the 
Company. In addition, the Company may make or approve certain statements in future 
filings with Canadian securities regulatory authorities, in press releases, or in oral or 
written presentations by representatives of the Company that are not statements of 
historical fact and may also constitute forward-looking statements. All statements, other 
than statements of historical fact, made by the Company that address activities, events 
or developments that the Company expects or anticipates will or may occur in the future 
are forward-looking statements, including, but not limited to, statements preceded by, 
followed by or that include words such as “may”, “will”, “would”, “can”, “could”, “should”, 
“believes”, “estimates”, “projects”, “potential”, “expects”, “plans”, “intends”, “anticipates”, 
“targeted”, “continues”, “propose”, “aim”, “depend”, “seek”, “shall”, or the negative of 
those words or other similar or comparable words. 

Forward-looking statements may relate to future financial conditions, results of 
operations, plans, objectives, performance or business developments including, but not 
limited to, statements relating to: 

 the ability of the Company to obtain the necessary CSE approvals; 
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 the Company’s business objectives as well as its investment objectives, 
investment strategy, investment restrictions and milestones; 

 the Company’s use of working capital; 

 the expected timing as to when the Subordinate Voting Shares (as defined 
herein) will resume trading on the CSE; and 

 the Company’s adoption of a new long term share-based awards incentive plan.  

These statements speak only as at the date they are made and are based on 
information currently available and on the then-current expectations of the Company 
and/or assumptions concerning future events, which are subject to a number of known 
and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause actual results, 
performance or achievements to be materially different from that which was expressed 
or implied by such forward-looking statements, including, but not limited to, risks and 
uncertainties related to: 

 the available funds of the Company and the anticipated use of such funds; 

 investments which may be made by the Company; 

 the availability of financing opportunities; 

 the legal and regulatory risks inherent in the different industries and the risks 
associated with economic conditions, dependence on management and currency 
risk; and 

 other risks described in this Listing Statement and described from time to time in 
documents filed by the Company with Canadian securities regulatory authorities. 

Consequently, all forward-looking statements made in this Listing Statement and other 
documents of the Company are qualified by such cautionary statements and there can 
be no assurance that the anticipated results or developments will actually be realized or, 
even if realized, that they will have the expected consequences to or effects on the 
Company. 

The cautionary statements contained or referred to in this section should be considered 
in connection with any subsequent written or oral forward-looking statements that the 
Company and/or persons acting on its behalf may issue. The Company undertakes no 
obligation to update or revise any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of 
new information, future events or otherwise, other than as required under securities 
legislation. See “3. General Development of the Business” and “17. Risk Factors”. 

MARKET AND INDUSTRY DATA 
 
This Listing Statement includes market and industry data relevant to the Company and 
business that has been obtained from third party sources, including industry 
publications. The Company believes that such industry data is accurate and that its 
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estimates and assumptions are reasonable, but there is no assurance as to the 
accuracy or completeness of this data. Third party sources generally state that the 
information contained therein has been obtained from sources believed to be reliable, 
but there is no assurance as to the accuracy or completeness of included information. 

Although the data is believed to be reliable, the Company has not independently verified 
any of the data from third party sources referred to in this Listing Statement or 
ascertained the underlying economic assumptions relied upon by such sources. 

2. Corporate Structure 
 

2.1 Corporate Name 
 
The full corporate name of the Company is FAX Capital Corp., formerly known as God’s 
Lake Resources Inc. The Company's head and registered office is located at 100 
Wellington Street West, Suite 2110, Toronto, Ontario, M5K 1H1. 
 
2.2 Jurisdiction of Incorporation 
 
The Company was incorporated on December 21, 1923, in the Province of Ontario 
pursuant to the Business Corporations Act (Ontario) under the name “Keeley Extension 
Mines, Limited” with an authorized capital of 2,000,000 common shares (“Common 
Shares”). 

On May 24, 1974, the Company filed Articles of Amendment to change its name to 
"Grandad Gold Mines Ltd.". Further, the authorized capital of the Company was 
increased to 5,000,000 Common Shares. 

On July 4, 1977, the Company filed Articles of Amendment to change its name to 
"Grandad Resources Limited”. 

On March 1, 1978, the Company was continued federally under the provisions of the 
Canada Business Corporations Act (the “CBCA”) under the name “Grandad Resources 
Limited”. 

By Articles of Amendment effective August 15, 1983, the authorized capital of the 
Company was increased from 5,000,000 Common Shares to 15,000,000 Common 
Shares, 5,000,000 Class "A" special shares and 4,000,000 Class "B" special shares. 

On December 23, 1986, the articles of the Company were amended to provide that the 
403,077 unissued Class "B" special shares were re-designated as 403,077 Class "A" 
special shares and the rights of the Class "A" special shares and the Class "B" special 
shares were deleted. The 403,077 issued Class "A" special shares were re-designated 
as Class “A” preference shares and subject to the rights thereto. Accordingly, the 
authorized capital was 15,000,000 Common Shares and 5,403,077 Class “A” 
preference shares. 
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By Articles of Amendment dated July 19, 1988, the name of the Company was changed 
to "Great Grandad Resources Limited". Further, the 10,936,926 issued Common 
Shares were consolidated into 5,468,463 issued Common Shares. 

On July 4, 2007, the Company underwent another name change to “GGD Resources 
Inc.”. The issued Common Shares were further consolidated on the basis of six and 
eight tenths (6.8) pre-consolidation shares for one (1) post-consolidation share. The 
authorized and unissued Class “A” preference shares were cancelled. Accordingly, the 
authorized capital was 15,000,000 Common Shares. 

On December 19, 2007, the Company filed Articles of Amendment to consolidate the 
Common Shares on the basis of 100 pre-consolidation shares for one (1) post-
consolidation share with no rounding up for fractional shares. 

On December 20, 2007, the Company filed Articles of Amendment to subdivide the 
issued Common Shares on the basis of 100 post-subdivision shares for each pre-
subdivision share and increased the number of authorized Common Shares from 
15,000,000 to an unlimited number.  

On June 12, 2009, the Company filed Articles of Amendment to change its name to 
"God's Lake Resources Inc.". 

In connection with the Company’s change of business from mineral resource 
exploration to an investment holding company (the “Change of Business”), the 
Company filed Articles of Amendment on December 17, 2018 to: 

 change its name to “FAX Capital Corp.” (the “Name Change”); 

 create a new class of convertible shares classified as “multiple voting shares” in 
an unlimited number (“Multiple Voting Shares”) of the Company and to re-
classify its Common Shares into “subordinate voting shares” (“Subordinate 
Voting Shares”) of the Company (the “Capital Reorganization”); and  

 increase the maximum number of directors on the Company’s board of directors 
(the “Board of Directors”)  from five (5) to 11 and to allow the directors, between 
annual meetings, to appoint one (1) or more additional directors of the Company 
to serve until the next annual meeting; provided, however, that the number of 
such additional directors shall not exceed one-third (1/3) of the number of 
directors who held office at the termination of the last annual meeting 
(“Governance Amendment”). 

In addition, subsequent to the completion of the issuance of 5,555,555 Multiple Voting 
Shares to FAX Investments Inc. (“FAXCo”) on December 17, 2018, at a subscription 
price of $0.72 per Multiple Voting Share (“Share Issuance Transaction”), the Company 
filed Articles of Amendment to consolidate the Subordinate Voting Shares and Multiple 
Voting Shares on the basis of three and seven tenths (3.7) pre-consolidation shares for 
one (1) post-consolidation share with rounding up of each fractional share ( the 
“Consolidation”). See “3. General Development of the Business”, “4. Narrative 
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Description of the Business”, “9. Options to Purchase Securities” and “10. Description of 
the Securities”. 

2.3 Intercorporate Relationships 
 
The Company does not currently have any subsidiaries. 

2.4  Non-Corporate Issuers and Issuers Incorporated Outside of Canada 
 
The Company is neither a non-corporate issuer nor an issuer incorporated outside of 
Canada. 

3. General Development of the Business 
 
3.1 General Business 
 
Until recently the Company’s principal activity was mineral resource exploration. 
Through its previously wholly owned subsidiary (“Subco”), the Company owned the 
following three (3) mineral exploration properties (the “Properties”): (i) the Muskasenda 
Project comprised of one (1) unpatented mining claim in English Township in the District 
of Cochrane, Porcupine Mining Division, Ontario; (ii) the Castlewood Project comprised 
of 16 unpatented mining claims in the Castlewood Lake Area of the Thunder Bay Mining 
Division, Ontario; and (iii) the Shaw Township Project comprised of two (2) patented 
mining claims, which included both mining and surface rights, in Shaw Township, near 
Timmins, Ontario. 

On May 30, 2018, FAXCo, a corporation wholly-owned by Merrilyn Driscoll, purchased 
4,976,075 Common Shares from Michael Sheridan, the former President, CEO and 
director of the Company, and 560,000 Common Shares from Mr. Sheridan’s wholly-
owned company, Tough-Oakes Explorations Inc. (“Tough Oakes”), pursuant to a share 
purchase agreement with Mr. Sheridan and Tough Oakes, at a price of approximately 
$0.2539 per Common Share (for an aggregate purchase price of $1,405,609.44). The 
5,536,075 Common Shares acquired by FAXCo at that time represented approximately 
59.96% of the then issued and outstanding Common Shares.  

On April 30, 2018, the Company announced that it had determined that it was no longer 
appropriate at the time to commence any exploration on the Properties. As a result, the 
Company assigned all of the shares of Subco (the “Debt Settlement”) in consideration 
for settling loans in the aggregate amount of $100,000 (the “Loans”) owed to related 
companies (collectively, the “Creditors”) in order to prepare for its pursuit of other 
business opportunities. As a result of the Debt Settlement, the Company reduced the 
recorded value of the Properties and related field equipment in the audited financial 
statements from $881,545 to $100,000 for the twelve months ended December 31, 
2017.  

On June 20, 2018, the Company announced its intention to proceed with the Change of 
Business as it had determined that shareholder value had better potential to be 
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maximized by considering this new business. See “4. Narrative Description of 
Business”.  

As discussed above under “2. Corporate Structure – 2.2 Jurisdiction of Incorporation”, 
the Company took additional steps in furtherance of the Change of Business, including: 

 appointing directors of the Company, each with a track record of acquiring and 
divesting arm’s-length enterprises and/or the requisite public company and 
industry experience to allow the Company better access to the capital markets; 

 receiving the approval of shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”) at 
the annual and special meeting of Shareholders held on June 29, 2018, to, 
among other things, change its name from God’s Lake Resources Inc. to FAX 
Capital Corp; and 

 receiving Shareholders’ approval at the special meeting of Shareholders held on 
November 23, 2018, (the “Meeting”) to, among other things, proceed with the 
Change of Business, Share Issuance Transaction, Consolidation and 
Governance Amendment. 

On December 17, 2018, the Company completed the Name Change, Capital 
Reorganization, the Share Issuance Transaction, the Consolidation and the 
Governance Amendment. With respect to the Share Issuance Transaction, the 
Company issued 5,555,555 pre-Consolidation Multiple Voting Shares to FAXCo at a 
price of $0.72 each (for proceeds of approximately $4,000,000). As FAXCo held control 
or direction over securities of the Company carrying more than 10% of the voting rights 
attached to all of the Company’s outstanding voting securities, it was considered a 
“related party” of the Company and, therefore, the Share Issuance Transaction was 
considered a “related party transaction” pursuant to Multilateral Instrument 61-101 –
Protection Of Minority Security Holders In Special Transactions (“MI 61-101”) requiring 
the Company, in the absence of exemptions, to obtain a formal valuation for, and 
minority Shareholder approval of, the “related party transaction”. The Company 
obtained minority Shareholder approval of the Share Issuance Transaction at the 
Meeting and relied on an exemption from the formal valuation requirements set out in 
MI 61-101 which is available since no securities of the Company were listed on 
specified markets. The Share Issuance Transaction was approved by a special 
committee, comprised of Frank Potter (Chair) and Michael Singer, both of whom are 
independent directors, which was established by the Board of Directors to, among other 
things, consider the material terms and conditions of the Share Issuance Transaction. 

In connection with the Share Issuance Transaction, FAXCo, as the owner of all the 
outstanding Multiple Voting Shares, entered into a customary coattail agreement (the 
Coattail Agreement) with the Company and Computershare Trust Company of 
Canada, acting as trustee for the benefit of the holders of Subordinate Voting Shares 
(the “Trustee”). See “10. Description of the Securities – 10.1 General”. All 
documentation and press releases relating to the above can be found on the 
Company’s issuer profile on the System for Electronic Document Analysis and Retrieval 
at www.sedar.com (“SEDAR”).  
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3.2 Significant Acquisitions or Dispositions 
 
As discussed under “3. General Development of the Business”, the Company assigned 
all of the shares of Subco in consideration for settling the Loans owed to Creditors. As 
Mr. Sheridan, the former President, CEO and director of the Company, was also a 
director and officer of the Creditors and had a controlling interest in the Creditors, he 
was considered an “insider” of the Company and, therefore, the Debt Settlement was 
considered a “related party transaction” pursuant to MI 61-101 requiring the Company, 
in the absence of exemptions, to obtain a formal valuation for, and minority Shareholder 
approval of, the “related party transaction”. The Company relied on an exemption from 
the formal valuation requirements set out in MI 61- 101 which is available since no 
securities of the Company were listed on specified markets and on the exemption from 
minority Shareholder approval requirements set out in MI 61-101 which is available 
since the fair market value of each of the Debt Settlement does not exceed 25% of the 
market capitalization of the Company, as determined in accordance with MI 61-101. The 
Debt Settlement was approved by the independent directors of the Company. 

3.3 Trends, Commitments, Events or Uncertainties 
 
The Company is subject to certain risk and uncertainties as disclosed in “17. Risk 
Factors”. 

4. Narrative Description of the Business 
 
4.1 (1) Description of Business  
 
As discussed under “3. General Development of the Business”, the Company was 
previously engaged in mineral resource exploration. With the Change of Business, the 
Company became an investment holding company which aims to acquire a 
concentrated portfolio of diversified investments. The Company’s business objective is 
to maximize its intrinsic business value on a per share basis over the long-term by 
achieving superior investment performance with less-than-commensurate risk. The 
nature and timing of the Company’s investments will depend, in part, on available 
capital at any particular time and the investment opportunities identified and available to 
the Company and the composition of the Company’s investment portfolio will vary over 
time depending on its assessment of a number of factors including the performance of 
financial markets and credit risk in the event the Company borrows additional capital for 
the purpose of enhancing the potential returns of the Company. Further, the Company 
expects its investment activities will be primarily focused on corporations located in 
Canada, although investments may extend to the United States and globally. 

The Company’s investment objectives, investment strategy and investment restrictions 
may be amended from time to time on the recommendation of senior management and 
approval by the Board of Directors and the Board of Directors may authorize 
investments outside of the three (3) primary areas discussed under “4. Narrative 
Description of the Business – 4.1(1) Description of Business – (a) Business Objectives”, 
as it sees fit for the benefit of the Company and its Shareholders. 
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The Company aims to adopt a flexible approach to investment targets without placing 
unnecessary limits on potential returns on its investment. The Company will have 
flexibility on the returns sought from any particular investments and its portfolio as a 
whole, while seeking to grow and compound its capital over the life of such investment. 
The Company will seek to maintain the ability to actively review and revisit all of its 
investments on an ongoing basis. From time to time, the Company may insist on Board 
of Directors or management representation with target companies in order to safeguard 
and maximize returns from its investments.  

In connection with the Change of Business, the Company has adopted an investment 
policy (the “Investment Policy”) to govern its investment activities and strategy. A copy 
of the Investment Policy is attached as Appendix “A” to this Listing Statement. 

 (a)  Business Objectives 
 

The business objectives that the Company expects to accomplish in the forthcoming 12-
month period are as follows: 

 The Company will establish a concentrated portfolio of investments that are 
expected to make a significant contribution to its net asset value growth, and 
provide superior returns to Shareholders by way of capital appreciation and long-
term value creation. 

 The Company will invest in the assets of both public and non-public businesses, 
with a preference to invest in public securities. The Company will be industry 
agnostic in terms of investment sectors. 

 The Company will invest opportunistically in both equity and debt securities, with 
a preference for equity and equity-related assets.  

 The Company will aim to acquire significant and influential stakes in leading, 
high-quality businesses, and to gain in-depth knowledge about its investee 
corporations and their business environments. 

 The Company believes in a business model predicated on a long-term 
investment horizon combined with active ownership, and the Company may, from 
time to time, seek a more active role in the corporations in which the Company 
invests, and provide such corporations with financial and personnel resources, as 
well as strategic counsel. The Company may also ask for board representation 
when deemed appropriate from a strategic perspective. 

 The Company may forge strategic alliances on a partnership basis with third-
party investors to help supplement its own capital, where it makes strategic 
sense. 

 The Company’s investments will be focused on the following three (3) primary 
areas: 
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o Listed Core Investments: Consists of publicly listed portfolio securities of 
corporations in which the Company is a significant minority owner; 

o Wholly-Owned and Majority Owned Subsidiaries: Consists of wholly-owned 
corporations and corporations in which the Company is a majority owner; and 

o Private Investments: Consists of private unlisted portfolio securities of 
corporations in which the Company is a direct or indirect owner. 

 (b)  Milestones 
 
The most significant milestone to be satisfied in order for the Company to realize its 
business objectives is that it must hire a senior portfolio manager to implement its 
Investment Policy. A recruitment agency has been retained to source potential 
candidates and it is anticipated that the position can be filled within the following six (6) 
months. The estimated cost to hire the senior portfolio manager is included in the 
estimated general and administrative costs for the next twelve months. The next 
milestone will be deploying all or a portion of the Company’s capital in accordance with 
the Company’s investment objectives and Investment Policy. It is anticipated that the 
Company will begin to deploy its capital in early to mid-2019. 

 (c) Funds 
 
As at November 30, 2018, the Company had estimated working capital of approximately 
$1,340,600. Upon completion of the Share Issuance Transaction on December 17, 
2018, the Company received proceeds of approximately $4,000,000. Accordingly, as at 
the date hereof, the Company has estimated working capital of approximately 
$5,340,666. 

The Company expects that the principal purpose of such funds will be used for the 
development of the Company’s business and its working capital. Specifically, the 
Company intends to use the funds available for the following purposes (the following 
estimates are based on a 12-month breakdown): 

Intended Use of Funds Approximate Amount  

Estimated general and administrative costs for the 
next 12 months 

$1,000,000 

Available for investments in accordance with the 
Investment Policy 

$2,500,000 

Expenses and costs relating to the implementation 
of the Change of Business (including legal fees of 
the Company) 

$150,000 

Unallocated working capital $1,690,600 

Total $5,340,666 
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It is currently anticipated that the Company’s unallocated working capital will be used for 
such purposes determined by management from time to time including for general 
corporate purposes.  

Notwithstanding the foregoing, there may be circumstances where, for sound business 
reasons, a reallocation of funds may be necessary for the Company to achieve its 
objectives. The Company may require additional funds in order to fulfill all of its 
expenditure requirements to meet its business objectives and may either issue 
additional securities or incur debt. There can be no assurance that additional funding 
required by the Company will be available, if required. However, it is currently 
anticipated that the Company’s working capital available to fund ongoing operations will 
be sufficient to meet its planned objectives for, at least, the next twelve months. 

4.1 (2) Principal Products or Services 
 
The Company does not offer any products or services. 

4.1 (3) Products and Sales 
 
The Company does not provide any products or services. 

4.1 (4) Competitive Conditions  
 
Investment holding companies, such as the Company, operate in highly competitive 
markets, with competition based on a variety of factors, including investment 
performance, business reputation, and financial strength. The Company competes with 
a large number of companies that provide investment products, such as mutual fund 
companies, investment management firms, banks, insurance companies and other 
financial institutions. Some of these competitors have greater capital and other 
resources. In addition, the Company may hold investments in the securities of 
businesses that face intense competitive pressures within the markets in which they 
operate. See “17. Risk Factors”.  

4.1 (5) Lending Operations 
 
The Company does not engage in any lending operations. 

4.1 (6) Bankruptcy, Receivership or Similar Proceedings 
 
The Company or any of its former subsidiaries have not been the subject of any 
bankruptcy (including voluntary bankruptcy), receivership (including voluntary 
receivership) or any similar proceeding within the last three (3) recently completed 
financial years or the current financial year. 

4.1 (7) Material Restructuring 
 
The Company has not completed a material restructuring transaction within the three (3) 
most recently completed financial years nor does it anticipate it will complete a material 
restructuring transaction during the current financial year.  
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4.1 (8) Social or Environmental Policies 
 
The Company has not implemented any social or environmental policies that are 
fundamental to the Company’s operations. 

4.2 Asset-backed Securities Outstanding 
 
The Company does not have any outstanding asset-backed securities. 

4.3 Mineral Projects 
 
The Company does not have any mineral projects. 

4.4 Oil and Gas Operations 
 
The Company does not have any Oil and Gas Operations. 

5. Selected Consolidated Financial Information  
 
The following summary of financial data should be read together with the Company’s 
annual audited financial statements and the accompanying Management Discussion 
and Analysis (“MD&A”) for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015, 
attached as Appendix “B”, and the Company’s interim financial statements and the 
accompanying MD&A for the nine (9) months ended September 30, 2018, attached as 
Appendix “C”. 

5.1 Annual Information  
 
The consolidated financial statements of the Company are prepared in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). The following table sets forth 
selected financial information for the Company for the nine (9) months ended 
September 30, 2018, and the three (3) most recently completed financial years ended 
December 31, 2017, December 31, 2016, and December 31, 2015: 

 Period 

Financial 
Information 

Nine months 
ended 

September 30, 
2018 

Year ended 
December 31, 

2017 

Year ended 
December 31, 

2016 

Year Ended 
December 31, 

2015 

Total 
Revenues 

($55,163) ($376,827)(1) ($196,957)(1) $17,260(1) 

Income from 
Continuing 
Operations(2) 

N/A N/A N/A N/A 

Net Income 
or Loss 

($(283,419) ($1,159,405) ($341,251) ($150,244) 



  

 
Page 14 

 

(total) 

Net Income 
or Loss 
(basic and 
diluted 
losses per 
share) 

($0.031) ($0.13) ($0.04) ($0.02) 

Total Assets $1,506,512 $4,132.979 $5,301,845 $3,510,794 

Total Long-
Term 
Financial 
Liabilities 

- - $148,921(3) $261,169(3) 

Cash 
Dividends(4) 

- - - - 

(1) Attributable to trading losses. 
(2) The Company does not have any income from continuing operations. 
(3) Deferred income taxes. 
(4) The Company has not paid dividends on its shares nor does it intend to do so in the foreseeable future. 

See “5. Selected Consolidated Financial Information – 5.3 Dividends”.  
 
5.2 Quarterly Information  
 
The following table sets forth selected financial information for the Company for the 
eight (8) most recently completed financial quarters ending at December 31, 2017: 

 

Year 2017 2016 

Period Three 
Months 
ended Dec 
31 

Three 
Months 
ended Sept 
30 

Three 
Months 
ended 
Jun 30 

Three 
Months 
ended Mar 
31 

Three 
Months 
ended Dec 
31 

Three 
Months 
ended Sept 
30 

Three 
Months 
ended Jun 
30 

Three 
Months 
ended 
Mar 31 

Total 
Revenues  

(140,995) (83,240) (40,790) (111,802) (196,957)  (72,255) (68,958) 22,299 

Income from 
Continuing 
Operations(1) 

N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 

Net Loss 
Before Taxes 

($958,340) ($116,305) ($88,192) ($145,489) ($197,468) ($107,827) ($124,661) ($23,543) 

Net Income 
or Loss 
(basic and 
diluted losses 
per share) 

(0.099)  (0.010) (0.008) (0.013) (0.021) (0.014) (0.014) (0.003) 

(1) The Company does not have any income from continuing operations. 
 

5.3 Dividends  
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The holders of outstanding Subordinate Voting Shares and Multiple Voting Shares will 
be entitled to receive dividends on a share for share basis at such times and in such 
amounts and form as the Board of Directors may from time to time determine, but 
subject to the rights of the holders of any preferred shares, without preference or 
distinction among or between the Subordinate Voting Shares and the Multiple Voting 
Shares. The Company is permitted to pay dividends unless there are reasonable 
grounds for believing that: (i) the Company is, or would after such payment be, unable 
to pay the Company’s liabilities as they become due; or (ii) the realizable value of the 
Company’s assets would, as a result of such payment, be less than the aggregate of 
the Company’s liabilities and stated capital of all classes of shares. In the event of a 
payment of a dividend in the form of shares, Subordinate Voting Shares shall be 
distributed with respect to outstanding Subordinate Voting Shares and Multiple Voting 
Shares shall be distributed with respect to outstanding Multiple Voting Shares, unless 
otherwise determined by the Board of Directors. The shares of the Company are not 
otherwise subject to any other restrictions that would prevent the Company from paying 
dividends.  

The Company has no plans, at this time, to pay any dividends in the future and intends 
to retain any future earnings to finance the operation and growth of its business. The 
Company will, however, continually review its capital allocation strategies, including, 
among other things, payment of cash dividends and stock repurchases. 

5.4 Foreign GAAP  
 
No financial information, including the financial statements included in this Listing 
Statement, have been presented on the basis of foreign GAAP. 

6. Management's Discussion and Analysis 
 

Annual MD&A 

A copy of the Company’s MD&A for the most recently completed fiscal year ended 
December 31, 2017 is attached as Appendix “B”. 

Interim MD&A 

A copy of the Company’s MD&A for the nine (9) months ended September 30, 2018 is 
attached as Appendix “C”. 

7. Market for Securities 
 
The Common Shares were listed on the CSE under the trading symbol “GLR”. 
Following the announcement of the Change of Business, the trading of the Common 
Shares on the CSE was halted pursuant to Policy 8 - Fundamental Changes and 
Changes of Business of the policies of the CSE (“CSE Policy 8”). 

In connection with the Change of Business, and all steps taken in furtherance thereof 
including the Name Change and Capital Reorganization, the CSE has approved the 
Company’s application to list the Subordinate Voting Shares on the CSE under trading 
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symbol “FXC”. The Subordinate Voting Shares are expected to resume trading shortly 
after receipt of the final bulletin from the CSE in connection with the Change of 
Business. 

8. Consolidated Capitalization 
 
Other than the change in share capital in connection with the Capital Reorganization, 
Share Issuance and the Consolidation, there has not been any material change of share 
capital since December 31, 2017 and the Company did not have any loan capital 
outstanding since December 31, 2017. See “2. Corporate Structure – 2.2 Jurisdiction of 
Incorporation”.  

9. Options to Purchase Securities 
 
On June 12, 2009, the Shareholders approved a stock option plan (the "2009 Stock 
Option Plan") authorizing the issuance of incentive stock options (the "Options") to 
directors, officers, employees and consultants of the Company (and its former 
subsidiaries) up to an aggregate of 10% of the issued shares from time to time. There 
are currently 2,495,536 Subordinate Voting Shares issued and outstanding, therefore 
the current number of Options issuable pursuant to the 2009 Stock Option Plan is 
249,554 Subordinate Voting Shares, representing 10% of the issued and outstanding 
Subordinate Voting Shares. There are currently no issued or outstanding Options 
issued pursuant to such plan. It is anticipated that the Company will adopt a new long 
term share-based awards incentive plan in the future, the terms of which will be 
disclosed once finalized.  

10. Description of the Securities 
 
10.1 General  
 
The authorized capital of the Company currently consists of an unlimited number of 
Multiple Voting Shares and an unlimited number of Subordinate Voting Shares. 

The following is a summary of the rights, privileges, restrictions and conditions that are 
attached to the Multiple Voting Shares and the Subordinate Voting Shares and is 
qualified in its entirety by reference to the full text of the rights, privileges, restrictions 
and conditions included in the Articles of Amendment dated December 17, 2018 and 
available on the Company’s issuer profile on SEDAR at www.sedar.com. 

Except as described herein, the Subordinate Voting Shares and the Multiple Voting 
Shares will have the same rights, are equal in all respects and will be treated by the 
Company as if they were one (1) class of shares.  
 
Rank 
 
The Subordinate Voting Shares and the Multiple Voting Shares rank pari passu with 
respect to the payment of dividends, return of capital and distribution of assets in the 
event of the liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Company.  
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Liquidation, Dissolution or Winding-up 
 
In the event of the liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of the Company or any other 
distribution of its assets among its Shareholders for the purpose of winding-up its affairs, 
whether voluntarily or involuntarily, the holders of Subordinate Voting Shares and the 
holders of Multiple Voting Shares are entitled to participate equally in the remaining 
property and assets of the Company available for distribution to the holders of shares, 
without preference or distinction among or between the Subordinate Voting Shares and 
the Multiple Voting Shares, subject to the rights of the holders of any shares ranking 
senior to the Multiple Voting Shares and the Subordinate Voting Shares. 
 
Dividends 
 
The holders of outstanding Subordinate Voting Shares and Multiple Voting Shares are 
entitled to receive dividends on a share for share basis at such times and in such 
amounts and form as the Board of Directors may from time to time determine, but 
subject to the rights of the holders of any shares ranking senior to the Multiple Voting 
Shares and the Subordinate Voting Shares, without preference or distinction among or 
between the Subordinate Voting Shares and the Multiple Voting Shares. The Company 
is permitted to pay dividends unless there are reasonable grounds for believing that: (i) 
the Company is, or would after such payment be, unable to pay the Company’s liabilities 
as they become due; or (ii) the realizable value of the Company’s assets would, as a 
result of such payment, be less than the aggregate of the Company’s liabilities. In the 
event of a payment of a dividend in the form of shares, Subordinate Voting Shares will 
be distributed with respect to outstanding Subordinate Voting Shares and Multiple Voting 
Shares will be distributed with respect to outstanding Multiple Voting Shares, unless 
otherwise determined by the Board of Directors. 
 
Voting Rights 
 
The holders of Subordinate Voting Shares and all other shares of the Company that may 
be created from time to time (if any) having the right to vote generally at annual and 
special meetings of Shareholders are entitled to 40% of the aggregate votes attached to 
all of the outstanding Multiple Voting Shares, Subordinate Voting Shares and other 
shares (if any) of the Company that may be created from time to time having the right to 
vote generally at annual and special meetings of Shareholders. 
 
The holders of Multiple Voting Shares are entitled to such number of votes in the 
aggregate as represents 60% of the aggregate votes attached to all the outstanding 
Multiple Voting Shares, Subordinate Voting Shares and other shares of the Company 
that may be created from time to time (if any) having the right to vote generally at annual 
and special meetings of Shareholders. The number of votes will be prorated equally 
among the outstanding Multiple Voting Shares and will be deemed to be adjusted to 
maintain the 60% voting level notwithstanding any issue, repurchase or redemption of 
Subordinate Voting Shares or other shares having general voting rights. The holders of 
Multiple Voting Shares are entitled to one (1) vote for each such Multiple Voting Share 
held at meetings of holders of such shares at which they are entitled to vote separately 
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as a class. The holders of Subordinate Voting Shares are entitled to one (1) vote for 
each such Subordinate Voting Share held at meetings of holders of such shares at which 
they are entitled to vote separately as a class.  
 
Conversion 
 
The Subordinate Voting Shares are convertible into any other class of shares. Each 
outstanding Multiple Voting Share is at any time, at the option of the holder, convertible 
into one (1) Subordinate Voting Share. Upon the first date that a Multiple Voting Share 
is Transferred (as defined below) by a holder of Multiple Voting Shares (other than to a 
Permitted Holder (as defined below) or from any such Permitted Holder back to such 
holder of Multiple Voting Shares and/or any other Permitted Holder of such holder of 
Multiple Voting Shares), the holder thereof, without any further action, shall 
automatically be deemed to have exercised his, her or its rights to convert such Multiple 
Voting Share into a fully paid and non-assessable Subordinate Voting Share on a share 
for share basis. 
 
For the purposes of the foregoing:  
 
"Affiliate" means, with respect to any specified Person, any other Person which directly 
or indirectly through one (1) or more intermediaries controls, is controlled by, or is under 
common control with such specified Person;  
 
"Members of the Immediate Family" means with respect to any individual, each parent 
(whether by birth or adoption), spouse, or child or other descendants (whether by birth 
or adoption) of such individual, each spouse of any of the aforementioned Persons, 
each trust created solely for the benefit of such individual and/or one (1) or more of the 
aforementioned Persons, and each legal representative of such individual or of any 
aforementioned Persons (including without limitation a tutor, curator, mandatary due to 
incapacity, custodian, guardian or testamentary executor), acting in such capacity under 
the authority of the law, an order from a competent tribunal, a will or a mandate in case 
of incapacity or similar instrument. For the purposes of this definition, a Person shall be 
considered the spouse of an individual if such Person is legally married to such 
individual, lives in a civil union with such individual or is the common law partner (as 
defined in the Income Tax Act (Canada) (the “Tax Act”) as amended from time to time) 
of such individual. A Person who was the spouse of an individual within the meaning of 
this paragraph immediately before the death of such individual shall continue to be 
considered a spouse of such individual after the death of such individual; 
 
"Permitted Holders" means, in respect of a holder of Multiple Voting Shares that is an 
individual, the Members of the Immediate Family of such individual and any Person 
controlled, directly or indirectly, by any such holder, and in respect of a holder of 
Multiple Voting Shares that is not an individual, an Affiliate of that holder; 
 
"Person" means any individual, partnership, corporation, company, association, trust, 
joint venture or limited liability company; 
 
"Transfer" of a Multiple Voting Share shall mean any sale, assignment, transfer, 
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conveyance, hypothecation or other transfer or disposition of such share or any legal or 
beneficial interest in such share, whether or not for value and whether voluntary or 
involuntary or by operation of law. A "Transfer" shall also include, without limitation, (1) 
a transfer of a Multiple Voting Share to a broker or other nominee (regardless of 
whether or not there is a corresponding change in beneficial ownership) or (2) the 
transfer of, or entering into a binding agreement with respect to, Voting Control (as 
defined below) over a Multiple Voting Share by proxy or otherwise, provided, however, 
that the following shall not be considered a "Transfer": (a) the grant of a proxy to the 
Company’s officers or directors at the request of the Board of Directors in connection 
with actions to be taken at an annual or special meeting of Shareholders; or (b) the 
pledge of a Multiple Voting Share that creates a mere security interest in such share 
pursuant to a bona fide loan or indebtedness transaction so long as the holder of the 
Multiple Voting Share continues to exercise Voting Control (as defined below) over such 
pledged shares; provided, however, that a foreclosure on such Multiple Voting Share or 
other similar action by the pledgee shall constitute a "Transfer"; 
 
"Voting Control" with respect to a Multiple Voting Share means the exclusive power 
(whether directly or indirectly) to vote or direct the voting of such Multiple Voting Share 
by proxy, voting agreement or otherwise. 
 
A Person is "controlled" by another Person or other Persons if: (1) in the case of a 
company or other body corporate wherever or however incorporated: (A) securities 
entitled to vote in the election of directors carrying in the aggregate at least a majority of 
the votes for the election of directors and representing in the aggregate at least a 
majority of the participating (equity) securities are held, other than by way of security 
only, directly or indirectly, by or solely for the benefit of the other Person or Persons; 
and (B) the votes carried in the aggregate by such securities are entitled, if exercised, to 
elect a majority of the board of directors of such company or other body corporate; or 
(2) in the case of a Person that is not a company or other body corporate, at least a 
majority of the participating (equity) and voting interests of such Person are held, 
directly or indirectly, by or solely for the benefit of the other Person or Persons; and 
"controls", "controlling" and "under common control with" shall be interpreted 
accordingly. 
 
Subdivision or Consolidation 
 
No subdivision or consolidation of the Subordinate Voting Shares or the Multiple Voting 
Shares may be carried out unless, at the same time, the Multiple Voting Shares or the 
Subordinate Voting Shares, as the case may be, are subdivided or consolidated in the 
same manner and on the same basis.  
 
Certain Class Votes 
 
Except as required by the CBCA, applicable securities laws or the Company’s articles, 
holders of Subordinate Voting Shares and Multiple Voting Shares vote together on all 
matters subject to a vote of holders of both those classes of shares as if they were one 
(1) class of shares. Under the CBCA, certain types of amendments to the Company’s 
articles are subject to approval by special resolution of the holders of the Company’s 
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classes of shares voting separately as a class, including amendments to: 
 

 change the rights, privileges, restrictions or conditions attached to the shares of 
that class; 

 increase the rights or privileges of any class of shares having rights or privileges 
equal or superior to the shares of that class; and 

 make any class of shares having rights or privileges inferior to the shares of such 
class equal or superior to the shares of that class. 

Without limiting other rights at law of any holders of Subordinate Voting Shares or 
Multiple Voting Shares to vote separately as a class, neither the holders of the 
Subordinate Voting Shares nor the holders of the Multiple Voting Shares are entitled to 
vote separately as a class upon a proposal to amend the Company’s articles in the case 
of an amendment to (1) increase or decrease any maximum number of authorized 
shares of such class, or increase any maximum number of authorized shares of a class 
having rights or privileges equal or superior to the shares of such class; or (2) create a 
new class of shares equal or superior to the shares of such class, which rights are 
otherwise provided for in paragraphs (a) and (e) of subsection 176(1) of the CBCA. 
Pursuant to the Company’s articles, neither holders of Subordinate Voting Shares nor 
holders of Multiple Voting Shares will be entitled to vote separately as a class on a 
proposal to amend the Company’s articles to effect an exchange, reclassification or 
cancellation of all or part of the shares of such class pursuant to Section 176(1)(b) of 
the CBCA unless such exchange, reclassification or cancellation: (a) affects only the 
holders of that class; or (b) affects the holders of Subordinate Voting Shares and 
Multiple Voting Shares differently, on a per share basis, and such holders are not 
already otherwise entitled to vote separately as a class under applicable law or the 
Company’s articles in respect of such exchange, reclassification or cancellation. 
 
Pursuant to the Company’s articles, holders of Subordinate Voting Shares and Multiple 
Voting Shares are treated equally and identically, on a per share basis, in certain 
change of control transactions that require approval of Shareholders under the CBCA, 
unless different treatment of the shares of each such class is approved by a majority of 
the votes cast by the holders of Subordinate Voting Shares and Multiple Voting Shares, 
each voting separately as a class. 
 
Take-Over Bid Protection 
 
Under applicable Canadian law, an offer to purchase Multiple Voting Shares would not 
necessarily require that an offer be made to purchase Subordinate Voting Shares.  
 
In accordance with the policies of the CSE designed to ensure that, in the event of a 
take-over bid, the holders of Subordinate Voting Shares are entitled to participate on an 
equal footing with holders of Multiple Voting Shares, FAXCo, as the owner of all the 
outstanding Multiple Voting Shares, entered into the Coattail Agreement. 
 
The Coattail Agreement contains provisions customary for dual class, CSE listed 
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corporations designed to prevent transactions that otherwise would deprive the holders 
of Subordinate Voting Shares of rights under the take-over bid provisions of applicable 
Canadian securities legislation to which they would have been entitled if the Multiple 
Voting Shares had been Subordinate Voting Shares. 
 
The undertakings in the Coattail Agreement do not apply to prevent a sale of Multiple 
Voting Shares by a holder of Multiple Voting Shares party to the Coattail Agreement if 
concurrently an offer is made to purchase Subordinate Voting Shares that:  
 

a) offers a price per Subordinate Voting Share at least as high as the highest price 
per share paid or required to be paid pursuant to the take-over bid for the 
Multiple Voting Shares;  

b) provides that the percentage of outstanding Subordinate Voting Shares to be 
taken up (exclusive of shares owned immediately prior to the offer by the offeror 
or persons acting jointly or in concert with the offeror) is at least as high as the 
percentage of outstanding Multiple Voting Shares to be sold (exclusive of 
Multiple Voting Shares owned immediately prior to the offer by the offeror and 
persons acting jointly or in concert with the offeror); 

c) has no condition attached other than the right not to take up and pay for 
Subordinate Voting Shares tendered if no shares are purchased pursuant to the 
offer for Multiple Voting Shares; and  

d) is in all other material respects identical to the offer for Multiple Voting Shares. 
 

In addition, the Coattail Agreement does prevent the sale of Multiple Voting Shares by a 
holder thereof to a Permitted Holder, provided such sale does not or would not 
constitute a take-over bid or, if so, is exempt or would be exempt from the formal bid 
requirements (as defined in applicable securities legislation). The conversion of Multiple 
Voting Shares into Subordinate Voting Shares, will not, in of itself, constitute a sale of 
Multiple Voting Shares for the purposes of the Coattail Agreement. 
 
Under the Coattail Agreement, any sale of Multiple Voting Shares (including a transfer 
to a pledgee as security) by a holder of Multiple Voting Shares party to the Coattail 
Agreement will be conditional upon the transferee or pledgee becoming a party to the 
Coattail Agreement, to the extent such transferred Multiple Voting Shares are not 
automatically converted into Subordinate Voting Shares in accordance with the 
Company’s articles. 
 
The Coattail Agreement contains provisions for authorizing action by the Trustee to 
enforce the rights under the Coattail Agreement on behalf of the holders of the 
Subordinate Voting Shares. The obligation of the Trustee to take such action is 
conditional on the Company or holders of the Subordinate Voting Shares providing such 
funds and indemnity as the Trustee may require. No holder of Subordinate Voting 
Shares has the right, other than through the Trustee, to institute any action or 
proceeding or to exercise any other remedy to enforce any rights arising under the 
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Coattail Agreement unless the Trustee fails to act on a request authorized by holders of 
not less than 10% of the outstanding Subordinate Voting Shares and reasonable funds 
and indemnity have been provided to the Trustee. 
 
The Coattail Agreement provides that it may not be amended, and no provision thereof 
may be waived, unless, prior to giving effect to such amendment or waiver, the following 
have been obtained: (a) any necessary consent of the CSE and any other applicable 
securities regulatory authority in Canada and (b) the approval of at least 66 2/3% of the 
votes cast by holders of Subordinate Voting Shares represented at a meeting duly 
called for the purpose of considering such amendment or waiver, excluding votes 
attached to Subordinate Voting Shares held directly or indirectly by holders of Multiple 
Voting Shares, their affiliates and related parties and any persons who have an 
agreement to purchase Multiple Voting Shares on terms which would constitute a sale 
for the purposes of the Coattail Agreement other than as permitted thereby. 
 
No provision of the Coattail Agreement limits the rights of any holders of Subordinate 
Voting Shares under applicable law. 
 
10.2 Debt securities  
 
The Company does not have any debt securities listed. 

10.3  Other securities 
 
The Company does not have any securities other than equity securities listed. 

10.4  Modification of terms 
 
Any modification, amendment or variation of rights attached to the Multiple Voting 
Shares or Subordinate Voting Shares, are subject to the provisions and restrictions 
under the Coattail Agreement as well as the CBCA or applicable securities law. See 
“10. Description of the Securities – 10.1 General”. 

10.5 Other attributes 
 
Except as described in “10. Description of the Securities – 10.1 General”, the 
Subordinate Voting Shares and the Multiple Voting Shares, have the same rights, are 
equal in all respects and are treated by the Company as if they are one (1) class of 
shares. 

For details as to the Multiple Voting Shares and Subordinate Voting Shares, including 
ranking and priority to one another or details as to how each of their rights are materially 
limited or qualified by the rights of one another, see “10. Description of the Securities – 
10.1 General”.  

10.7 Prior Sales  
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The following table contains details of the prior issuances of Common Shares for the 
twelve-month period preceding the date hereof: 

Date of 
Issue 

Description  Number and 
Type of 

Security(1) 

Price Per 
Security 

Aggregate 
Price 

Consideration

November 
16, 2017 

Private 
Placement 

697,000 

Common 
Shares(2) 

$0.07 $48,790 Cash 

(1) In connection with the Share Issuance Transaction, the Company issued 5,555,555 pre-Consolidation 
Multiple Voting Shares (1,501,502 Multiple Voting Shares), each of which are convertible into a 
Subordinate Voting Share, to FAXCo at a price of $0.72 each (for proceeds of approximately 
$4,000,000). See “3. General Development of the Business – 3.1 General Business”. 

(2) 188,379 Subordinate Voting Shares.  
 
The following table contains details of the prior sales of Common Shares by Related 
Persons (as that term is used in the policies of the CSE) for the twelve-month period 
preceding the date hereof:  

Date of 
Sale 

Related 
Party  

Number and 
Type of Security

Price Per 
Security 

Aggregate 
Price 

Consideration

May 30, 
2018 

Michael 
Sheridan(1) 

5,536,075 
Common 
Shares(2) 

$0.2539 $1,405,609.44 Cash 

(1)   Mr. Sheridan, the former President, CEO and director of the Company, sold these shares to FAXCo, a 
corporation wholly owned by Merrilyn Driscoll. Mr. Sheridan held these shares directly and indirectly 
through his wholly owned subsidiary corporation. See “3. General Development of the Business – 3.1 
General Business”. 

(2)  1,496,237 Subordinate Voting Shares.  
 
10.8 Stock Exchange Price 
 
The following table sets out the high and low trading price and volume of trading of the 
Common Shares on the CSE for the periods indicated:  

Period Hi Low Volume 

January 1 to January 
10, 2019 

- - - 

December 2018 - - - 

November 2018 - - - 

October 2018 - - - 

Q3 2018 - - - 

Q2 2018 $1.10 $0.22 2,357 

Q1 2018 $0.35 $0.35 888 
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Q4 2017 $0.35 $0.065 873,748 

Q3 2017 $0.04 $0.04 8,000 

Q2 2017 - - - 

Q1 2017 $0.03 $0.025 32,000 
(1)  Following the announcement of the Change of Business, the trading of the Common Shares on the 

CSE was halted pursuant to CSE Policy 8. The Subordinate Voting Shares are expected to resume 
trading shortly after receipt of the final bulletin from the CSE in connection with the Change of Business.  

 
11. Escrowed Securities 
 
The following table sets forth the number of securities of each of class of securities of 
the Company held in escrow (which includes securities subject to pooling 
arrangements) and the percentage that number represents of the outstanding securities 
of that class as of the date of this Listing Statement: 

Designation of class held in 
escrow(1) 

Number of securities held 
in escrow  

Percentage of class 

Subordinate Voting Shares 1,496,237 59.96% 

Multiple Voting Shares 1,501,502(2) 100.00% 
(1) Such shares are subject to the form of escrow agreement prescribed by NP 46-201 – Escrow for Initial 

Public Offerings (NP 46-201), pursuant to which 10% of such securities will be released from escrow on 
the date of the listing of the Subordinate Voting Shares and the remaining 90% of such securities will be 
released from escrow in 15% tranches during consecutive 6-month intervals over a 36-month period.  

(2) Each Multiple Voting Share is convertible into one (1) Subordinate Voting Share. Upon the conversion of 
such share into a Subordinate Voting Share, such Subordinate Voting Share will also be subject to the 
form of escrow agreement prescribed by NP 46-201.  

 
To the knowledge of the Company, there are currently no other securities of the 
Company currently held in escrow. 

12. Principal Shareholders  
 
12.1 (1) Principal Shareholders 
 
The following Shareholders own, beneficially and of record, more than 10% of the 
issued and outstanding Subordinate Voting Shares:  

Name of 
Shareholder 

Number of 
Subordinate 

Voting Shares 
Owned  

Type of 
Ownership 

Percentage of Issued 
and Outstanding 

Subordinate Voting 
Shares(1) 

FAX Investments 
Inc.(2) 

1,496,237 Of Record(3) 59.96% 

Michael Sheridan 312,284 Beneficial(4) 12.51% 
(1) Based on 2,495,536 Subordinate Voting Shares issued and outstanding. 
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(2) FAXCo holds 1,501,502 Multiple Voting Shares each of which is convertible into one (1) Subordinate 
Voting Share. 

(3) FAXCo is a corporation wholly owned by Merrilyn Driscoll.  
(4) Mr. Sheridan holds these shares in a RRSP account. 
 
12.1 (2) Changes to Existing Principal Shareholders 
 
See “12. Principal Shareholders – 12.1(1) Principal Shareholders”. 

12.1 (3) Voting Trust or Similar Agreements 
 
Except as disclosed below, to the knowledge of the Company, 10% or more of any of its 
voting securities is not held, nor is to be held, subject to any voting trust or similar 
agreement.  

On May 30, 2018, Mr. Sheridan entered into a voting support agreement with the 
Company with respect to 312,284 Subordinate Voting Shares that he beneficially owns 
and holds in his RRSP account. Pursuant to the voting support agreement, Mr. 
Sheridan agreed to, among other things, cause each of these shares to be voted in 
favour of the directors nominated and each matter put forward by the Board of 
Directors. The agreement is in force for so long as Mr. Sheridan beneficially owns or 
exercises control or direction over, directly or indirectly, at least 5% of the issued and 
outstanding Subordinate Voting Shares.  

12.1 (4) Associates and Affiliates of Principal Shareholders 
 
To the knowledge of the Company, no principal Shareholder is an associate or affiliate 
of another principal Shareholder. 

13. Directors and Officers 
 
13.1 Directors and Executive Officers of the Company 
 
The following table sets out the names and municipalities of residence of those 
individuals who are serving as directors and executive officers of the Company, their 
positions and offices with the Company, their principal occupations during the last five 
(5) years, the number of Subordinate Voting Shares or Multiple Voting Shares that each 
holds and the percentage of the class that such holdings represent. The information 
concerning each director is as furnished by such director. 

Name, Place of 
Residence and 
Position with 

Company 

Principal Occupation 
During the Past Five Years 

Date Elected or 
Appointed 

Number of Subordinate 
Voting or Multiple Voting 
Shares and Percentage of 

Issued and Outstanding [fully 
diluted](1) 

Blair Driscoll  

Toronto, Ontario, 
Canada  
Director and CEO 

Co-CEO of Federated 
Capital Corp. since October 
2017; Director of Sentry 
Investments Inc. (“Sentry”) 

Director and 
CEO since May 
30, 2018 

Nil(1) 
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from February 2016 to 
October 2017; Vice 
President, Investment 
Operations, of Sentry from 
May 2017 to October 2, 
2017; Associate Portfolio 
Manager of Sentry from 
September 2012 to May 
2017. 

Frank Potter  

Toronto, Ontario, 
Canada 
Director 

Independent director for a 
number of public, private and 
not-for-profit corporations, 
including Canadian Tire 
Corporation, Limited from 
1998 to 2014; Canadian Tire 
Bank from 2008 to 2014; 
Obsidian Energy Petroleum 
Ltd. (formerly known as 
Penn West Petroleum) from 
2006 to 2014 and Sentry 
from 2009 to 2017. 

Director since 
May 30, 2018 

Nil 

Michael Singer 
Toronto, Ontario, 
Canada  
Director 

Lawyer since 1973 and a 
sole practitioner in Toronto 
since 1990, with a client 
base consisting of small 
market capitalization 
companies, both public and 
private, in diverse industry 
sectors including natural 
resources, e-commerce, 
software development, 
commercial exploitation of 
proprietary technology, multi-
media publishing and 
Internet services and 
products, manufacturing and 
distribution, financial 
services, merchant banking, 
and commercial real estate; 
Director and Corporate 
Secretary for numerous 
public companies (TSX and 
TSX Venture Exchange 
listed companies). 

Director since 
May 30, 2018 

Nil 

Edward Merchand 
Toronto, Ontario, 
Canada 
CFO and Corporate 
Secretary 

Treasurer of Federated 
Capital Corp. (an investment 
holding company) since April 
2018; CFO of Sentry from 
September 2013 to 
November 2017; CFO of 
Mackenzie Financial 

CFO and 
Corporate 
Secretary since 
May 30, 2018 

Nil 
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Corporation from June 2002 
to September 2013. 

Edward Jackson 

Oakville, Ontario, 
Canada  
Director 

Managing Director, Head - 
Investment Funds, with RBC 
Capital Markets to 
December 2015; President, 
CEO and Trustee of 
Advantage Preferred Share 
Trust from February 2011 to 
December 2015; Member of 
the advisory board for 
EnerTech Capital since April 
2016; Member of the hearing 
committee for the Investment 
Industry Regulatory 
Organization of Canada 
since June 2016; 
Independent Review 
Committee Member of 
Middlefield Group since April 
2016; Member of the hearing 
council for the Mutual Fund 
Dealers Association since 
November 2017. 

Director since 
November 23, 
2018 

Nil 

Paul Gibbons 

Toronto, Ontario, 

Canada 

Director 

Partner, Deloitte LLP from 
1997 to 2018.  

Director since 
December 17, 
2018 

Nil 

(1)  Mr. Driscoll is the President and CEO of FAXCo which beneficially owns and exercises control and direction over 
1,496,237 Subordinate Voting Shares and 1,501,502 Multiple Voting Shares each of which is convertible into one (1) 
Subordinate Voting Share.  

 
13.2 Period of Service of Directors 
 
The term of each director expires on the date of the next annual meeting, unless his or 
her office is earlier vacated or he or she is removed in accordance with the Company’s 
articles, by-laws and the CBCA. 

13.3 Directors and Executive Officers Common Share Ownership 
 
The directors and executive officers of the Company as a group, directly or indirectly, do 
not beneficially own or exercise control or direction over any Subordinate Voting Shares 
or Multiple Voting Shares. See “13. Directors and Officers – 13.1 Directors and 
Executive Officers of the Company”. 

13.4 Committees 
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The Company’s audit committee currently consists of Frank Potter (Chair), Blair Driscoll 
and Michael Singer, each of whom is a director and financially literate in accordance 
with National Instrument 52-110 – Audit Committees (“NI 52-110”). Frank Potter and 
Michael Singer are independent, as defined under NI 52-110, and Blair Driscoll is not 
independent as he is an officer of the Company. The Company is relying upon the 
exemption in section 6.1 of NI 52-110 with respect to compliance with the requirements 
of Part 3 (Composition of the Audit Committee) and Part 5 (Reporting Obligations) of NI 
52-110. 

The Company’s governance, compensation and nominating committee is comprised of 
Frank Potter (Chair), Blair Driscoll and Michael Singer. 

The Board of Directors may from time to time establish additional committees. 

13.5 Principal Occupation of Directors and Executive Officers 
 
See “13. Directors and Officers – 13.1 Directors and Executive Officers of the 
Company” and “13. Directors and Officers – 13.11 Management Details”. 

13.6 Corporate Cease Trade Orders or Bankruptcies 
 
Except as disclosed below, no director, or officer of the Company or a Shareholder 
holding a sufficient number of securities of the Company to affect materially the control 
of the Company is, or has been within the past 10 years, a director or officer of any 
other company that, while such person was acting in that capacity:  

 was the subject of a cease trade or similar order or an order that denied such 
company access to any exemptions under Ontario securities law for a period of 
more than 30 consecutive days;  

 was subject to an event that resulted, after the director or executive officer 
ceased to be a director or executive officer, in the company being the subject of a 
cease trade or similar order or an order that denied the relevant company access 
to any exemption under securities legislation, for a period of more than 30 
consecutive days;  

 became bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy 
or insolvency or was subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or 
compromise with creditors or had a receiver, receiver manager or trustee 
appointed to hold its assets; or 

 within a year of that person ceasing to act in that capacity, became bankrupt, 
made a proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency or 
was subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or compromise with 
creditors or had a receiver, receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold its 
assets. 

Mr. Singer was the director of Danbel Ventures Inc. (formerly Danbel Industries 
Corporation) (“Danbel”) from November 2001 to November 2005 and from September 



  

 
Page 29 

 

2010 to April 2017. On May 23, 2002, Danbel received a cease trade order (“CTO”) 
from the Ontario Securities Commission (“OSC”) for failure to file financial statements 
within the prescribed time period. On June 7, 2002, Danbel received a CTO from the 
Alberta Securities Commission (“ASC”) for failure to file financial statements with the 
prescribed time period. On June 2, 2006, Danbel received a CTO from the British 
Columbia Securities Commission (“BCSC”) for failure to file financial statements within 
the prescribed time period. On March 3, 2011, the OSC issued an order revoking its 
CTO. On January 18, 2011, the ASC issued an order revoking its CTO. On March 3, 
2011, the BCSC issued an order revoking its CTO.  

Mr. Singer joined the board of directors of Infocorp Computer Solutions Ltd. (“Infocorp”) 
in February 2016. Infocorp has been cease-traded by the OSC since May 2004 for 
failure to file financial statements within the prescribed time period. 

13.7 Penalties or Sanctions 
 
No director or officer of the Company, or Shareholder holding sufficient securities of the 
Company to affect materially the control of the Company, has:  

 been subject to any penalties or sanctions imposed by a court relating to 
Canadian securities legislation or by a Canadian securities regulatory authority or 
has entered into a settlement agreement with a Canadian securities regulatory 
authority; or 

 been subject to any other penalties or sanctions imposed by a court or regulatory 
body that would be likely to be considered important to a reasonable investor 
making an investment decision. 

13.8 Settlement Agreements 
 
See “13. Directors and Officers – 13.7 Penalties or Sanctions”. 

13.9 Personal Bankruptcies 
 
No director or officer of the Company, or a Shareholder holding sufficient securities of 
the Company to affect materially the control of the Company, or a personal holding 
company of any such persons has, within the past 10 years, become bankrupt, made a 
proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency, or been subject to or 
instituted any proceedings, arrangement or compromise with creditors, or had a 
receiver, receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold the assets of the director or 
officer. 

13.10 Conflicts of Interest 
 
The directors and officers of the Company are aware of the existence of laws as well as 
the Company’s policies governing accountability of directors and officers for corporate 
opportunity and requiring disclosure by directors of conflicts of interest and the 
Company will rely upon such laws and policies in respect of any directors’ and officers’ 
conflict of interest or in respect of any breaches of duty by any of its directors or officers. 
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All such conflicts will be disclosed by such directors or officers in accordance with 
applicable law and policies and they will govern themselves in respect thereof to the 
best of their ability in accordance with the obligation imposed upon them by law as well 
as the policies. 

Except as disclosed below, to the best of the Company’s knowledge, there are no 
existing or potential material conflicts of interest between the Company and a director or 
officer of the Company. Certain directors and officers may serve as directors and 
officers of other companies, and therefore it is possible that a conflict may arise 
between their duties to the Company and their duties as a director or officer of such 
other companies. 

It is intended that the Company will enter into an agreement with Federated Capital 
Corp. (“Federated Capital”) whereby the Company will have access to certain office 
space and supplies, computers and communication equipment on terms at least as 
favorable as the terms that would have been available to the Company from parties 
which deal with the Company at arm’s-length and that, accordingly, may result in a net 
benefit to the Company and its Shareholders.  

Federated Capital is a private single family office for the benefit of the family of John F. 
Driscoll and is focused on investments in public and private corporations across a broad 
range of industries and sectors. Blair Driscoll, a director and the CEO of the Company, 
has been the Co-CEO of Federated Capital since October 2017. Edward Merchand, the 
CFO of the Company, has been the Treasurer of Federated Capital since April 2018. 
Additionally, Federated Capital is considered to be an affiliate of the Company since it is 
beneficially owned by Mr. Driscoll and his family.  

13.11 Management Details 
 
The following summarizes certain information concerning the Company’s directors, 
officers and other members of management whose expertise is critical to the Company 
in providing the Company with a reasonable opportunity to achieve its business 
objections: 

Blair Driscoll, Director and CEO, age 36, has been a director and the CEO of the 
Company since May 30, 2018. Mr. Driscoll has been the Co-CEO of Federated Capital 
Corp. (a private investment holding company), since October 2017. Federated Capital 
Corp. and the Company are under common control. Mr. Driscoll served as a director of 
Sentry (a financial services company) from February 2016 to October 2, 2017, the date 
CI Financial Corp. acquired Sentry. Mr. Driscoll served as the Vice President, 
Investment Operations, of Sentry from May 2017 to October 2, 2017, and as an 
Associate Portfolio Manager of Sentry from September 2012 to May 2017. Prior to that, 
Mr. Driscoll worked at CIBC World Markets Inc. in the Equity Research Department 
supporting coverage in the Canadian telecom and media sectors. Mr. Driscoll holds an 
MBA from the Rotman School of Management, University of Toronto. Mr. Driscoll 
intends to devote approximately 80% of his working time to the affairs of the Company. 
Mr. Driscoll is neither an independent contractor nor an employee of the Company.  
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Mr. Driscoll has not entered into a non-competition or non-disclosure agreement with 
the Company. 

Edward Merchand, CFO and Corporate Secretary, age 55, has been the CFO and 
Corporate Secretary of the Company since May 30, 2018. Mr. Merchand has over 25 
years of experience within the financial services industry - most recently with Sentry 
where he was the CFO from September 2013 to November 2017 and, prior to Sentry, 
the CFO of Mackenzie Financial Corporation. Mr. Merchand has been the Treasurer of 
Federated Capital Corp. (an investment holding company), since April 2018. Federated 
Capital Corp. and the Company are under common control. Mr. Merchand is a member 
of the Chartered Professional Accountants of Ontario. Mr. Merchand intends to devote 
approximately 80% of his working time to the affairs of the Company. Mr. Merchand is 
neither an independent contractor nor an employee of the Company. 

Mr. Merchand has not entered into a non-competition or non-disclosure agreement with 
the Company. 

Frank Potter, Director, age 82, has retired and has been an independent director for a 
number of public, private and not-for-profit corporations. Mr. Potter has a background in 
international banking in Europe, the Middle East and the United States. He managed 
the international business of one of Canada’s principal banks before being appointed to 
the executive board of the World Bank Group (a financial services institution) in 
Washington where he served for nine (9) years, including as lead director and Chairman 
of the bank’s Steering Committee. Mr. Potter subsequently served as a Senior Advisor 
at the Department of Finance for the Canadian government. He is formerly the 
Chairman of Emerging Markets Advisors, Inc. (a Toronto based consultancy that assists 
corporations in making and managing direct investments internationally). Mr. Potter 
served on a number of boards, including Canadian Tire Corporation, Limited (a retail 
company), Canadian Tire Bank (2008 to 2014), Obsidian Energy Petroleum Ltd. 
(formerly known as Penn West Petroleum Ltd.) and the Royal Ontario Museum (a 
museum in Toronto), where he is a former Chairman of the board of governors. Mr. 
Potter obtained a Military Degree in April 1958 from the Royal Military College of 
Science in the United Kingdom. Mr. Potter intends to devote as much time as necessary 
to the affairs of the Company. Mr. Potter is neither an independent contractor nor an 
employee of the Company.  

Mr. Potter has not entered into a non-competition or non-disclosure agreement with the 
Company.  

Michael Singer, Director, age 72, has been a lawyer since 1973 and a sole practitioner 
in Toronto since 1990. Mr. Singer’s client base has consisted of small market 
capitalization companies, both public and private, in diverse industry sectors including 
natural resources, e-commerce, software development, commercial exploitation of 
proprietary technology, multi-media publishing and Internet services and products, 
manufacturing and distribution, financial services, merchant banking, and commercial 
real estate. Mr. Singer has also acted as a director and corporate secretary for 
numerous public companies (TSX and TSX Venture Exchange listed companies). Mr. 
Singer obtained a Bachelor of Arts from the University of Toronto, a L.L.B from 
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Osgoode Hall Law School of York University and is a member of the Law Society of 
Ontario. Mr. Singer intends to devote as much time as necessary to the affairs of the 
Company. Mr. Singer is neither an independent contractor nor an employee of the 
Company. 

Mr. Singer has not entered into a non-competition or non-disclosure agreement with the 
Company.  

Edward Jackson, Director, age 61, is a well-respected industry leader with over 30 
years of experience in the financial services industry. He most recently served as 
Managing Director, Head - Investment Funds Group, with RBC Capital Markets, a 
position he held until December 2015. Prior to that, from 1992 to 1998, Mr. Jackson 
held several senior management positions within the Royal Bank of Canada covering 
some of Canada’s largest financial institutions. Mr. Jackson currently serves as an 
advisory board member for EnerTech Capital, a private investment firm focused on 
innovation in the energy and power industries within North America, and as an 
independent review committee member for Middlefield Group, a private Canadian asset 
manager with $4.5 billion in assets under management. He also currently serves as a 
hearing committee member for the Investment Industry Regulatory Organization of 
Canada, and as a hearing council member for the Mutual Fund Dealers Association. 
From February 2011 to December 2015, Mr. Jackson also served as the President, 
CEO and Trustee of Advantage Preferred Share Trust, a TSX listed closed-end fund. 
Mr. Jackson intends to devote as much time as necessary to the affairs of the 
Company. Mr. Jackson is neither an independent contractor nor an employee of the 
Company.  

Mr. Jackson has not entered into a non-competition or non-disclosure agreement with 
the Company. 

Paul Gibbons, Director, age 61, has over 35 years of accounting and audit experience 
and prior to his retirement, was a partner at Deloitte LLP, Canada from 1997 to 2018. 
Mr. Gibbons’ professional designations include being certified as a Chartered 
Professional Accountant (CPA) and Chartered Accountant (CA). He is also a member 
of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Ontario. Mr. Gibbons has extensive 
experience with IFRS, SOX compliance and reporting requirements and CEO/CFO 
certification requirements for internal financial reporting controls. Mr. Gibbons has acted 
as chair for several audit committees in the not-for-profit sector. Mr. Gibbons intends to 
devote as much time as necessary to the affairs of the Company. Mr. Gibbons is neither 
an independent contractor nor an employee of the Company.  

Mr. Gibbons has not entered into a non-competition or non-disclosure agreement with 
the Company. 
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14. Capitalization 
 
In addition to the information set out in the capitalization table in “8. Consolidated 
Capitalization”, the following tables set out certain information regarding the Company’s 
capitalization, each with reference to its outstanding Subordinate Voting Shares.  

Issued Capital  
 

 Number of 
Subordinate 

Voting 
Shares   

(non-diluted) 

Number of 
Subordinate 

Voting 
Shares  

(fully-diluted) 

% of Issued 
(non-diluted) 

% of Issued 
(fully diluted) 

Public Float     

Total outstanding (A) 2,495,536 3,997,038 100.00% 100.00% 

Held by Related Persons or 
employees of the Issuer or 
Related Person of the Issuer, or 
by persons or companies who 
beneficially own or control, 
directly or indirectly, more than a 
5% voting position in the Issuer 
(or who would beneficially own or 
control, directly or indirectly, more 
than a 5% voting position in the 
Issuer upon exercise or 
conversion of other securities 
held) (B)  

1,939,990(1) 3,441,492(2) 77.74% 86.10% 

Total Public Float (A-B) 555,546 555,546 22.26% 13.90% 

     

Freely-Tradeable Float     

Number of outstanding securities 
subject to resale restrictions, 
including restrictions imposed by 
pooling or other arrangements or 
in a shareholder agreement and 
securities held by control block 
holders (C) 

1,496,237(3) 2,997,739(3) 59.96% 75.00% 

Total Tradeable Float (A-C) 999,299 999,299 40.04% 25.00% 
 

(1) Consists of 1,496,237 Subordinate Voting Shares held by FAXCo and 312,284 Subordinate Voting Shares 
beneficially owned by Michael Sheridan and are registered to CDS & Co. The remaining 131,469 Subordinate 
Voting Shares are beneficially owned by an undisclosed shareholder and are registered to CDS & Co.  

(2)  Consists of 1,496,237 Subordinate Voting Shares held by FAXCo, 312,284 Subordinate Voting Shares beneficially 
owned by Michael Sheridan and 1,501,502 Multiple Voting Shares held by FAXCo. The remaining 131,469 
Subordinate Voting Shares are beneficially owned by an undisclosed shareholder and are registered to CDS & 
Co.  

(3)  Consists of those securities held by FAXCo as a control block holder. 
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Public Securityholders (Registered) 

For the purposes of this table, "public security-holders" are registered shareholders 
other than persons enumerated in section (B) of the previous chart. 

Size of Holding   Number of 
holders 

 Total number of 
Subordinate Voting 

Shares 
     
1 – 99 securities  33  1,648 
     
100 – 499 securities  89  15,030 
     
500 – 999 securities  3  2,068 
     
1,000 – 1,999 securities  5  6,001 
     
2,000 – 2,999 securities  1  2,734 
     
3,000 – 3,999 securities  2  7,017 
     
4,000 – 4,999 securities  1  4,969 
     
5,000 or more  securities  9  959,832 
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Public Securityholders (Beneficial) 
 
The following table includes (i) beneficial holders holding securities in their own name 
as registered shareholders; and (ii) beneficial holders holding securities through an 
intermediary where the Company has been given written confirmation of shareholdings.  
 
Size of Holding   Number of holders  Total number of 

Subordinate Voting 
Shares 

     
1 – 99 securities  57   2,677  
     
100 – 499 securities  131   22,194  
     
500 – 999 securities  8   5,842  
     
1,000 – 1,999 securities  8   9,835  
     
2,000 – 2,999 securities  3   7,621 
     
3,000 – 3,999 securities  2   7,017  
     
4,000 – 4,999 securities  1   4,969  
     
5,000 or more securities  17   931,518 
     
Unable to confirm  N/A   7,626 

Non-Public Securityholders (Registered) 

For the purposes of this table, "non-public securityholders" are registered shareholders 
enumerated in section (B) of the issued capital chart.  

Size of Holding   Number of holders  Total number of 
Subordinate Voting 

Shares 
     
1 – 99 securities  -  - 
     
100 – 499 securities  -  - 
     
500 – 999 securities  -  - 
     
1,000 – 1,999 securities  -  - 
     
2,000 – 2,999 securities  -  - 
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3,000 – 3,999 securities  -  - 
     
4,000 – 4,999 securities  -  - 
     
5,000 or more securities  1  1,496,237 
     
     

 
14.2 Convertible or Exchangeable Securities  
 
Except with respect to the Multiple Voting Shares, the Company does not have any 
securities convertible or exchangeable into any class of listed securities. See “2. 
Corporate Structure – 2.2 Jurisdiction of Incorporation” and “ and “3. General 
Development of the Business – 3.1 General Business”. 

14.3 Securities Reserved Issuance 
 
The Company does not have any securities reserved for issuance that are not included 
in “14. Capitalization - 14.2 Convertible or Exchangeable Securities”.  

15. Executive Compensation 
 
For information as to, inter alia, the compensation paid or otherwise provided by the 
Company to certain executive officers and directors for the financial year ended 2017 
and financial years ended prior thereto, refer to the Company’s management 
information circulars available on SEDAR. The Company has not entered into any 
written employment agreements with its directors, or officers. While the Company does 
not currently pay its officers any compensation effective October 1, 2018, the Company 
agreed to pay its independent directors an annual honorarium of $90,000 per director, 
as well as an additional amount of $10,000 per annum for the chair of the Company’s 
audit committee and $5,000 per annum for the chair of the Company’s governance, 
compensation and nominating committee.  It is intended that these payments be pro 
rated for 2018 to reflect an October 1, 2018 commencement date.   

16. Indebtedness of Directors and Executive Officers 
 

16.1 Aggregate Indebtedness 
 
No person is, or was at any time since the beginning of the most recently completed 
financial year has been, indebted to the Company and no indebtedness of officers, 
directors, employees and former officers, directors and employees of the Company is, 
or at any time since the beginning of the most recently completed financial year has 
been, the subject of a guarantee, support agreement, letter of credit or other similar 
arrangement provided by the Company. 

16.2 Indebtedness of Directors and Executive Officers under (1) 
Securities Purchase and (2) Other Programs 
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See “16. Indebtedness of Directors and Executive Officers – 16.1 Aggregate 
Indebtedness”.  

17.  Risk Factors 
 
Set out in this section below are certain material risk factors relating to the investment 
business to be carried on by the Company. As the Company proceeds to develop and 
carry out its business plans, it will be necessary to continually monitor, re-evaluate, and 
manage such risks. 

Investors should carefully consider, among other things, the risk factors set forth below. 
While this Listing Statement has described the risks and uncertainties that management 
of the Company believe to be material to the Company’s business, it is possible that 
other risks and uncertainties affecting the Company’s business will arise or become 
material in the future. These risk factors are not a definitive list of all risk factors 
associated with an investment in the Company or in connection with Company’s 
operations. 

If the Company is unable to address these and other potential risks and uncertainties, 
its business, financial condition or results of operations could be materially and 
adversely affected. In this event, the value of its securities could decline and an investor 
could lose all or part of their investment. 

The following is a description of the principal risk factors that may affect the Company. 

17.1 Risks Relating to the Company and its Business 
 
Risk Factors Relating to an Investment Holding Company 

Reliance on the Performance of Underlying Assets 

Holding corporations do not have operations, activities, or other active business other 
than the acquisition, retention and management of assets. They are simply a vehicle for 
owning assets, and are in the business of providing financial capital and management. 
As a holding company, the Company’s ability to meet its financial obligations will 
generally depend upon the dividends and profits received on investments, as well as the 
Company’s ability to raise additional capital.  

There is no guarantee that the Company’s investments will be sold at a profit. In 
addition, changes in the operating performance, profitability, financial position and 
creditworthiness of the businesses in which the Company invests could adversely affect 
the Company’s financial condition, profitability or cash flows.  

Key Employees 

The Company is substantially dependent on the services of a limited number of 
individuals, and in particular, the major investment and capital allocation decisions they 
provide, some of which have not been hired as of the date hereof. If for any reason the 
Company is not able to obtain the service of key employees or the services of the 
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Company’s key employees are to become unavailable, there could be a material 
adverse effect on the Company’s operations.  

The Company is dependent on its ability to retain the services of existing key personnel 
and to attract and retain additional qualified and competent personnel in the future. The 
Company’s inability to recruit and retain qualified and competent managers could impair 
the ability of the Company to perform its management and administrative duties on 
behalf of the Shareholders. 

Potential Lack of Investment Diversification 

The Company does not have any specific limits on the holdings in securities of issuers, 
or in any one industry or size of issuer. Additionally, the Company intends to primarily 
focus on corporations located in Canada, although investments may extend to the 
United States and globally. Accordingly, the securities in which the Company invests 
may not be diversified across many sectors and will be concentrated in specific regions 
or countries, such as Canada. The Company may also have a significant portion of 
investments in the securities of a single issuer.  

A relatively high concentration of assets could result in a portfolio that may be more 
vulnerable to fluctuations in value resulting from adverse conditions that may affect the 
economy, a particular industry, or a segment of issuers than would otherwise be the 
case if the Company were required to maintain wide diversification. Consequently, 
significant declines in the fair value of the Company’s larger investments will produce a 
material decline in the Company’s reported earnings. 

Trading Price of the Shares Relative to Net Asset Value 

The Company cannot predict whether the Subordinate Voting Shares will trade at a 
discount from, a premium to, or at the Company’s net asset value. As a result, the 
return experienced by a Shareholder will likely differ from the underlying performance of 
the Company.  

The market price of the Subordinate Voting Shares at any given point may not 
accurately reflect the Company’s long-term value. The market price of its shares will be 
determined by, among other things, the relative demand and supply of the Subordinate 
Voting Shares in the market, the Company’s investment performance and investor 
perception of the Company’s overall attractiveness as an investment as compared with 
other investment alternatives. Additionally, as a result of FAXCo holding shares 
representing 83.98% of the voting power of the Company’s outstanding shares, the 
liquidity of the Subordinate Voting Shares may be limited.  

The market price of the Subordinate Voting Shares will likely be affected by other 
factors outside of management’s control, including but not limited to, global 
macroeconomic developments, and market perceptions and expectations regarding the 
attractiveness of various economies, industries or corporations in which the Company 
invests.  

Future Dilution 
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Where, in the opinion of the Board of Directors and Management, additional capital is 
necessary or desirable to carry on the investment activities of the Company, the 
Company may create and issue additional securities at a price and otherwise on terms 
and conditions determined by the Board of Directors. Depending on the price at which 
such additional securities of the Company are offered for sale, the issuance of such 
additional securities could result in a dilution to existing Shareholders. In creating and 
issuing additional securities of the Company, the Board of Directors will comply with the 
requirements of applicable securities law and the CSE and will act in accordance with 
its fiduciary duties as directors of the Company.  

Use of Leverage 

The Company may borrow additional capital to invest in securities comprising the 
portfolio for the purpose of enhancing the potential returns of the Company. The risk to 
Shareholders may increase if securities purchased with borrowed money decline in 
value. While the use of leverage can increase the rate of return, it can also increase the 
magnitude of loss in unprofitable positions beyond the loss which would have occurred 
if there had been no borrowings. The interest expense and other costs incurred in 
connection with such borrowing may not be recovered by appreciation in the securities 
purchased or carried. Leveraging will thus tend to magnify the losses or gains from 
investment activities.  

If at any time an amount owed is called by a lender, the Company may be required to 
liquidate securities in the portfolio to comply with the restriction or to repay the 
indebtedness. Such sales may occur at a time when the market for the securities in the 
portfolio is depressed, affecting the value of the portfolio and the return to the Company. 
In addition, the Company may not be able to renew loan facilities on acceptable terms.  

There can be no assurance that the borrowing strategy employed by the Company will 
enhance returns, and it may, in fact, reduce returns. 

Risk Factors Relating to Portfolio Investments 

Investments in Private Issuers 

Although the Board of Directors and Management have a preference to invest in public 
securities, the Company may, from time to time, invest in the securities of a private 
issuer. Issuers whose securities are not publicly traded are not subject to the disclosure 
and other investor protection requirements that would be applicable if their securities 
were publicly traded. The Company must, therefore, rely on its management team to 
obtain the information necessary to make an informed investment decision. 

The valuations ascribed to such private securities within the Company’s portfolio will be 
measured at fair value in accordance with IFRS, and the resulting values may differ 
from values that would have otherwise been used had a ready market existed for the 
investment. The valuation process for these private securities is not based on publicly 
available prices and is, to a degree, subjective in nature. These valuations will be 
reflected in the net asset value of the equity securities of the Company.  
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Illiquid Assets 

The Company may invest, from time to time, in securities that are thinly traded or have 
no market at all, including investments in private issuers. It is possible that the Company 
may not be able to sell portions of such positions without facing substantially adverse 
prices, or may be required to sell such securities before their intended investment 
horizon, which could negatively impact the performance of investments and the 
Company’s financial condition, profitability and cash flows.  

Deterioration of General Economics, Political and Market Conditions 

The success of the Company’s activities will be subject to normal economic cycles 
affecting the economy in general or the industries in which the investee corporations 
operate. To the extent that the economy deteriorates for an extended period of time, 
one (1) or more of the Company’s investments could be materially harmed. In addition, 
the Company’s investments may be affected by changes in political and market 
conditions, such as interest rates, availability of credit, inflation rates, changes in laws, 
and national and international circumstances. Unexpected changes in these factors 
could negatively impair the Company’s financial condition, profitability and cash flows.  

Foreign Security Risk 

The Company’s investment portfolio may include issuers, domestic or otherwise, with 
multinational organizations and who have significant foreign business and foreign 
currency risk. The value of these securities may be influenced by foreign government 
policies, lack of information about foreign corporations, political or social instability and 
the possible levy of foreign withholding tax.  

Foreign Exchange Risks 

The Company’s reporting currency is the Canadian dollar. A portion of the Company’s 
investments may include securities denominated in foreign currency. Accordingly, the 
net asset value of the Company’s portfolio will fluctuate depending on the rate of 
exchange between the Canadian dollar and such foreign currencies. The Company 
may, from time to time, experience gains and losses resulting from the fluctuations of 
foreign currencies, which could impact the Company’s financial condition, profitability or 
cash flows. 

Competition and Technology Risks 

The Company intends to hold investments in the securities of businesses that face 
intense competitive pressures within the markets in which they operate. Many factors, 
including market and technological changes, may erode the competitive advantages of 
the businesses in which the Company invests. Accordingly, the Company’s future 
operating results will depend, to a degree, on whether or not those businesses are 
successful in protecting or enhancing their competitive positioning. 

Credit Risk 
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Credit risk is the risk of a financial loss occurring as a result of default of a counterparty 
on its obligations to the Company. The Company may be subject to credit risk on its 
financial assets, including loans receivable and corporate debt investments, such as 
bonds.  

Tax Risks 

There can be no assurances that the tax laws applicable to the Company under the Tax 
Act or under foreign tax regimes will not be changed in a manner which could adversely 
affect the Company’s operating results or profitability.  

Regulatory Changes 

Certain industries, such as financial services, health care, and telecommunications, 
remain heavily regulated and may be more susceptible to an acceleration in regulatory 
initiatives in Canada and abroad. Investments in these sectors may be substantially 
affected by changes in government policy, and the Company cannot predict whether or 
not such changes will have a material adverse impact on the Company’s investments or 
Company profitability.  

17.2  Risks of Additional Contributions 
 
The Company does not anticipate that securityholders of the Company will become 
liable to make an additional contribution beyond the price of the security.  

17.3 Other Risk Factors  
 

Significant Shareholder 

FAXCo, a corporation wholly-owned by Merrilyn Driscoll, directly holds shares 
representing 83.98% of the voting power of the Company’s outstanding shares. In 
addition, Blair Driscoll, a director and the CEO of the Company, is the President and 
CEO of FAXCo. Accordingly, Ms. Driscoll and Mr. Driscoll may have the ability to 
substantially influence certain actions requiring Shareholder approval, including (as 
applicable) approving a business combination or consolidation, liquidation or sale of 
assets, electing members of the Board of Directors, and adopting amendments to the 
articles of incorporation and by-laws of the Company.  

The market price of the Subordinate Voting Shares may be adversely affected due to 
the significant influence and voting power of FAXCo and the liquidity of the Subordinate 
Voting Shares may be limited.  

Conflicts of Interest 

Certain of the directors and officers of the Company are engaged in, and will continue to 
engage in, other business activities on their own behalf and on behalf of other 
corporations and, as a result of these and other activities, such directors and officers of 
the Company may become subject to conflicts of interest or be perceived to be in a 
conflict of interest. Further, as a result of these engagements, for example, as an officer 
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of the Company and Federated Capital, Mr. Driscoll could be perceived to be in a 
conflict of interest related to his respective duties as director and officer of the 
Company. The directors of the Company are bound by the provisions of the CBCA 
which states that in exercising their powers and in discharging their duties they shall act 
honestly and in good faith with a view to the best interests of the Company. Further, the 
Company will adopt procedures for checking for potential conflicts of interest prior to 
making any investment commitment to address and minimize any conflicts of interest. 
See “13. Directors and Officers – 13.10 Conflicts of Interest” above. 

Overlap with Federated Capital 

Federated Capital is a private single family office for the benefit of the family of John F. 
Driscoll and is focused on investments in public and private corporations across a broad 
range of industries and sectors. Blair Driscoll, a director and the CEO of the Company, 
has been the Co-CEO of Federated Capital since October 2017. Edward Merchand, the 
CFO of the Company, has been the Treasurer of Federated Capital since April 2018. As 
a result of the foregoing, the investment strategies, decisions and opportunities of the 
Company and Federated Capital may overlap. While the Company will adopt 
procedures for checking for potential conflicts of interest prior to making any investment 
commitment, there is no assurance that all investment opportunities available to 
Federated Capital will also be made available to the Company and no assurance that 
an investment opportunity available to both the Company and Federated Capital will be 
completed by the Company.  

18. Promoters  
 
18.1 Information on Promoters  
 
Except as disclosed below, to the knowledge of the management of the Company, no 
person or company is, or has been within the two (2) years immediately preceding the 
date of this Listing Statement, a promoter of the Company or a former subsidiary of the 
Company. 

FAXCo may be considered a promoter of the Company, as it has taken the initiative in 
organizing the Change of Business. FAXCo beneficially owns, directly or indirectly, or 
exercises control over, 1,496,237 Subordinate Voting Shares (representing 
approximately 59.96% of the issued and outstanding Subordinate Voting Shares) and 
1,501,502 Multiple Voting Shares (representing approximately 100% of the issued and 
outstanding Multiple Voting Shares).  See “12. Principal Shareholders – 12.1(1) 
Principal Shareholders” and “3. General Development of the Business – 3.1 General 
Business”. 

18.2 (1) Orders 
 
None. 
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18.2 (3) Bankruptcies 
 
None. 

18.2 (4) Penalties or Sanctions 

None. 

19. Legal Proceedings 
 
19.1 Legal Proceedings 

There are no legal proceedings material, and no contemplated legal proceedings known 
to be material, to management of the Company, to which the Company is a party or of 
which any of the Company’s respective property is the subject matter. 

19.2 Regulatory actions  

The Company has not (i) been subject to any penalties or sanctions imposed by a court 
relating to provincial and territorial securities legislation or by a securities regulatory 
authority within the three (3) years immediately preceding the date hereof, (ii) been 
subject to other penalties or sanctions imposed by a court or regulatory body necessary 
to contain full, true and plain disclosure of all material facts relating to the securities 
being listed, nor (iii) been party to any settlement agreements entered into before a 
court relating to provincial and territorial securities legislation or with a securities 
regulatory authority within the three (3) years immediately preceding the date hereof. 

20. Interest of Management and Others in Material Transactions 
 
Other than as set forth in this Listing Statement, no director, executive officer of the 
issuer, nor a person or company that is the direct or indirect beneficial owner of, or who 
exercises control or direction over, more than 10% of any class of outstanding voting 
securities, nor an associate or affiliate of any of the foregoing persons, has any material 
interest, direct or indirect, in any transaction within the past three (3) years, or in any 
proposed transaction, that has materially affected or will materially affect the Company. 

21. Auditors, Transfer Agents and Registrars 
 
21.1 Auditor  

The Company’s current auditor is Deloitte and Touche LLP, 8 Adelaide Street West, 
Suite 200, Ontario, M5H 0A9. 

21.2  Transfer Agent 
 
The Company’s current (i) registrar and transfer agent for the Subordinate Voting 
Shares is Capital Transfer Agency Inc. 390 Bay Street, Suite 920, Toronto, Ontario, 
M5H 2Y2 and (ii) agent appointed to maintain the securities register for the Multiple 
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Voting Shares is Norton Rose Fulbright Canada LLP, Royal Bank Plaza, South Tower, 
Suite 3800, 200 Bay Street, P.O. Box 84, Toronto, ON M5J 2Z4 Canada.  

22. Material Contracts 
 
22.1 Material Contracts 
 
Except for contracts entered into in the ordinary course, the Company, and its former 
subsidiary, have not entered into material contracts within the past two (2) years. 

22.2 Co-tenancy, Unitholders' or Limited Partnership Agreements 
 
The Company is not party to any co-tenancy, unitholders' or limited partnership 
agreement. 

23. Interest of Experts 
 
23.1 Interest of Experts 
 
To the knowledge of the management of the Company, no person or company whose 
profession or business gives authority to a statement made by the person or company 
and who is named as having prepared or certified a part of this Listing Statement or 
prepared or certified a report or valuation described or included in this Listing Statement 
(including the Company’s current auditor), has any beneficial interest, direct or indirect, 
in the Property (as that term is used in the policies of the CSE) of the Company or of a 
Related Person of the Company and no such person, nor the director, officer or 
employee of such person, is expected to be elected, appointed or employed as a 
director, senior officer or employee of the Company or of an associate or affiliate of the 
Company. 

23.2 Beneficial Ownership of Experts 
 
See “23. Interest of Experts – 23.1 Interest of Experts”. 

23.4 Expected Positions of Experts 
 
See “23. Interest of Experts – 23.1 Interest of Experts”. 

24. Other Material Facts 
 
Management of the Company is not aware of any other material facts concerning the 
Company or its securities that are not disclosed under the preceding items and are 
necessary in order for this Listing Statement to contain full, true and plain disclosure of 
all material facts relating to the Company. 

25. Financial Statements  
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25.1   Current Issuer 
 
See the Company’s annual audited financial statements and the accompanying MD&A 
for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015 attached as Schedule “A” 
and the Company’s interim financial statements and the accompanying MD&A for the 
nine (9) months ended September 30, 2018, attached as Schedule “B”.  

 
25.2 Resulting Issuer 

While the Company is re-qualifying for listing following a fundamental change, the 
fundamental change results from a Change of Business that did not involve another 
entity.  
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CERTIFICATE OF THE ISSUER 

Pursuant to a resolution duly passed by its Board of Directors, FAX Capital Corp., 
hereby applies for the listing of the Subordinate Voting Shares on the CSE. The 
foregoing contains full, true and plain disclosure of all material information relating to 
FAX Capital Corp. It contains no untrue statement of a material fact and does not omit 
to state a material fact that is required to be stated or that is necessary to prevent a 
statement that is made from being false or misleading in light of the circumstances in 
which it was made. 

Dated at Toronto. 

this 10th day of January, 2019. 

 

“Blair Driscoll”  “Edward Merchand” 

Blair Driscoll  Edward Merchand 

Chief Executive Officer  Chief Financial Officer 

   

“Edward Merchand”   

Edward Merchand, on behalf of FAX 
Investments Inc.  

  

Promoter   

   

“Paul Gibbons”  “Edward Jackson” 

Paul Gibbons  Edward Jackson  

Director  Director 
 
 
 



  

 
 

APPENDIX “A”  
 

Investment Policy 
 

Investment Objective 

The Company’s investment objective is straightforward. The Company intends to 
maximize the intrinsic business value on a per share basis over the long-term by 
seeking to achieve superior investment performance with less-than-commensurate risk.  

The Company and its management intend to achieve this objective through the 
following principles: 

 We are long-term, through-the-cycle investors deploying permanent capital, with 
no predetermined exit strategy. Unfettered by short-term performance 
constraints, we are able to focus on making the long-term commitments 
necessary to maximize the absolute return on investment, and are able to take a 
patient investment approach with a tolerance for the short-term volatility inherent 
in investment markets.  

 We invest in businesses that possess durable competitive advantages with 
attractive growth prospects that are expected to deliver superior earnings and 
cash flow generation over the long-term. We buy good businesses when they go 
on sale, and while price is important, business quality is even more so.  

 We will remain flexible and open-minded about types of investments, being 
situation dependent and opportunity driven, but will never invest in a business we 
don’t understand.  

 We think like an owner of a business, not a market speculator. By investing in 
great businesses with long-term potential, speculation in market trends or fads is 
unnecessary. We avoid market timing, and intend to be contrarian when 
appropriate.  

 We believe in concentration, and not excessive diversification. Good ideas are 
rare, and when we believe the odds are in our favor, we intend to invest heavily 
to create a focused portfolio. Free from the pressures of redemption risk, we will 
exhibit patience and discipline to stick to our convictions, even in the face of 
market uncertainty or instability. 

 We will manage a conservative balance sheet that will be structured to withstand 
adversity, and provide the flexibility to capitalize on opportunities when they 
arise. Maintaining a high degree of risk aversion is fundamental to reducing the 
potential for a permanent loss of invested capital.  

Investment Strategy 
 
To achieve its objective, the following guidelines will be considered for the Company’s 



  

 
 

investment approach: 
 

 We intend to establish a concentrated portfolio of investments that are expected 
to make a significant contribution to its net asset value growth, and provide 
superior returns to shareholders by way of capital appreciation and long-term 
value creation.  

 We may invest in the assets of both public and non-public businesses, with a 
preference to invest in public securities. The Company will be industry agnostic in 
terms of investment sectors.  

 We will invest opportunistically in both equity and debt securities, with a 
preference for equity and equity-related assets.  

 We aim to acquire significant and influential stakes in leading, high-quality 
businesses, and to gain in-depth knowledge about our investee corporations and 
their business environments. 

 We believe in a business model predicated on a long-term investment horizon 
combined with active ownership and the Company may, from time to time, seek a 
more active role in the corporations in which the Company invests, and provide 
such corporations with financial and personnel resources, as well as strategic 
counsel. 

 We may forge strategic alliances on a partnership basis with third-party investors 
to help supplement our own capital, where it makes strategic sense. 

Investment Evaluation and Selection Process 
 
Investment opportunities will be identified by the Company’s senior management team. 
The investment process is entirely bottom-up, based on in-house company-specific 
research.  
 
When evaluating a particular investment, the Company expects to consider, among 
other things, these simple guidelines: 
 

 Be a business analyst, not a macroeconomic or security analyst 

 Think independently, objectively and rationally  

 Do not make a distinction between value and growth – all investing is value 
investing 

 Invest in high return businesses that employ modest leverage, and have good 
reinvestment opportunities 

 Look for businesses with owner-oriented management teams that are able and 
trustworthy 



  

 
 

 Buy good businesses at a fair price that affords an appropriate margin of safety 

The Company’s investments will be managed within three (3) primary business areas, 
which can be classified as follows: 
 

o Listed Core Investments: Consists of publicly listed portfolio securities 
of corporations in which the Company is a significant minority owner;  

o Wholly-Owned and Majority Owned Subsidiaries: Consists of wholly-
owned corporations and corporations in which the Company is a 
majority owner; and 

o Private Investments: Consists of private unlisted portfolio securities of 
corporations in which the Company is a direct or indirect owner. 

Active Ownership  
 
The Company may ask for board representation when deemed appropriate from a 
strategic perspective. The Company’s nominee(s) will be determined by the Board as 
appropriate in such circumstances.  
 
Conflicts of Interest 
 
The Company and its affiliates, employees, directors and officers are or may be 
involved in other financial, investment and professional activities which may on occasion 
cause a conflict of interest with their duties to the Company. These include serving as 
directors, officers, promoters, advisers or agents of other public and private 
corporations, including corporations in which the Company may invest.  
 
All members of the Board and Management shall be obligated to disclose any interest in 
the potential investment and the members of the Board and its advisors shall be 
responsible for reviewing a potential conflict. Following the Meeting, the Company shall 
adopt procedures for checking for potential conflicts of interest, which shall include but 
not be limited to a circulation of the names of a potential target corporation and its 
affiliates to the Board and Management. 

Prior to making an investment commitment, all members of the senior management 
team and the Board are obligated to disclose any interest in the potential investment, 
including holding any interest in a potential investment. In the event that a conflict is 
determined to exist, the individual having a conflicting interest shall provide full 
disclosure of their interest in the potential investment, the person having the conflicted 
interest is required to abstain from making decisions or recommendations concerning 
the investment, and any potential investments where there is a material conflict of 
interest involving an affiliates, employees, directors or officers of the Company may only 
proceed after receiving approval from the disinterested directors of the Board. 



  

 
 

 
APPENDIX “B”  

 
Annual audited financial statements and accompanying MD&A  

 
[Please see attached such documents for the fiscal years ended December 31, 

2017, 2016 and 2015.] 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Shareholders of 
God’s Lake Resources Inc.

Report on the Consolidated Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of God’s Lake Resources Inc., which 
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at December 31, 2017 and 2016, and the 
consolidated statements of comprehensive loss, changes in equity, and cash flows for the years then ended, 
and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as 
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. 
We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those 
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audits to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material 
misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the 
entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on 
the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of 
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as 
evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of God’s Lake Resources Inc. as at December 31, 2017 and 2016, and its financial performance and 
its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

Emphasis of Matter

Without qualifying our opinion, we draw attention to note 2 of the notes to the consolidated financial 
statements which describes a material uncertainty that may cast doubt about God’s Lake Resources Inc.’s 
ability to continue as a going concern.

DNTW Toronto LLP
April 27, 2018 Chartered Professional Accountants
Toronto, Ontario Licensed Public Accountants



The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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GOD’S LAKE RESOURCES INC.
(AN EXPLORATION STAGE COMPANY)
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2017 AND 2016
(Presented in Canadian Dollars)

2017 2016

ASSETS

Current Assets
Cash $ 26,217 $ 29,526
Investments owned, at fair value 4 277 264,113
Due from broker 3,992,171 4,110,735
Sundry receivables 14,314 39,204

Total Current Assets 4,032,979 4,443,578

Long Term Assets
Field equipment 5 - 34,304
Exploration and evaluation assets 6 100,000 823,963

Total Long Term Assets 100,000 858,267

Total Assets $ 4,132,979 $ 5,301,845

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

Current Liabilities
Investments sold short, at fair value 4 $        2,350,663 $        2,102,007
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 58,297 167,493
Loans payable 7 100,000 100,000

Total Current Liabilities 2,508,960 2,369,500

Long Term Liabilities
Deferred tax liability 8 - 148,921

Total Liabilities 2,508,960 2,518,421

Commitments 9

Equity
Share capital 10 8,948,742 8,948,742
Contributed surplus 10 417,784 417,784
Deficit (7,742,507) (6,583,102)

Total Equity 1,624,019 2,783,424

Total Liabilities and Equity $ 4,132,979 $ 5,301,845

Going Concern (Note 2)

Approved on Behalf of the Board

Signed - "Michael Sheridan"
Director

Signed - "Michael Doran"
Director



The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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GOD’S LAKE RESOURCES INC.
(AN EXPLORATION STAGE COMPANY)
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2017 AND 2016
(Presented in Canadian Dollars)

2017 2016

REVENUE
Net realized losses on disposal of investments $ (225,136) $ (83,305)
Net change in unrealized losses on investments            (151,691)            (113,652)

(376,827) (196,957)

EXPENSES
Professional fees 33,129 50,897
Salaries 25,000 25,000
Rent 11 (a) 24,000 24,000
Office and general 21,790 22,511
Consulting fees 12,000 12,000
Transaction costs 9,641 26,451
Filing fees 9,215 9,145
Travel 8,318 2,952
Amortization 6,861 8,576
Penalties and fines - 75,010
Impairment of field equipment 6 27,443 -
Impairment of exploration and evaluation assets 6 754,102 -

931,499 256,542

LOSS BEFORE TAXES (1,308,326) (453,499)

Deferred income tax expense (recovery) 12 (148,921) (112,248)

NET LOSS AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS $ (1,159,405) $ (341,251)

LOSS PER SHARE

Basic and diluted $ (0.13) $ (0.04)

WEIGHTED AVERAGE NUMBER OF SHARES OUTSTANDING

Basic and diluted 9,232,888 9,232,888



GOD'S LAKE RESOURCES INC.
(AN EXPLORATION STAGE COMPANY)
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2017 AND 2016
(Presented in Canadian Dollars)

Number of 
Shares Share Capital

Contributed 
Surplus Deficit

Total
Equity

Balance at December 31, 2015 9,232,888 $ 8,948,742 $ 417,784 $ (6,241,851) $ 3,124,675

Net loss - - - (341,251) (341,251)

Balance at December 31, 2016 9,232,888 $ 8,948,742 $ 417,784 $ (6,583,102) $ 2,783,424

Net loss - - - (1,159,405) (1,159,405)

Balance at December 31, 2017 9,232,888 $ 8,948,742 $ 417,784 $ (7,742,507) $ 1,624,019

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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GOD’S LAKE RESOURCES INC.
(AN EXPLORATION STAGE COMPANY)
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2017 AND 2016
(Presented in Canadian Dollars)

2017 2016

CASH FLOWS USED IN OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net loss $ (1,159,405) $ (341,251)

Adjustments for non-cash item:
Net realized losses on disposal of investments 225,136 83,305
Net unrealized losses on investments 151,691 113,652
Amortization 6,861 8,576
Income tax expense (recovery) (148,921) (112,248)
Impairment of field equipment 27,443 -
Impairment of exploration and evaluation assets 754,102 -

Changes in non-cash working capital:
Sundry receivables 24,890 18,835
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (109,196) 142,543

(227,399) (86,588)

CASH FLOWS PROVIDED BY INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Exploration and evaluation expenditures (30,139) (57,402)
Increase (decrease) in due from broker 118,564 (1,756,140)
Cost of purchasing investments (6,362,104) (66,873,393)
Proceeds on disposal of investments 6,497,769 68,770,670

224,090 83,735

NET DECREASE IN CASH (3,309) (2,853)

CASH, BEGINNING OF YEAR 29,526 32,379

CASH, END OF YEAR $ 26,217 $ 29,526

SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION

Interest paid $ - $ -
Income taxes paid $ - $ -



GOD'S LAKE RESOURCES INC.
(AN EXPLORATION STAGE COMPANY)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2017 AND 2016
(Presented in Canadian Dollars)
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1. NATURE OF BUSINESS

God’s Lake Resources Inc. (the “Company”), was incorporated in Ontario in 1923, until it was 
continued federally under the laws of Canada in 1978.  The Company is engaged in the 
acquisition, exploration and development of properties for the mining of precious and base 
metals.

The Company is domiciled in the Province of Ontario, and its registered office address is 73 
Richmond Street West, Suite 212 in Toronto, Ontario, M5H 4E8, and its common shares are 
listed on the Canadian Securities Exchange under the symbol GLR. 

The Board approved these consolidated financial statements for issue on April 27, 2018.

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION

Going Concern

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis, which
assumes that the Company will continue in operations for the foreseeable future and will be 
able to realize its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business. Realization 
values may be substantially different from carrying values as shown in these consolidated 
financial statements. These consolidated financial statements do not give effect to adjustments 
that would be necessary to the carrying values and classification of assets and liabilities should 
the Company be unable to continue as a going concern.

As at December 31, 2017, the Company had working capital of $1,524,019 (2016 - $2,074,078) 
and an accumulated deficit of $7,742,507 (2016 - $6,583,102). Subsequent to December 31, 
2017, the Company sold its subsidiary owing all field equipment and exploration and evaluation 
assets, which comprised the principal assets of its mineral exploration business. The Company 
intends to consider other business opportunities over the course of the next fiscal year.

The identification of a new principal business is a material uncertainty that casts doubt about 
the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

Statement of Compliance

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards 
Board (“IASB”). Significant accounting estimates, judgments, and assumptions used or 
exercised by management in preparation of these consolidated financial statements are 
presented below.



GOD'S LAKE RESOURCES INC.
(AN EXPLORATION STAGE COMPANY)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2017 AND 2016
(Presented in Canadian Dollars)
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

Basis of Presentation

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared using the historical cost 
convention except for certain financial instruments which are measured at fair value.

Functional and Presentation Currency

The Company's functional and presentation currency is the Canadian dollar.

Basis of Consolidation

These consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of God's Lake 
Resources Inc. and its wholly-owned subsidiary, Golden Brick Exploration Inc. (“Golden Brick”), 
which is a corporation formed under the laws of the Province of Ontario. This subsidiary is fully 
consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the date on which the Company obtained 
control, and will continue to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases. The 
financial statements of the subsidiary are prepared for the same reporting period as the 
Company, using consistent accounting policies. All intercompany account balances and 
transactions have been eliminated upon consolidation.

Critical Accounting Judgments, Estimates, and Assumptions

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires management to make 
judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, 
and contingent liabilities as at the date of the consolidated financial statements, and the 
reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Estimates and 
assumptions are continuously evaluated and are based on management’s experience and other 
factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the 
circumstances. Uncertainty about these judgments, estimates, and assumptions could result in 
outcomes that could require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of the asset or 
liability affected in future periods.

Information about significant areas of estimation uncertainty considered by management in 
preparing the consolidated financial statements are as follows:

Going Concern

Management has made an assessment of the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern 
and is satisfied that the Company has the resources to continue in business for the foreseeable 
future. However, a material uncertainty exists that casts doubt about the Company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern.



GOD'S LAKE RESOURCES INC.
(AN EXPLORATION STAGE COMPANY)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2017 AND 2016
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2.   BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

Critical Accounting Judgments, Estimates, and Assumptions (Continued)

Fair Value of Investments in Securities Not Quoted in an Active Market

Where the fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded on the consolidated 
statements of financial position cannot be derived from active markets, they are determined 
using a variety of valuation techniques. The inputs to these models are derived from 
observable market data where possible, but where observable market data are not available, 
judgment is required to establish fair values. Changes in estimates and assumptions about 
these inputs affects the reported fair value.

Deferred Tax Assets

Deferred tax assets are recognized in respect of tax losses and other temporary differences to 
the extent that it is probable that taxable income will be available against which the losses can 
be utilized. Judgment is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be 
recognized, based upon the likely timing and level of future taxable income, together with 
future tax planning strategies.

Exploration and Evaluation Assets

The application of the Company’s accounting policy for exploration and evaluation assets 
requires judgment to determine whether future economic benefits are likely, through 
successful exploration and development or sale of the asset, or whether activities have not 
reached a stage which permits a reasonable assessment of the existence of reserves. The 
determination of reserves and resources is itself an estimation process that requires varying 
degrees of uncertainty depending on how the resources are classified.

These estimates directly impact when the Company defers exploration and evaluation
expenditures. The deferral policy requires management to make certain estimates and 
assumptions about future events and circumstances whether an economically viable extraction 
operation can be established. Any such estimates and assumptions may change as new 
information becomes available. If, after expenditures are capitalized, information becomes 
available suggesting that the recovery of the expenditures is unlikely, the asset is deemed to be 
impaired and the amount capitalized is written off in the consolidated statements of 
comprehensive loss in the period when the new information becomes available. 
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2.   BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

Critical Accounting Judgments, Estimates, and Assumptions (Continued)

Impairment of Assets

At the end of each financial reporting period, the carrying amounts of the Company’s non-
financial assets are reviewed to determine whether there is any indication that those assets 
have suffered an impairment loss or reversal of previous impairment. Where such an indication 
exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the 
impairment, if any. 

Where an indicator of impairment exists, a formal estimate of the recoverable amount is made, 
which is considered to be the higher of the fair value less costs of disposal and value in use.

The assessments require the use of estimates and assumptions such as long-term mineral 
prices (considering current and historical prices, price trends, and related factors), discount 
rates, operating costs, future capital requirements, decommissioning costs, exploration 
potential, reserves, and operating performance (which includes production and sales volumes). 
These estimates and assumptions are subject to risk and uncertainty. Therefore, there is a 
possibility that changes in circumstances will impact these projections, which may impact the 
recoverable amount of assets. Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or 
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the 
measurement date.

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The significant accounting policies used in the preparation of these consolidated financial 
statements are set out below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years 
presented.

Cash

Cash consists of deposits at Canadian chartered banks which are available on demand.

Due From Broker

Amounts due from brokers represent cash deposited with securities brokers.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Exploration and Evaluation Assets

Exploration and evaluation assets include the costs of acquiring licenses and claims, exploratory 
drilling, geological and geophysical activities, acquisition of mineral and surface rights, directly 
attributable expenses and technical studies. Exploration and evaluation expenditures are 
capitalized as exploration and evaluation assets when the technical feasibility and commercial 
viability of extracting mineral reserves have yet to be determined. Costs not directly 
attributable to exploration and evaluation activities, including general and administrative 
overhead costs, are expensed in the period in which they occur.

Exploration and evaluation assets are measured at cost and are not depleted or depreciated. 
Exploration and evaluation assets, net of any impairment loss, are transferred to property and 
equipment when proved and/or probable reserves are determined to exist. 

When a project is deemed to no longer have commercial viable prospects to the Company, 
exploration and evaluation expenditures in respect of that project are deemed to be impaired. 
As a result, those exploration and evaluation expenditure costs, in excess of estimated 
recoveries, are written off to profit or loss. The Company assesses exploration and evaluation 
assets for impairment when facts or circumstances suggest that the carrying amount of an 
asset may exceed its recoverable amount.

Field Equipment

Field equipment is stated at historical cost, less accumulated depreciation and impairment 
losses. Cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. 
The carrying amounts of equipment are depreciated to their estimated residual value, over the 
estimated useful lives of each significant component, as follows:

Mineral exploration equipment 20% straight-line
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

The Company assesses assets or groups of assets for impairment whenever events or changes 
in circumstances indicate that the carrying value of an asset may not be recoverable.  If any 
such indication of impairment exists, the Company makes an estimate of its recoverable 
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its value in 
use. Where the carrying amount of an asset group exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset or 
asset group is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount. In assessing 
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are adjusted for the risks specific to the asset or 
the asset group and are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that 
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money. An assessment is made at 
each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that previously recognized 
impairment may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such indication exists, the 
recoverable amount is estimated. Any previously recognized loss is reversed only if there has 
been a change in the estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the 
last impairment loss was recognized. If that is the case, the carrying amount of the asset is 
increased to its recoverable amount. That increased amount cannot exceed the carrying 
amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss been 
recognized for the asset in prior years. Such reverse is recognized in the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income (loss). After such reversal, the depreciation charge is 
adjusted in future periods to allocate the asset’s revised carrying amount, less any residual 
value, on a systematic basis over its remaining useful life.

Exploration and evaluation assets are allocated to cash generate units (“CGU”) for the purpose 
of assessing such assets for impairment. CGU is defined as the lowest levels for which there are 
separately identifiable independent cash inflows. Each CGU to which an exploration and 
evaluation asset is allocated shall not be larger than an operating segment.

Revenue Recognition

Purchases and sales of investments are recognized on the trade date. Realized gains and losses 
on disposal and unrealized gains and losses in the value of investments are reflected in the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive loss. Upon disposal of an investment, previously 
recognized unrealized gains or losses are reversed, so as to recognize the full realized gain or 
loss in the period of disposition. All transaction costs associated with the purchase and sale of 
investments are expensed as incurred.
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3.    SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Investments Owned and Investments Sold Short

(i) Classification:

Investments owned and sold short are classified upon initial recognition at fair value 
through profit or loss (“FVTPL”).

(ii) Recognition, derecognition, and measurement:

Purchases and sales of investments are recognized on the trade date. 

Investments owned and sold short are initially recognized at fair value. Transaction costs 
are expensed as incurred in the consolidated statements of comprehensive loss. 
Investments are derecognized when the rights to receive cash flows from the security 
have expired or the Company has transferred the financial asset.

Subsequent to initial recognition, all investments owned and sold short are measured at 
fair value. Gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of Investments are 
recognized in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income (loss) in the period in 
which they occur.

(iii) Determination of fair values:

The determination of fair value requires judgment and is based on market information, 
where available and appropriate. At the end of each financial reporting period, the 
Company’s management estimates the fair value of investments based on the criteria 
below and reflects such valuations in the consolidated financial statements. The Company 
is also required to disclose details of its financial instrument measured at fair value based 
on the transparency of inputs used in measuring the fair value.

1. Listed securities:

a. Securities including shares, options, and warrants which are traded in an active 
market, such as on a recognized securities exchange and for which no sales 
restrictions apply, are presented at fair value based on quoted closing trade prices 
on the period-end date. If there were no trades on the period-end date, the 
Company uses the closing trade price on the last day that the security traded. 
These instruments are included in Level 1 in the fair value hierarchy.
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3.    SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Investments Owned and Investments Sold Short (Continued)

      (iii).  Determination of fair values (Continued):

2. Unlisted securities:

All unlisted securities are initially recorded at the transaction price, being the fair value 
at the time of acquisition. Thereafter, at each reporting period, the fair value of 
securities may (depending upon the circumstances) be adjusted using one or more of 
the valuation indicators described below. These instruments are included in Level 3 of 
the fair value hierarchy.

The determinations of fair value of the Company’s private company securities at other 
than initial cost are subject to certain limitations. Financial information for private 
companies in which the Company has invested may not be available and, even if 
available, that information may be limited and/or unreliable. Use of the valuation 
approach described below may involve uncertainties and determinations based on the 
Company’s judgment and any value estimated from these techniques may not be 
realized or realizable.

Company-specific information is considered when determining whether the fair value 
of an unlisted security should be adjusted upward or downward at the end of each 
reporting period.

The fair value of an unlisted security may be adjusted if:

a. there has been a significant subsequent equity financing provided by outside 
investors at a valuation different than the current value of the investee company, 
in which case the fair value of the security is set to the value at which that 
financing took place;

b. there have been significant corporate, political or operating events affecting the 
investee company that, in management’s opinion, have a material impact on the 
investee company’s prospects and therefore its fair value. In these circumstances, 
the adjustment to the fair value of the security will be based on management’s 
judgement and any value estimated may not be realized or realizable;

c. the investee company is placed into receivership or bankruptcy;

d. based on financial information received from the investee company, it is apparent 
to the Company that the investee company is unlikely to be able to continue as a 
going concern;
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3.    SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Investments Owned and Investments Sold Short (Continued)

(iii).  Determination of fair values (Continued):

2. Unlisted securities (Continued):

e. receipt/denial by the investee company of environmental, mining, aboriginal or 
similar approvals, which allow the investee company to proceed/prohibit with its 
project(s);

f. filing by the investee company of a National Instrument 43-101 technical report in 
respect of a previously non-compliant resource;

g. release by the investee company of positive/negative exploration results; and

h. important positive/negative management changes by the investee company that 
the Company’s management believes will have a very positive/negative impact on 
the investee company’s ability to achieve its objectives and build value for 
shareholders.

Adjustments to the fair value of a private company security will be based upon 
management’s judgment and any value estimated may not be realized or realizable. 
The resulting values may differ from values that would be realized if a ready market 
existed. In addition, the amounts at which the Company’s private company securities 
could be disposed of currently may differ from the carrying value assigned.

(iv) Offsetting of financial instruments:

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the 
consolidated statement of financial position if, and only if, there is a currently enforceable 
legal right to offset the recognized amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net 
basis, or to realize the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.
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3.    SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial Instruments At Amortized Cost

Financial assets that are managed to collect contractual cash flows on specified dates are
classified as subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. 
These financial assets are recognized initially at fair value plus directly attributable transaction 
costs.

A financial asset is derecognized when the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have 
expired or the Company has transferred substantially all of the risks and rewards of the asset. 
The Company assesses at each reporting date whether there is any objective evidence that a 
financial asset is impaired, the impairment provision is based upon the expected loss.

Financial liabilities, other than those classified as FVTPL are classified as subsequently 
measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. These financial liabilities are 
recognized initially at fair value net of directly attributable transaction costs.

The effective interest method is a method for calculating the amortized cost of a financial asset 
or financial liability and of allocating the interest income or interest expense over the relevant 
period.

Share Capital

Common shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of 
common shares are recognized as a deduction from equity. Common shares issued for 
consideration other than cash, are valued based on their market value at the date the shares 
are issued. 

The Company has adopted a residual value method with respect to the measurement of shares 
and warrants issued as private placement units. The residual value method first allocates value 
to the more easily measurable component based on fair value and then the residual value, if 
any, to the less easily measurable component. The Company considers the fair value of 
common shares issued in the private placements to be the more easily measurable component 
and the common shares are valued at their fair value, as determined by the closing market 
price on the announcement date. The balance, if any, is allocated to the attached warrants. Any 
fair value attributed to the warrants is recorded as contributed surplus.
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3.    SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Loss Per Share

Basic net loss per share is calculated based on the weighted average number of common shares 
outstanding during the year. Diluted net loss per share is determined by adjusting the weighted 
average number of common shares outstanding for the effects of all potentially dilutive shares. 
Instruments which would be anti-dilutive are not included in the calculation of diluted loss per 
share.

Share-Based Payments

The Company’s stock option plan allows Company employees, directors, officers and 
consultants to acquire shares of the Company. The fair value of options granted is recognized 
as share-based payment expense with a corresponding increase in equity reserves. Fair value is 
measured at grant date, and each tranche is recognized using the graded vesting method over 
the period during which the options vest. The fair value of the options granted is measured 
using the Black-Scholes option pricing model, taking into account the terms and conditions 
upon which the options were granted. At each financial position reporting date, the amount 
recognized as an expense is adjusted to reflect the actual number of stock options that are 
expected to vest. In situations where equity instruments are issued to consultants and some or 
all of the goods or services received by the entity as consideration cannot be specifically 
identified, they are measured at the fair value of the share-based payment. Otherwise, share-
based payments are measured at the fair value of goods or services received.

Decommissioning and Restoration Provisions

Decommissioning and restoration provisions are recorded when a present legal or constructive 
obligation exists as a result of past events where it is probable that an outflow of resources 
embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate 
of the amount of the obligation can be made. 

The amount recognized as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to 
settle the present obligation at the reporting date, taking into account the risks and 
uncertainties surrounding the obligation and discount rates. Where a provision is measured 
using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the 
present value of those cash flows discounted for the market discount rate. Over time the 
discounted liability is increased for the changes in the present value based on the current 
market discount rates and liability risks. When some or all of the economic benefits required to 
settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, the receivable is recognized 
as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received and the amount 
receivable can be measured reliably. Changes in reclamation estimates are accounted for 
prospectively as a change in the corresponding capitalized cost.

The Company did not have any decommissioning and restoration provisions for the years 
presented.
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3.    SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Income Taxes

(i) Current income tax: 

Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at 
the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax 
rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or 
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period. 

Current tax assets and current tax liabilities are only offset if a legally enforceable right 
exists to set off the amounts and the intention is to settle on a net basis, or to realize the 
asset and settle the liability simultaneously. Current income tax relating to items 
recognized directly in equity is recognized in equity and not through profit or loss.

(ii) Deferred tax: 

Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences at the 
reporting date between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts 
for financial reporting purposes. Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable 
temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognized for all deductible temporary 
differences, carry-forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses, to the extent that it 
is probable that profit will be available against which the deductible temporary difference 
and the carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilized. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply 
in the year when the asset is realized or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax 
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the consolidated statements of 
financial position date. Deferred tax relating to items recognized directly in equity is also 
recognized in equity and not in the consolidated statements of comprehensive loss. 

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each consolidated statement of 
financial position date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that 
sufficient profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilized. 
Unrecognized deferred tax assets are reassessed at each consolidated statement of 
financial position date and are recognized to the extent that it has become probable that 
future profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered. The Company does not 
record deferred tax assets to the extent that it considers deductible temporary 
differences, the carry-forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses cannot be 
utilized.
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3.    SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Change in Accounting Policies

Effective January 1, 2017, the Company has adopted the following new and revised standards, 
along with any consequential amendments. These changes were made in accordance with the 
applicable transitional provisions for which there was no significant impact on the Company’s 
consolidated financial statements.

(a) IAS 7, Statement of Cash Flows (“IAS 7”) - In January 2016, the IASB issued amendments to 
IAS 7 pursuant to which entities will be required to provide enhanced information about 
changes in their financial liabilities, including changes from cash flows and non-cash 
changes. The IAS 7 amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 
January 1, 2017.

(b) IAS 12, Income Taxes (“IAS 12”) - In January 2016, the IASB issued amendments to IAS 12, 
which clarify guidance on the recognition of deferred tax assets related to unrealized 
losses resulting from debt instruments that are measured at their fair value. The IAS 12 
amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2017.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

The following are IFRS changes that have been issued by the IASB, which may affect the 
Company, but are not yet effective:

(a) IFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (“IFRS 15”), was issued in May 2015, 
which replaced IAS 11, Construction Contracts, IAS 18, Revenue Recognition, IFRIC 13, 
Customer Loyalty Programmes, IFRIC 15, Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate, 
IFRIC 18, Transfers of Assets from Customers, and SIC-31, Revenue – Barter Transactions 
Involving Advertising Services. IFRS 15 provides a single, principles based five step model 
that will apply to all contracts with customers with limited exceptions, including, but not 
limited to, leases within the scope of IAS 17; financial instruments and other contractual 
rights or obligations within the scope of IFRS 9, IFRS 10, Consolidated Financial Statements 
and IFRS 11, Joint Arrangements. In addition to the five-step model, the standard specifies 
how to account for the incremental costs of obtaining a contract and the costs directly 
related to fulfilling a contract. The incremental costs of obtaining a contract must be 
recognized as an asset if the entity expects to recover these costs. The standard’s 
requirements  willalso apply to the recognition and measurement of gains and losses on 
the sale of some non-financial assets that are not an output of the entity’s ordinary 
activities. IFRS 15 is required for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018. 
Earlier adoption is permitted.
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3.    SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

(b) IFRS 16, Leases (“IFRS 16”) was issued in January 2016 to improve the accounting for 
leases, generally by eliminating a lessees’ classification of leases and introducing a single 
lessee accounting model. The most significant effect of the new standard will be the 
lessee’s recognition of the initial present value of unavoidable future lease payments as 
lease assets and lease liabilities on the statement of financial position. Leases with 
durations of 12 months or less and leases for low value assets are both exempted. The 
measurement of the total lease expense over the term of a lease will be unaffected by the 
new standard. However, the new standard will result in the timing of lease expense 
recognition being accelerated for leases which would be currently accounted for as 
operating leases. The presentation on the statement of loss and other comprehensive loss 
required by the new standard will result in most lease expenses being presented as 
amortization of lease assets and financing costs arising from lease liabilities rather than as 
being a part of goods and services purchased. The standard is effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after January 1, 2019 and will supersede IAS 17 Leases. Earlier application 
is permitted.

(c) IFRS 2, Share-based Payment (“IFRS 2”) - In June 2016, the IASB issued amendments to 
IFRS 2, which expands upon the guidance for recognizing a liability for cash-settlement of a 
share-based payment as well as transactions with a net settlement feature for withholding 
tax obligations. These amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 
January 1, 2018. Earlier application is permitted.

(d) IFRS 4, Insurance Contracts (“IFRS 4”) - In September 2016, the IASB issued amendments 
to IFRS 4, which permits insurers to apply the overlay approach to designated financial 
assets and to reclassify in specified circumstances some or all of their financial assets so 
that the assets are measured at fair value through profit or loss. These amendments are 
effective for periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018. Earlier application is permitted.

The Company has not yet begun to assess the impact that the new and amended standards 
will have on its financial statements.
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4.  INVESTMENTS OWNED AND SOLD SHORT, AT FAIR VALUE

Investments Owned

The components of investments owned are as follows:

2017 2016

Cost Fair Value Cost Fair Value

Equities $                 - $                 - $ 281,228 $ 264,113
Options          1,141          277 - -

$ 1,141 $ 277 $ 281,228 $ 264,113

Investments Sold Short

The components of securities sold short are as follows:

2017 2016

Proceeds Fair Value Proceeds Fair Value

Equities $           2,080,215 $           2,349,782 $           1,999,329 $           2,101,719
Options          526          881          698          288

$           2,080,741 $           2,350,663 $           2,000,027 $           2,102,007

Fair Value Hierarchy

All long and short securities are categorized into Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy and are 
measured based on quoted market prices, with one exception. As at December 31, 2016, the 
Company held one long position in a public company that is not listed on a securities exchange. 
This security was categorized into Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy and was valued based on 
non-observable market inputs. During the year, the security was sold at cost and derecognized. 
No gain or loss was realized on the disposal.

There were no transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy during the years presented.

The following table presents the changes in fair value measurements of financial instruments 
classified as Level 3.
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4.  INVESTMENTS OWNED AND SOLD SHORT, AT FAIR VALUE (Continued)

Fair Value Hierarchy (Continued)

2017 2016

Opening balance – beginning of year $                200,000 $                200,000
Purchases - -
Proceeds on sale                 (200,000) -
Net realized gains (losses) - -
Net unrealized gains (losses) - -
Transfers out of Level 3 - -

Closing balance – end of year $ - $ 200,000

5. FIELD EQUIPMENT

The following is a continuity schedule of field equipment:

Cost 2017 2016

Balance – beginning of year $               59,555 $               59,555
Additions - -
Disposals - -

Balance – end of year $ 59,555 $ 59,555

Accumulated Amortization 2017 2016

Balance – beginning of year $                25,251 $               16,675
Amortization 6,861 8,576
Impairment 27,443 -

Balance – end of year $ 59,555 $ 25,251

Carrying Value 2017 2016

Balance $ - $ 34,304

As described in note 16, on April 25, 2018, the Company disposed of its wholly-owned 
subsidiary, Golden Brick, which owns all of the field equipment. As part of the disposal, none of 
the consideration received was attributed to the field equipment due to its used condition. As a 
result, management has determined that the carrying value of the field equipment is not 
recoverable as at December 31, 2017 and has recorded an impairment of $27,443 in the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive loss to reduce the field equipment to its recoverable 
amount.
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6. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS

The following is a continuity of the Company’s exploration and evaluation assets for the year 
ended December 31, 2017:

Muskasenda 
Lake Project

Castlewood 
Lake Project

Shaw 
Township 

Project Total

Acquisition Costs

Balance – December 31, 2016 $ - $         40,000 $           31,021 $           71,021
Additions - - - -
Impairment - - (31,021) (31,021)

Balance – December 31, 2017 $ - $ 40,000 $ - $ 40,000

Deferred Exploration Costs

Balance – December 31, 2016 $ 52,552 $       533,392 $       166,998 $ 752,942
Additions          
   Rehabilitation - - - -
   Consulting - 7,130 9,375 16,505
   Travel - 53 1,762 1,815
   Supplies & Services - 120 8,949 9,069
   Contractor - 2,750 - 2,750
   Building - - - -
Reallocation - - - -
Impairment (52,552) (483,445) (187,084) (723,081)

Balance – December 31, 2017 $ - $ 60,000 $ - $ 60,000

Total – December 31, 2017 $ - $ 100,000 $ - $ 100,000

As described in note 16, on April 25, 2018, the Company disposed of its wholly-owned 
subsidiary, Golden Brick, which owns all of the exploration and evaluation assets. At the date of 
disposition, the carrying value of the exploration and evaluation assets was $854,102, and the 
principal amount of the loans payable was $100,000. As part of the disposal, the consideration 
received of $100,000 was attributed entirely to the Castlewood Lake Project as it was 
determined to have the best prospects for future development. As a result, management has 
determined that the carrying value of the exploration and evaluation assets was not 
recoverable as at December 31, 2017 and has recorded an impairment of $754,102 in the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive loss to reduce the exploration and evaluation assets 
to their recoverable amount.
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6.  EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS (Continued)

The following is a continuity of the Company’s exploration and evaluation assets for the year 
ended December 31, 2016:

Muskasenda 
Lake Project

Castlewood 
Lake Project

Shaw 
Township 

Project Total

Acquisition Costs

Balance – December 31, 2015 $ - $         40,000 $           31,021 $           71,021
Additions - - - -
Impairment - - - -

Balance – December 31, 2016 $ - $ 40,000 $ 31,021 $ 71,021

Deferred Exploration Costs

Balance – December 31, 2015 $ 49,424 $       497,866 $       148,250 $ 695,540
Additions          
   Rehabilitation - - - -
   Consulting - 22,500 7,500 30,000
   Travel 473 378 1,828 2,679
   Supplies & Services 1,555 6,128 9,420 17,103
   Contractor 1,100 6,520 - 7,620
   Building - - - -
Reallocation - - - -
Impairment - - - -

Balance – December 31, 2016 $ 52,552 $ 533,392 $       166,998 $ 752,942

Total – December 31, 2016 $ 52,552 $ 573,392 $ 198,019 $ 823,963

Muskasenda Lake Project

In September 2013, the Company acquired the Muskasenda Lake Project, which is a 100% 
interest in unpatented mining claims at no cost and with no underlying royalty, in English and 
Beemer Townships in the District of Cochrane, Porcupine Mining Division. The claims are 
accessible by road, approximately 40 kms south of Timmins, Ontario, Canada. Historic
published information indicates numerous gold occurrences, some of which have been 
trenched and drilled. Exploration activities on this property included prospecting, geological 
mapping and sampling. As at December 31, 2017, the Company has 1 claim unit in the 
Muskasenda Lake Project (2016 – 12 claim units).
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6.  EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS (Continued)

Castlewood Lake Project

On January 27, 2014, the Company acquired a 100% interest in one unpatented mining claim in 
the Castlewood Lake Area of the Thunder Bay Mining Division (the Sage Gold Project) for 
$40,000.  A total of 16 claims were purchased.     

This project is subject to a net smelter returns royalty as described in note 9.

Shaw Township Project

On November 4, 2014 the Company completed the purchase of a 100% interest in two patented 
mining claims, which include both mining and surface rights, in Shaw Township, near Timmins, 
Ontario. A commitment of $700 per annum is due to the City of Timmins for property tax and 
$80 per annum to the Ontario Government for maintaining its patents.

7.  LOANS PAYABLE

The Company has loans payable as follows:

2017 2016

AER Nickel Corporation Limited (i) $               42,000 $               42,000
Mini Metals Inc. (i)                  58,000                  58,000

$ 100,000 $ 100,000

(i) The above corporations are controlled by a director of the Company. These loans are 
unsecured, non-interest bearing, and are due on demand. These loans were provided to 
the Company for general working capital purposes.

These loans were settled on April 25, 2018 as described in note 16.
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8. DEFERRED TAX ASSET (LIABILITY)

The components of deferred income taxes have been determined at the combined federal and 
provincial statutory rate of 26.50% (2016 – 26.50%) and are as follows:

2017 2016

Exploration and evaluation assets $ 49,436 $ (194,027)
Investments owned and sold short 67,927 29,875
Field equipment - (1,095)
Non-capital losses - 265
Net capital losses 74,955 16,061
Asset not recognized (192,318) -

Deferred income tax asset (liability) $ - $ (148,921)

9. COMMITMENTS

Mineral Claims

In order to keep its mining claims in good standing with the Ontario Ministry of Northern 
Development and Mines, the Company is required to perform work totaling $4,800 on the 
claims for the Muskasenda Lake by December 2018, and $6,400 on the Castlewood Lake claims. 
The due dates for these commitments ranged from August 7, 2016 to October 20, 2018. If the 
Company does not perform the required work on a claim before the due date, it will forfeit its 
rights to the claim.

Royalty

The Castlewood Lake Project is subject to a net smelter returns royalty of 3% for precious 
metals and 2% for base metals payable to the original property vendors.
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10.SHARE CAPITAL

(a) Authorized

Unlimited number of common shares, no par value.

(b) Issued and Outstanding

Number of 
Common Shares Amount

Balance as of December 31, 2015, 2016 and 2017              9,232,888 $ 8,948,742

(c) Stock Option Plan

The Company has a stock option plan (the “Plan”), whereby it can grant options for the 
purchase of common shares to its directors, officers and certain consultants. The 
maximum aggregate number of shares that may be issuable pursuant to options granted 
under the Plan shall not exceed 10% of the issued and outstanding shares of the Company.  
No more than 5% of the issued shares of the Company may be granted to any one 
optionee, and no more than 2% of the issued shares of the Company may be granted to 
any one consultant or employee conducting “Investor Relations Activities” in any twelve-
month period.  The options are non-transferable and non-assignable and may be granted 
for a term not exceeding five years.  The exercise price of the options is fixed by the board 
of directors of the Company at the time of grant at the market price of the common 
shares, subject to all applicable regulatory requirements.  The Company did not grant any 
options during the years ended December 31, 2017 or 2016. The Company currently does 
not have any options outstanding.

(d) Loss Per Share

Basic and diluted loss per common share are calculated as follows:

Numerator: 2017 2016

Net loss $ (1,159,405) $ (341,251)

Denominator: 2017 2016

Weighted average number of common shares
outstanding – basic and diluted 9,232,888 9,232,888

Loss per share: 2017 2016

Basic and Diluted $ (0.13) $ (0.04)
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11.  RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

All transactions with related parties have occurred in the normal course of operations.

(a) The Company subleases its office space from Sheridan Brothers Limited Partnership, which 
is an entity controlled by a director. Rent paid for the year ended December 31, 2017
totaled $24,000 (2016 - $24,000) and is paid on a month-to-month basis. 

(b) Key management personnel are defined as those individuals having authority and 
responsibility for planning, directing, and controlling the activities of the Company. God's 
Lake considers its directors and officers to be its key management personnel. 
Compensation paid to key management personnel was $53,505 and $67,000 in fiscal years 
2017 and 2016, respectively. These expenditures were allocated as follows in the 
consolidated financial statements:

2017 2016

Exploration and evaluation assets $ 16,505 $ 30,000
Consulting fees 12,000 12,000
Salaries and benefits 25,000 25,000

$ 53,505 $ 67,000

(c) The Company has loans payable to two related corporations as described in note 7.

(d) As at December 31, 2016, the Company had advances of $16,737 due from its former CEO 
and advances of $6,401 due from its current interim CEO, which are presented as sundry 
receivables on the consolidated statement of financial position. These amounts were 
collected during the 2017 year, and as at December 31, 2017, the Company no longer has 
any advances due from officers or directors of the Company.

12. INCOME TAXES

The following is a reconciliation of income tax expense to the combined federal and provincial 
statutory income tax rate:

2017 2016

Loss before taxes $ (1,308,326) $ (453,499)
Statutory tax rate 26.5% 26.5%

Expected tax recovery at statutory rates (346,706) (120,177)
Non-taxable portion of trading gains 51,207 29,602
Difference in tax rates on investment income (45,740) (21,673)
Deferred tax asset not recognized 192,318 -

Income tax expense (recovery) $ (148,921) $ (112,248)
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12. INCOME TAXES (Continued)

The components of income tax expense are as follows:

2017 2016

Current income taxes $ - $ -
Deferred income taxes (recovery) (148,921) (112,248)

Income tax expense (recovery) $ (148,921) $ (112,248)

13. MANAGEMENT OF CAPITAL

The Company includes the following in its managed capital:

2017 2016

Common shares $ 8,948,742 $ 8,948,742
Contributed surplus 417,784 417,784
Deficit (7,742,507) (6,583,102)

$ 1,624,019 $ 2,783,424

The Company’s objectives when managing capital is to ensure that it maintains the level of 
capital necessary to continue its exploration work for viable mineral properties. The Company 
manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, based on the funds available to the 
Company and the anticipated future requirements of its mineral property.

The Company will continue to assess new properties and seek to acquire an interest in them if 
it feels there is sufficient geologic or economic potential and if it has adequate financial 
resources to do so.

The Board of Directors does not establish quantitative return on capital criteria for 
management, but rather relies on the expertise of the Company’s management to sustain 
future development of a business. The Company is not subject to externally imposed capital 
requirements.

14. SEGMENTED INFORMATION

The Company has one operating and geographic segment, which is the acquisition, exploration, 
and evaluation of Canadian resource properties. All of the Company’s operations, assets, and 
revenues belong to this segment.
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15. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Credit Risk

Credit risk is the risk of loss associated with a counter-party’s inability to fulfil its payment 
obligations. The Company's maximum exposure to credit risk as of December 31, 2017 is
$4,006,485 (2016 - $4,149,939), being the value of its due from brokers and sundry receivables. 
These receivables consist of amounts due from the brokers holding the Company’s 
investments, sales taxes recoverable from the Government of Canada and advances to a 
former director of the Company in fiscal 2016. The directors’ advances were repaid in 2017. 
Management believes these receivables are a low credit risk. There have been no changes to 
the Company's methods for managing credit risk during the year. 

Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will have sufficient cash resources to meet its 
financial obligations as they come due. The Company does not generate cash flows from its 
principal operations of mineral exploration and relies on its cash balance and securities 
transactions to pay its liabilities. Management regularly reviews securities investments to 
ensure it maintains sufficient cash on hand for continued operations.

There have been no changes to management’s methods for managing liquidity risk since 
December 31, 2016. The Company has working capital of $1,524,019 as of December 31, 2017
(2016 - $2,074,078) and in management’s judgment, the Company has sufficient working 
capital to continue to fund its exploration work and to pay its liabilities for the next fiscal year.

The following is a maturity analysis of financial liabilities based on their contractual maturities:

Payments due by period

Less than
1 year

1 - 3
years

4 - 5
years Total

December 31, 2017
Investments sold short $     2,350,663 $ - $ - $     2,350,663
Accounts payable 58,297 - - 58,297
Loans payable 100,000 - - 100,000

$ 2,508,960 $ - $ - $ 2,508,960

December 31, 2016
Investments sold short $     2,102,007 $ - $ - $     2,102,007
Accounts payable 167,493 - - 167,493
Loans payable 100,000 - - 100,000

$ 2,369,500 $ - $ - $ 2,369,500
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15. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Liquidity Risk (Continued)

The following is a liquidity analysis of the Company's assets:

Liquidity by period

Less than
1 year

More than
1 year Non-liquid Total

December 31, 2017
Cash $ 26,217 $ - $ - $ 26,217
Investments owned 277 - - 277
Due from broker 3,992,171 - - 3,992,171
Sundry receivables 14,314 - - 14,314
Field equipment - - - -
Exploration and evaluation assets - - 100,000 100,000

$ 4,032,979 $ - $ 100,000 $ 4,132,979

December 31, 2016
Cash $ 29,526 $ - $ - $ 29,526
Investments owned 264,113 - - 264,113
Due from broker 4,110,735 - - 4,110,735
Sundry receivables 39,204 - - 39,204
Field equipment - - 34,304 34,304
Exploration and evaluation assets - - 823,963 823,963

$ 4,443,578 $ - $ 858,267 $ 5,301,845

Market Risk

Market risk is comprised of equity price risk, foreign currency risk, and interest rate risk. The 
Company’s exposure to these risks is described below.

Equity Price Risk

Equity price risk is the risk that the fair value of, or future cash flows from, the Company’s 
financial instruments will significantly fluctuate due to changes in stock market prices.  The 
value of the Company's investments owned and sold short are affected by changes in market 
prices. Management reduces its exposure to market prices by holding investments for short 
periods of time. There have been no changes in the Company's risk management strategies for 
the year ended December 31, 2017.
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15. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Market Risk (Continued)

Equity Price Risk (Continued)

A sensitivity analysis of the impact on the net income (loss) of the Company for changes in the 
market prices of investments owned and sold short is presented below:

2017 2016

Market rises by 10% $ (235,049) $ (183,760)
Market rises by 5% (117,524) (91,880)
No change - -
Market falls by 5% 117,524 91,880
Market falls by 10% 235,049 183,760

The above sensitivity analysis does not give effect to the timing of changes in fair value, or the 
effect of management actions that may be taken to mitigate unfavorable market movements. 
The effect of timing is relevant to the above analysis, as the Company holds several positions in 
options which have short term expiry dates.

Foreign Currency Risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk that fluctuations in the rates of exchange on foreign currency 
would impact the Company’s future cash flows.  The Company is exposed to foreign exchange 
fluctuations in the following instruments denominated in United States (“US”) dollars. There 
have been no changes in the Company's risk management strategies for the year ended 
December 31, 2017.

2017 2016

Due from broker $ 1,714,021 $ 1,782,428
Investments owned 277 63,063
Investments sold short (2,350,663) (2,102,007)
Accounts payable (13,081) (14,086)

$ (649,446) $ (270,602)
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15. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Market Risk (Continued)

Foreign Currency Risk (Continued)

A sensitivity analysis of the impact on the Company’s net income (loss) for changes in the 
exchange rate on US dollars is presented below:

2017 2016

Increases by 4% $ (25,978) $ (10,824)
Increases by 2% (12,989) (5,412)
No change - -
Decreases by 2% 12,989 5,412
Decreases by 4% 25,978 10,824

16. SUBSEQUENT EVENT

On April 25, 2018, the Company entered into an agreement to sell the shares of its wholly-
owned subsidiary, Golden Brick, in settlement of the loans payable to AER Nickel Corporation 
Limited and Mini Metals Inc. in the aggregate amount of $100,000 (see note 7). Golden Brick 
holds title to the field equipment and exploration and evaluation assets described in notes 5 
and 6.

The Company will be considering other business opportunities as they present themselves 
over the course of the next fiscal year. 



GOD’S LAKE RESOURCES INC. 
MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2017 

 
This Management Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”) should be read in conjunction with the 
audited consolidated financial statements of God’s Lake Resources Inc. (the “Company”), for the 
year ended December 31, 2017 and the related notes. The Company’s reporting currency is the 
Canadian dollar and all amounts in this MD&A are expressed in Canadian dollars. This MD&A is 
prepared as of April 30, 2018. 

 
The audited consolidated financial statements as at and for the year ended December 31, 2017 
have been prepared in accordance with IFRS accounting policies.   
 
The following MD&A may contain forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements are 
based on current expectations that involve a number of risks and uncertainties which could cause 
actual events or results to differ materially from those reflected herein. Forward-looking 
statements are based on the estimates and opinions of management of the Company at the time 
the statements were made. 
  
Additional information relating to the Company is on the System for Electronic Document Analysis 
and Retrieval (SEDAR) at www.sedar.com. 
 
OVERALL PERFORMANCE 
 
Subsequent to the resignation of the former CEO and Director, who was also the chief geologist 
for the Company, management undertook a review of the properties to determine the economic 
prospects of continuing exploration on the properties. On April 30, 2018 the Company announced 
its intention to discontinue exploration work on its mineral properties and to consider other 
business opportunities. In preparing for other opportunities, the Company undertook the 
settlement of its loans payable of $100,000 which are outstanding as of December 31, 2017.  
 
The loans were settled through the assignment of all the shares of its wholly-owned subsidiary, 
Golden Brick, to the lenders AER Nickel Corporation Limited and Mini Metals Inc. At the time of 
transfer, the field equipment and exploration and evaluation assets comprise all of the assets and 
liabilities of Golden Brick. Both AER Nickel Corporation Limited and Mini Metals Inc. are 
companies controlled by a director of the Company. 
 
Further announcements will be made on the status of the Company’s search for a new business. 
 
In addition to the information contained in this management discussion and analysis, and the risk 
factors discussed below under “Risks and Uncertainties”, shareholders should carefully consider 
the risk factors which may have a material adverse effect on the business, financial condition or 
results of operations of the Company.   
 
Going Concern 
 
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis, which 
assumes that the Company will continue in operations for the foreseeable future and will be able 
to realize its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business. Realization 
values may be substantially different from carrying values as shown in these consolidated 
financial statements. These consolidated financial statements do not give effect to adjustments 
that would be necessary to the carrying values and classification of assets and liabilities should 
the Company be unable to continue as a going concern. 
 

http://www.sedar.com/
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As at December 31, 2017, the Company had working capital of $1,524,019 (2016 - $2,074,078) 
and an accumulated deficit of $7,742,507 (2016 - $6,583,102). Subsequent to December 31, 
2017, the Company sold its subsidiary owing all field equipment and exploration and evaluation 
assets, which comprised the principal assets of its mineral exploration business. The Company 
intends to consider other business opportunities over the course of the next fiscal year. 
 
The identification of a new principal business is a material uncertainty that casts doubt about the 
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. 
 
EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS 

The following is a continuity of the Company’s exploration and evaluation assets for the year 
ended December 31, 2017: 

 
Muskasenda 
Lake Project 

Castlewood 
Lake Project 

Shaw 
Township 

Project Total 

     
Acquisition Costs     

Balance – December 31, 2016 $ -  $         40,000  $           31,021 $           71,021 
Additions  -   -   -   -  
Impairment  -   -  (31,021) (31,021) 

Balance – December 31, 2017 $ -  $ 40,000  $ -  $ 40,000  

     

Deferred Exploration Costs     

Balance – December 31, 2016 $ 52,552  $       533,392  $       166,998  $ 752,942  
Additions                     
   Rehabilitation  -   -   -   -  
   Consulting  -  7,130 9,375 16,505 
   Travel  -  53 1,762 1,815 
   Supplies & Services  -  120 8,949 9,069 
   Contractor  -  2,750  -  2,750 
   Building  -   -   -   -  
Reallocation  -   -   -   -  
Impairment (52,552) (483,445) (187,084) (723,081) 

Balance – December 31, 2017 $ -  $ 60,000  $ -  $ 60,000  

Total – December 31, 2017 $ -  $ 100,000  $ -  $ 100,000  

Muskasenda Lake Project 

In September 2013, the Company acquired the Muskasenda Lake Project, which is a 100% 
interest in unpatented mining claims at no cost and with no underlying royalty, in English and 
Beemer Townships in the District of Cochrane, Porcupine Mining Division. The claims are 
accessible by road, approximately 40 kms south of Timmins, Ontario, Canada. Historic published 
information indicates numerous gold occurrences, some of which have been trenched and drilled. 
Exploration activities on this property included prospecting, geological mapping and sampling. As 
at December 31, 2017, the Company has 1 claim unit in the Muskasenda Lake Project (2016 – 12 
claim units). 
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Castlewood Lake Project 

On January 27, 2014, the Company acquired a 100% interest in one unpatented mining claim in 
the Castlewood Lake Area of the Thunder Bay Mining Division (the Sage Gold Project) for 
$40,000.  A total of 16 claims were purchased.      

This project is subject to a net smelter returns royalty as described in the audited consolidated 
financial statements. 

Shaw Township Project 
 
On November 4, 2014 the Company completed the purchase of a 100% interest in two patented 
mining claims, which include both mining and surface rights, in Shaw Township, near Timmins, 
Ontario.  A commitment of $700 per annum is due to the City of Timmins for property tax and $80 
per annum to the Ontario Government for maintaining its patents.  
 
SELECTED ANNUAL INFORMATION 
 
Statement of Financial Position Highlights  
 
 December 31,  

2017 
December 31,  

2016 
December 31,  

2015 

Current Assets 4,032,979 4,443,578 2,701,353 
Current Liabilities 2,508,960 2,369,500    124,950 
Working Capital 1,524,019 2,074,078 2,576,403 
Total Assets 4,132,979 5,301,845 3,510,794 
Total Liabilities 2,508,960 2,518,421 386,119 
Total Equity 1,624,019 2,783,424 3,124,675 

 
Statement of Comprehensive Loss – years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015. 
 
 Year Ended 

 December 31, 
2017 

Year Ended 
 December 31, 

2016 

Year Ended 
 December 31, 

2015 

Total Revenue (376,827) (196,957)  17,260 
Total Expenses  931,499 256,542  138,255 
Loss Before Taxes (1,308,326) (453,499)  (120,995) 
Deferred Income Tax Recovery (Loss) (148,921) (112,248)   29,249 
Net Loss and Comprehensive Loss (1,159,405) (341,251) (150,244) 
Net Loss 
Per Common Share – basic and diluted 

 
$(0.13) 

 
$(0.04) 

 
$(0.02) 
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 
 
 
Year Ended December 31, 2017 
 
For the year ended December 31, 2017, the Company had trading losses of ($376,827) 
compared to ($196,957) for the year ended December 31, 2016. 
 
For the year ended December 31, 2017 the Company incurred expenses of $931,499 compared 
to $256,542 for 2016.  The increase in expenses in 2017 is due to the impairment of exploration 
and evaluation assets of $754,102, and the impairment of field equipment of $27,443. There were 
no penalties and fines incurred in 2017 (2016 - $75,010). 
 
Professional fees, being audit and legal services, were $33,129 in fiscal 2017 compared to 
$50,897 for fiscal 2016. This decrease was mainly due to lower legal fees.  
 
Salaries and benefits remained consistent year over year at $25,000. There were no increases in 
pay rates. 
 
Rent expenses for both 2017 and 2016 remained consistent at $24,000.  Similarly, consulting 
fees for the CFO for both 2017 and 2016 remained consistent at $12,000. 
 
Office and general expenses decreased slightly year over year, with fiscal 2017 at $21,790 
compared with $22,511 for fiscal 2016. Filing fees increased slightly year over year, with fiscal 
2017 being $9,215 and fiscal 2016 being $9,145. 
 
Transaction costs for fiscal 2017 were $9,641 compared to $26,451 for fiscal 2016. The decrease 
was due to fewer trades being transacted.   
 
Travel expenditures increased from $2,952 in fiscal 2016 to $8,318 in fiscal 2016.  
 
Amortization decreased from $8,576 in fiscal 2016 to $6,861 in fiscal 2017, as the net book value 
of equipment was depreciated throughout 2017. No purchases of depreciable property were 
made in fiscal 2017.  
 
Net loss for the year ended December 31, 2017 was $1,159,405, or approximately $0.13 per 
share compared to a net loss of $341,251 or $0.04 per share for the year ended December 31, 
2016.   
   
SUMMARY OF QUARTERLY RESULTS 
 
The following table sets out selected quarterly results of the Company for the eight quarters prior 
to the effective date of this report.  The information contained herein is drawn from the interim 
financial statements of the Company for each of the last eight quarters. 
 
 

Year 2017 2017 2017 2017 2016 2016 2016 2016 

Quarter Dec 31 Sept 30 Jun 30 Mar 31 Dec 31 Sept 30 Jun 30 Mar 31 

Working Capital 1,524,019  1,703,403 1,824,241  1,918,218 2,074,078  2,292,906 2,412,538  2,545,923 

Net Loss Before 
Taxes 

(958,340) (116,305) (88,192) (145,489) (197,468) (107,827) (124,661) (23,543) 

Net Loss 
per share - basic 
and diluted 

 
(0.099) 
(0.099) 

 
(0.010) 
(0.010) 

 
(0.008) 
(0.008) 

 
(0.013) 
(0.013) 

 
(0.021) 
(0.021) 

 
(0.014) 
(0.014) 

 
(0.014) 
(0.014) 

 
(0.003) 
(0.003) 
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QUARTERLY TREND ANALYSIS 
 
The Company’s net earnings before taxes have had some dramatic fluctuations from quarter to 
quarter, which are primarily based on economic, political and market conditions, directly affecting 
the securities trading activity, and the impairment of assets. 
 
 
FOURTH QUARTER ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2017 
 
Loss before taxes for the fourth quarter of 2017 was $958,340, in contrast to a loss before taxes 
in the fourth quarter of 2016 of $197,468.  The increase in net loss before taxes was primarily 
related to the trading of securities, and the impairment of field equipment and exploration and 
evaluation assets.       
 
EQUITY 
 
The Company’s issued capital as of December 31, 2017 and 2016 consists of 9,232,888 common 
shares. The Company does not have any stock options outstanding as of December 31, 2017 
and 2016.  
 
As at April 30, 2018, a total of 9,232,888 common shares were issued and outstanding. 
 
LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES 
 
The Company had a cash balance of $26,217 at December 31, 2017, compared to $29,526 as at 
December 31, 2016.  As at December 31, 2017, the Company had working capital of $1,524,019, 
compared with working capital of $2,074,078 as at December 31, 2016.   
 
The Company’s equity was $1,624,019 as at December 31, 2017, compared to $2,783,424 as at 
December 31, 2016.  Current liabilities increased to $2,508,960 at December 31, 2017, from 
$2,369,500 at December 31, 2016. This increase was primarily due to the Company’s short 
security positions as at December 31, 2017. 
 
The Company has sufficient working capital to meet its liabilities and commitments as they come 
due, as well as to continue exploration work on its properties. 
 
Other than as discussed herein, the Company is not aware of any trends, demands, 
commitments, events or uncertainties that may result in the Company’s liquidity or capital 
resources either materially increasing or decreasing at present or in the foreseeable future.  
Material increases or decreases in the Company’s liquidity and capital resources will be 
substantially determined by the success or failure of its new ventures.   
  
OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS 
 
The Company does not have any off-balance sheet arrangements. 
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TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES 

All transactions with related parties have occurred in the normal course of operations. 

(a) The Company subleases its office space from Sheridan Brothers Limited Partnership, 
which is an entity controlled by a director. Rent paid for the year ended December 31, 
2017 totaled $24,000 (2016 - $24,000) and is paid on a month-to-month basis.  

(b) Key management personnel are defined as those individuals having authority and 
responsibility for planning, directing, and controlling the activities of the Company. God's 
Lake considers its directors and officers to be its key management personnel. 
Compensation paid to key management personnel was $53,505 and $67,000 in fiscal 
years 2017 and 2016, respectively. These expenditures were allocated as follows in the 
consolidated financial statements: 

 
 2017 2016 

Exploration and evaluation assets $ 16,505  $ 30,000  
Consulting fees 12,000 12,000 
Salaries and benefits 25,000 25,000 

 $ 53,505  $ 67,000  

(c) As at December 31, 2016, the Company had advances of $16,737 due from its former 
CEO and advances of $6,401 due from its current interim CEO. These amounts were 
collected during the 2017 year, and as at December 31, 2017, the Company no longer 
has any advances due from officers or directors of the Company. These amounts were 
reported as sundry receivables on the consolidated statement of financial position. 

(d) The Company has loans payable as follows: 

 2017 2016 
AER Nickel Corporation Limited (i) $               42,000 $               42,000 
Mini Metals Inc. (i)  58,000   58,000  
 $ 100,000  $ 100,000  

 
The above corporations are controlled by a director of the Company. These loans are 
unsecured, non-interest bearing, and are due on demand. These loans were provided to 
the Company for general working capital purposes. 

 
RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES 
 
An investment in the securities of the Company is highly speculative and involves numerous and 
significant risks and should be undertaken only by investors whose financial resources are 
sufficient to enable them to assume such risks and who have no need for immediate liquidity in 
their investment.   
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Exploration Stage Company and Exploration Risks 
 
Junior natural resource issuers are typically focused primarily on the acquisition and exploration 
of resource properties.  Such properties often have no established reserves.  There is usually no 
assurance that any of the projects can be mined or operated profitably.  Accordingly, it is not 
assured that such issuers will realize any profits in the short to medium term, if at all.  Any 
profitability in the future from the business of a junior natural resource issuer is often dependent 
upon developing and commercially mining or operating an economic deposit of minerals or oil 
and gas reserves which in itself is subject to numerous risk factors.  The exploration and 
development of mineral and oil and gas deposits involves a high degree of financial risk over a 
significant period of time of which even a combination of careful evaluation, experience and 
knowledge of management may not eliminate.  While discovery of ore-bearing or petroleum-
hosting structures may result in substantial rewards, few properties that are explored are 
ultimately developed into producing mines or wells. 
Major expenses may be required to establish reserves by drilling and to construct mining, 
processing and transport facilities at a particular site.  It is impossible to ensure that the current 
exploration, development and production programs of a junior natural resource issuer will result in 
profitable commercial mining or oil and gas operations.  The profitability of a junior natural 
resource issuer’s operations will be, in part, directly related to the cost and success of its 
exploration and development programs which may be affected by a number of factors.  
Substantial expenditures are required to establish reserves which are sufficient to commercially 
mine resource and oil and gas properties and to construct, complete and install mining, 
processing and transport facilities in those properties that are actually mined and developed. 
 
No History of Profitability 

 
A junior natural resource issuer is typically a development or exploration stage company with no 
history of profitability.  There can be no assurance that the operations of a junior natural 
resources issuer will be profitable in the future.  A junior natural resource issuer often has limited 
financial resources and will require additional financing to acquire and further explore, develop, 
retain and engage in commercial production on its property interests and, if financing is 
unavailable for any reason, the junior natural resource issuer may become unable to acquire and 
retain its mineral concessions and carry out its business plan. 
 
Government Regulations 
 
A junior natural resource issuer's exploration operations will be subject to government legislation, 
policies and controls relating to prospecting, development, production, environmental protection, 
mining and oil and gas taxes and labour standards.  In order for the junior natural resource issuer 
to carry out its mining and operating activities, its exploitation licences must be kept current.  
There is no guarantee that exploitation licences will be extended or that new exploitation licences 
will be granted.  In addition, such exploitation licences could be changed and there can be no 
assurances that any application to renew any existing licences will be approved.  The junior 
natural resource issuer may be required to contribute to the cost of providing the required 
infrastructure to facilitate the development of its properties.  The junior natural resource issuer will 
also have to obtain and comply with permits and licences which may contain specific conditions 
concerning operating procedures, water use, waste disposal, spills, environmental studies, 
abandonment and restoration plans and financial assurances.  There can be no assurance that 
the junior natural resource issuer will be able to comply with any such conditions. 
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Market Fluctuation and Commercial Quantities 
 
The market for minerals, oil and gas is influenced by many factors beyond the control of a junior 
natural resource issuer such as changing production costs, the supply and demand for minerals 
and petroleum products, the rate of inflation, the inventory of mineral producing corporations, the 
international economic and political environment, changes in international investment patterns, 
global or regional consumption patterns, costs of substitutes, currency availability and exchange 
rates, interest rates, speculative activities in connection with minerals and petroleum, and 
increased production due to improved mining and production methods.  The metals industry in 
general is intensely competitive and there is no assurance that, even if commercial quantities and 
qualities of metals, oil and gas are discovered, a market will exist for the profitable sale of such 
metals, oil and gas.  Commercial viability of precious and base metals and other mineral deposits 
and oil and gas reserves may be affected by other factors that are beyond the junior natural 
resource issuer’s control including particular attributes of the deposit such as its size, quantity and 
quality, the cost of mining and processing, proximity to infrastructure and the availability of 
transportation and sources of energy, financing, government legislation and regulations including 
those relating to prices, taxes, royalties, land tenure, land use, import and export restrictions, 
exchange controls, restrictions on production, as well as environmental protection.   
 
It is impossible to assess with certainty the impact of various factors that may affect commercial 
viability so that any adverse combination of such factors may result in the junior natural resource 
issuer not receiving an adequate return on invested capital. 
 
Mining Risks and Insurance 
 
A junior natural resource issuer is subject to risks normally encountered in the mining industry, 
such as unusual or unexpected geological formations, cave-ins or flooding.  The junior natural 
resource issuer may become subject to liability for pollution, damage to life or property and other 
hazards of mineral and oil and gas exploration against which it or the operator if its exploration 
programs cannot insure or against which it or such operator may elect not to insure because of 
high premium costs or other reasons.  Payment of such liabilities would reduce funds available for 
acquisition of mineral and oil and gas prospects or exploration and development and would have 
a material adverse affect on the financial position of the junior natural resource issuer. 
 
Environmental Protection 
 
The mining and mineral processing industries are subject to extensive governmental regulations 
for the protection of the environment, including regulations relating to air and water quality, mine 
reclamation, solid and hazardous waste handling and disposal and the promotion of occupational 
health and safety, which may adversely affect a junior natural resource issuer or require it to 
expend significant funds. 
 
Capital Investment 
 
The ability of a junior natural resource issuer to continue exploration and development of its 
property interests will be dependent upon its ability to raise significant financing.  There is no 
assurance that adequate financing will be available or that the terms of such financing will be 
favourable.  Should a junior natural resource issuer not be able to obtain such financing, its 
properties may be lost entirely. 
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Key Executives 
 
The Company is dependent on the services of key executives, including the directors of the 
Company and a small number of highly skilled and experienced executives and personnel.  Due 
to the relatively small size of the Company, the loss of these persons or the Company's inability 
to attract and retain additional highly skilled employees may adversely affect its business and 
future operations. 
 
Conflicts of Interest 
 
Certain of the directors and officers of the Company may also serve as directors and officers of 
other companies involved in natural resource and oil and gas exploration and development and 
consequently, the possibility of conflict exists.  Any decisions made by such directors involving 
the Company will be made in accordance with the duties and obligations of directors to deal fairly 
and in good faith with the Company and such other companies.  In addition, such directors 
declare, and refrain from voting on any matters in which such directors may have a conflict of 
interest. 
 
CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES 

Preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to 
make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies, the 
reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities, and 
the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the period. Estimates and assumptions 
are continuously evaluated and are based on management’s experience and other factors, 
including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the 
circumstances. Uncertainty about these judgments, estimates, and assumptions could result in 
outcomes that could require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of the asset or liability 
affected in future periods. 

Information about significant areas of estimation uncertainty considered by management in 
preparing the consolidated financial statements are as follows: 

Going Concern 

Management has made an assessment of the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern 
and is satisfied that the Company has the resources to continue in business for the foreseeable 
future. However, a material uncertainty exists that casts doubt about the Company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern. 

Fair Value of Securities Not Quoted in an Active Market 

Where the fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded on the consolidated 
statements of financial position cannot be derived from active markets, they are determined using 
a variety of valuation techniques. The inputs to these models are derived from observable market 
data where possible, but where observable market data are not available, judgment is required to 
establish fair values.  

Amount of Accrued Liabilities 

Accrued liabilities are recorded based on an estimate of unbilled work performed by the 
Company’s vendors as well as any other payments which the Company will be required to make 
in relation to the current year's operations. Management makes these estimates based on 
historical billings and its knowledge of current operations. These estimates will affect the reported 
amounts of accrued liabilities and expenses. 
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Deferred Tax Assets and Liabilities 

Deferred tax assets are recognized in respect of tax losses and other temporary differences to 
the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the losses can be 
utilized. Judgment is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be 
recognized, based upon the likely timing and level of future taxable profits, together with future 
tax planning strategies. 

Exploration and Evaluation Assets 

The application of the Company’s accounting policy for exploration and evaluation assets 
requires judgment in determining whether it is likely that costs incurred will be recovered through 
successful exploration and development or sale of the asset. Furthermore, the assessment 
whether economically recoverable reserves exist is itself an estimation process. If, after 
expenditures are capitalized, information becomes available suggesting that the recovery of the 
expenditures is unlikely, the asset is deemed to be impaired and the amount capitalized is written 
off in the consolidated statements of comprehensive loss in the period when the new information 
becomes available.  

Impairment of Assets 

At each consolidated statement of financial position reporting date, the carrying amounts of the 
Company’s assets or cash-generating units are reviewed to determine whether there is any 
indication that those assets are impaired. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of 
the asset is assessed in order to determine the extent of the impairment, if any. Where the asset 
does not generate cash flows that are independent from other assets, the Company reviews the 
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. 

CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

Effective January 1, 2017, the Company has adopted the following new and revised standards, 
along with any consequential amendments. These changes were made in accordance with the 
applicable transitional provisions for which there was no significant impact on the Company’s 
consolidated financial statements. 

(a) IAS 7, Statement of Cash Flows (“IAS 7”) - In January 2016, the IASB issued 
amendments to IAS 7 pursuant to which entities will be required to provide enhanced 
information about changes in their financial liabilities, including changes from cash flows 
and non-cash changes. The IAS 7 amendments are effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after January 1, 2017. 

(b) IAS 12, Income Taxes (“IAS 12”) - In January 2016, the IASB issued amendments to IAS 
12, which clarify guidance on the recognition of deferred tax assets related to unrealized 
losses resulting from debt instruments that are measured at their fair value. The IAS 12 
amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2017.  
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RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS 

The following are IFRS changes that have been issued by the IASB, which may affect the 
Company, but are not yet effective: 

(a) IFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (“IFRS 15”), was issued in May 2015, 
which replaced IAS 11, Construction Contracts, IAS 18, Revenue Recognition, IFRIC 13, 
Customer Loyalty Programmes, IFRIC 15, Agreements for the Construction of Real 
Estate, IFRIC 18, Transfers of Assets from Customers, and SIC-31, Revenue – Barter 
Transactions Involving Advertising Services. IFRS 15 provides a single, principles based 
five step model that will apply to all contracts with customers with limited exceptions, 
including, but not limited to, leases within the scope of IAS 17; financial instruments and 
other contractual rights or obligations within the scope of IFRS 9, IFRS 10, Consolidated 
Financial Statements and IFRS 11, Joint Arrangements. In addition to the five-step 
model, the standard specifies how to account for the incremental costs of obtaining a 
contract and the costs directly related to fulfilling a contract. The incremental costs of 
obtaining a contract must be recognized as an asset if the entity expects to recover these 
costs. The standard’s requirements  willalso apply to the recognition and measurement of 
gains and losses on the sale of some non-financial assets that are not an output of the 
entity’s ordinary activities. IFRS 15 is required for annual periods beginning on or after 
January 1, 2018. Earlier adoption is permitted. 

 (b) IFRS 16, Leases (“IFRS 16”) was issued in January 2016 to improve the accounting for 
leases, generally by eliminating a lessees’ classification of leases and introducing a 
single lessee accounting model. The most significant effect of the new standard will be 
the lessee’s recognition of the initial present value of unavoidable future lease payments 
as lease assets and lease liabilities on the statement of financial position. Leases with 
durations of 12 months or less and leases for low value assets are both exempted. The 
measurement of the total lease expense over the term of a lease will be unaffected by the 
new standard. However, the new standard will result in the timing of lease expense 
recognition being accelerated for leases which would be currently accounted for as 
operating leases. The presentation on the statement of loss and other comprehensive 
loss required by the new standard will result in most lease expenses being presented as 
amortization of lease assets and financing costs arising from lease liabilities rather than 
as being a part of goods and services purchased. The standard is effective for annual 
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019 and will supersede IAS 17 Leases. Earlier 
application is permitted. 

(c) IFRS 2, Share-based Payment (“IFRS 2”) - In June 2016, the IASB issued amendments 
to IFRS 2, which expands upon the guidance for recognizing a liability for cash-
settlement of a share-based payment as well as transactions with a net settlement 
feature for withholding tax obligations. These amendments are effective for annual 
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018. Earlier application is permitted. 

(d) IFRS 4, Insurance Contracts (“IFRS 4”) - In September 2016, the IASB issued 
amendments to IFRS 4, which permits insurers to apply the overlay approach to 
designated financial assets and to reclassify in specified circumstances some or all of 
their financial assets so that the assets are measured at fair value through profit or loss. 
These amendments are effective for periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018. 
Earlier application is permitted. 

The Company has not yet begun to assess the impact that the new and amended standards will 
have on its financial statements. 
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT  

Credit Risk 

Credit risk is the risk of loss associated with a counter-party’s inability to fulfil its payment 
obligations. The Company's maximum exposure to credit risk as of December 31, 2017 is 
$4,006,485 (2016 - $4,149,939), being the value of its due from brokers and sundry receivables. 
These receivables consist of amounts due from the brokers holding the Company’s investments, 
sales taxes recoverable from the Government of Canada and advances to a former director of the 
Company. Management believes these receivables are a low credit risk. There have been no 
changes to the Company's methods for managing credit risk during the year.  

Liquidity Risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will have sufficient cash resources to meet its financial 
obligations as they come due. The Company does not generate cash flows from its principal 
operations of mineral exploration and relies on its cash balance and securities transactions to pay 
its liabilities. Management regularly reviews securities investments to ensure it maintains 
sufficient cash on hand for continued operations. 

There have been no changes to management’s methods for managing liquidity risk since 
December 31, 2016. The Company has working capital of $1,524,019 as of December 31, 2017 
(2016 - $2,074,078) and in management’s judgment, the Company has sufficient working capital 
to continue to fund its exploration work and to pay its liabilities for the next fiscal year. 

The following is a maturity analysis of financial liabilities based on their contractual maturities: 

 Payments due by period 

 
Less than 

1 year 
1 - 3 

years 
4 - 5 

years Total 

December 31, 2017     
Investments sold short $     2,350,663   $ -  $ -  $     2,350,663   
Accounts payable  58,297   -   -   58,297  
Loans payable  100,000   -   -   100,000  

 $ 2,508,960  $ -  $ -  $ 2,508,960  

December 31, 2016     
Investments sold short $     2,102,007   $ -  $ -  $     2,102,007   
Accounts payable  167,493   -   -   167,493  
Loans payable  100,000   -   -   100,000  

  $ 2,369,500  $ -  $ -  $ 2,369,500  

 



 

 

 

13 

The following is a liquidity analysis of the Company's assets: 

  Liquidity by period 

 
Less than 

1 year 
More than 

1 year Non-liquid Total 

December 31, 2017     
Cash $ 26,217  $ -  $ -  $ 26,217  
Investments owned  277   -   -   277  
Due from broker  3,992,171   -   -   3,992,171  
Sundry receivables  14,314   -   -   14,314  
Field equipment  -   -  - - 
Exploration and evaluation costs  -   -   100,000   100,000  

 $ 4,032,979  $ -  $ 100,000  $ 4,132,979  

December 31, 2016     
Cash $ 29,526  $ -  $ -  $ 29,526  
Investments owned  264,113   -   -   264,113  
Due from broker  4,110,735   -   -   4,110,735  
Sundry receivables  39,204   -   -   39,204  
Field equipment  -   -   34,304   34,304  
Exploration and evaluation costs  -   -   823,963   823,963  

  $ 4,443,578  $ -  $ 858,267  $ 5,301,845  

Market Risk 

Market risk is comprised of equity price risk, foreign currency risk, and interest rate risk. The 
Company’s exposure to these risks is described below. 

Equity Price Risk 

Equity price risk is the risk that the fair value of, or future cash flows from, the Company’s 
financial instruments will significantly fluctuate due to changes in stock market prices.  The value 
of the Company's investments owned and sold short are affected by changes in market prices. 
Management reduces its exposure to market prices by holding investments for short periods of 
time. There have been no changes in the Company's risk management strategies for the year 
ended December 31, 2017. 

A sensitivity analysis of the impact on the net income (loss) of the Company for changes in the 
market prices of investments owned and sold short is presented below: 

 2017 2016 

Market rises by 10% $ (235,049)  $ (183,760)  
Market rises by 5%  (117,524)  (91,880) 
No change  -  - 
Market falls by 5%  117,524   91,880  
Market falls by 10%  235,049   183,760  

The above sensitivity analysis does not give effect to the timing of changes in fair value, or the 
effect of management actions that may be taken to mitigate unfavorable market movements. The 
effect of timing is relevant to the above analysis, as the Company holds several positions in 
options which have short term expiry dates. 
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Foreign Currency Risk 

Foreign currency risk is the risk that fluctuations in the rates of exchange on foreign currency 
would impact the Company’s future cash flows.  The Company is exposed to foreign exchange 
fluctuations in the following instruments denominated in United States (“US”) dollars. There have 
been no changes in the Company's risk management strategies for the year ended December 31, 
2017. 
 
 2017 2016 
   
Due from broker $ 1,714,021  $ 1,782,428  
Investments owned  277   63,063  
Investments sold short  (2,350,663)   (2,102,007)  
Accounts payable  (13,081)   (14,086)  
 $ (649,446)  $ (270,602)  

A sensitivity analysis of the impact on the Company’s net income (loss) for changes in the 
exchange rate on US dollars is presented below: 

 2017 2016 

Increases by 4% $ (25,978)  $ (10,824)  
Increases by 2%  (12,989)   (5,412)  
No change  -   -  
Decreases by 2%  12,989   5,412  
Decreases by 4%  25,978   10,824  

 
 
MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
The information provided in this report, including the financial statements, is the responsibility of 
management.  In the preparation of these statements, estimates are sometimes necessary to make 
a determination of future values for certain assets or liabilities.  Management believes such 
estimates have been based on careful judgments and have been properly reflected in the financial 
statements. 
 
CAUTION REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS 
 
Statements contained in this document, which are not historical facts are forward looking 
statements that involve risks, uncertainties and other factors that could cause actual results to 
differ materially from those expressed or implied by such forward looking statements.  Factors 
that could cause differences include, but are not limited to, volatility and sensitivity to market 
prices for base metals, environmental and safety issues, changes in government regulations and 
policies and significant changes in the supply-demand fundamentals for base metals that could 
negatively affect prices.  Although the Company believes that the assumptions used are 
reasonable, these statements should not be heavily relied upon.  The Company disclaims any 
intention or obligation to update or revise any forward-looking statements whether as a result of 
new information, future events or otherwise. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

To the Shareholders of 
God’s Lake Resources Inc.

Report on the Consolidated Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of God’s Lake Resources Inc., 
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at December 31, 2016 and 2015, and 
the consolidated statements of comprehensive loss, changes in equity, and cash flows for the years then 
ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Management's Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control 
as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors' Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our 
audits. We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. 
Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audits to 
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material 
misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in 
the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors' judgment, 
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control 
relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in 
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. An audit also includes 
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated 
financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of God’s Lake Resources Inc. as at December 31, 2016 and 2015, and its financial performance 
and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards.

DNTW Toronto LLP
April 26, 2017 Chartered Professional Accountants

Toronto, Ontario Licensed Public Accountants
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2

GOD’S LAKE RESOURCES INC.
(AN EXPLORATION STAGE COMPANY)
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2016 AND 2015
(Presented in Canadian Dollars)

Note 2016 2015

ASSETS

Current Assets
Cash $ 29,526 $ 32,379
Investments owned, at fair value 4 264,113 256,340
Due from broker 4,110,735 2,354,595
Sundry receivables 11 39,204 58,039

Total Current Assets 4,443,578 2,701,353

Long Term Assets
Field equipment 5 34,304 42,880
Exploration and evaluation assets 6 823,963 766,561

Total Long Term Assets 858,267 809,441

Total Assets $ 5,301,845 $ 3,510,794

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

Current Liabilities
Investments sold short, at fair value 4 $        2,102,007 $                   -
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 167,493 24,950
Loans payable 7 100,000 100,000

Total Current Liabilities 2,369,500 124,950

Long Term Liabilities
Deferred tax liability 8 148,921 261,169

Total Liabilities 2,518,421 386,119

Commitments 9

Equity
Share capital 10 8,948,742 8,948,742
Contributed surplus 10 417,784 417,784
Deficit (6,583,102) (6,241,851)

Total Equity 2,783,424 3,124,675

Total Liabilities and Equity $ 5,301,845 $ 3,510,794

Approved on Behalf of the Board

Signed - "Eduard Ludwig"
Director

Signed - "Michael Sheridan"
Director
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GOD’S LAKE RESOURCES INC.
(AN EXPLORATION STAGE COMPANY)
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2016 AND 2015
(Presented in Canadian Dollars)

Note 2016 2015

REVENUE
Net realized losses on disposal of investments $ (83,305) $ (16,300)

Net change in unrealized gains (losses) on investments (113,652) 33,560

(196,957) 17,260

EXPENSES
Penalties and fines 75,010                   -
Professional fees 50,897 19,215
Transaction costs 26,451 35,839
Salaries 11(d) 25,000 4,167
Rent 11 (b) 24,000 24,000
Office and general 22,511 21,113
Consulting fees 11 (d) 12,000 12,000
Filing fees 9,145 8,570
Amortization 5 8,576 7,624
Travel 2,952 5,727

256,542 138,255

LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAXES (453,499) (120,995)

Income tax expense (recovery) 12 (112,248) 29,249

NET LOSS AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS $ (341,251) $ (150,244)

LOSS PER SHARE

Basic and diluted $ (0.04) $ (0.02)

WEIGHTED AVERAGE NUMBER OF SHARES OUTSTANDING

Basic and diluted 9,232,888 9,184,668
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GOD'S LAKE RESOURCES INC.
(AN EXPLORATION STAGE COMPANY)
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2016 AND 2015
(Presented in Canadian Dollars)

Number of 
Shares

Share
Capital

Contributed 
Surplus Deficit

Total
Equity

Balance at January 1, 2015 8,832,888 $ 8,848,742 $ 417,784 $(6,091,607) $ 3,174,919

Issuance of common shares 400,000 100,000             -              - 100,000

Comprehensive loss - - - (150,244) (150,244)

Balance at December 31, 2015 9,232,888 $ 8,948,742 $ 417,784 $(6,241,851) $ 3,124,675

Comprehensive loss - - - (341,251) (341,251)

Balance at December 31, 2016 9,232,888 $ 8,948,742 $ 417,784 $(6,583,102) $ 2,783,424



The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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GOD’S LAKE RESOURCES INC.
(AN EXPLORATION STAGE COMPANY)
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2016 AND 2015
(Presented in Canadian Dollars)

2016 2015

CASH FLOWS USED IN OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net loss $ (341,251) $ (150,244)

Adjustments for non-cash item:
Net realized losses on disposal of investments 83,305 16,300
Net unrealized gains (losses) on investments 113,652 (33,560)
Amortization 8,576 7,624
Income tax expense (recovery) (112,248) 29,249

Changes in non-cash working capital:
Sundry receivables 18,835 (3,294)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 142,543 (1,542)

(86,588) (135,467)

CASH FLOWS PROVIDED BY FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from issuance of common shares -           100,000
Proceeds from loans payable -           100,000

- 200,000

CASH FLOWS PROVIDED BY (USED IN) INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Exploration and evaluation expenditures (57,402) (378,417)
Increase (decrease) in due from broker (1,756,140) 1,162,053
Cost of purchasing investments (66,873,393) (25,811,713)
Proceeds on disposal of investments 68,770,670 24,910,674

83,735 (117,403)

NET DECREASE IN CASH (2,853) (52,870)

CASH, BEGINNING OF YEAR 32,379 85,249

CASH, END OF YEAR $ 29,526 $ 32,379

SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION

Interest paid $ - $ -
Income taxes paid $ - $ -



GOD'S LAKE RESOURCES INC.
(AN EXPLORATION STAGE COMPANY)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2016 AND 2015
(Presented in Canadian Dollars)
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1. NATURE OF BUSINESS

God’s Lake Resources Inc. (the “Company”), was incorporated in Ontario in 1923, until it was 
continued federally under the laws of Canada in 1978.  The Company is engaged in the 
acquisition, exploration and development of properties for the mining of precious and base 
metals.

The Company is domiciled in the Province of Ontario, and its registered office address is 73 
Richmond Street West, Suite 212 in Toronto, Ontario, M5H 4E8, and its common shares are 
listed on the Canadian Securities Exchange under the symbol GLR. 

The Board approved these consolidated financial statements for issue on April 26, 2017.

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION

Statement of Compliance

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards 
Board (“IASB”). Significant accounting estimates, judgments, and assumptions used or 
exercised by management in preparation of these consolidated financial statements are 
presented below.

Basis of Presentation

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared using the historical cost 
convention except for certain financial instruments which are measured at fair value.

Functional and Presentation Currency

The Company’s functional and presentation currency is the Canadian dollar.

Basis of Consolidation

These consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of God’s Lake 
Resources Inc. and its wholly-owned subsidiary, Golden Brick Exploration Inc., which is a 
corporation formed under the laws of the Province of Ontario. This subsidiary is fully 
consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the date on which the Company obtained 
control, and will continue to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases. The 
financial statements of the subsidiary are prepared for the same reporting period as the 
Company, using consistent accounting policies. All intercompany account balances and 
transactions have been eliminated upon consolidation.



GOD'S LAKE RESOURCES INC.
(AN EXPLORATION STAGE COMPANY)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2016 AND 2015
(Presented in Canadian Dollars)

7

2.   BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

Critical Accounting Judgments, Estimates, and Assumptions

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires management to make 
judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities,
and contingent liabilities as at the date of the consolidated financial statements, and the 
reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Estimates and 
assumptions are continuously evaluated and are based on management’s experience and other 
factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the 
circumstances. Uncertainty about these judgments, estimates, and assumptions could result in 
outcomes that could require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of the asset or 
liability affected in future periods.

Information about significant areas of estimation uncertainty considered by management in 
preparing the consolidated financial statements are as follows:

Going Concern

Management has made an assessment of the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern 
and is satisfied that the Company has the resources to continue in business for the foreseeable 
future.

Fair Value of Investments in Securities Not Quoted in an Active Market

Where the fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded on the consolidated 
statements of financial position cannot be derived from active markets, they are determined 
using a variety of valuation techniques. The inputs to these models are derived from 
observable market data where possible, but where observable market data are not available, 
judgment is required to establish fair values. Changes in estimates and assumptions about 
these inputs affect the reported fair value.

Amount of Accrued Liabilities

Accrued liabilities are recorded based on an estimate of unbilled work performed by the 
Company's vendors as well as any other payments which the Company will be required to make 
in relation to the current year's operations. Management makes these estimates based on 
historical billings and its knowledge of current operations. These estimates will affect the 
reported amounts of accrued liabilities and expenses.



GOD'S LAKE RESOURCES INC.
(AN EXPLORATION STAGE COMPANY)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2016 AND 2015
(Presented in Canadian Dollars)
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2.   BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

Critical Accounting Judgments, Estimates, and Assumptions (Continued)

Deferred Tax Assets 

Deferred tax assets are recognized in respect of tax losses and other temporary differences to 
the extent that it is probable that taxable income will be available against which the losses can 
be utilized. Judgment is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be 
recognized, based upon the likely timing and level of future taxable income, together with 
future tax planning strategies.

Exploration and Evaluation Assets

The application of the Company’s accounting policy for exploration and evaluation assets 
requires judgment to determine whether future economic benefits are likely, through 
successful exploration and development or sale of the asset, or whether activities have not 
reached a stage which permits a reasonable assessment of the existence of reserves. The 
determination of reserves and resources is itself an estimation process that requires varying 
degrees of uncertainty depending on how the resources are classified. 

These estimates directly impact when the Company defers exploration and evaluation 
expenditures. The deferral policy requires management to make certain estimates and 
assumptions about future events and circumstances whether an economically viable extraction 
operation can be established. Any such estimates and assumptions may change as new 
information becomes available. If, after expenditures are capitalized, information becomes 
available suggesting that the recovery of the expenditures is unlikely, the asset is deemed to be 
impaired and the amount capitalized is written off in the consolidated statements of 
comprehensive loss in the period when the new information becomes available. 



GOD'S LAKE RESOURCES INC.
(AN EXPLORATION STAGE COMPANY)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2016 AND 2015
(Presented in Canadian Dollars)
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2.   BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

Impairment of Assets

At the end of each financial reporting period, the carrying amounts of the Company’s non-
financial assets are reviewed to determine whether there is any indication that those assets 
have suffered an impairment loss or reversal of previous impairment. Where such an indication 
exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the 
impairment, if any.

Where an indicator of impairment exists, a formal estimate of the recoverable amount is made, 
which is considered to be the higher of the fair value less costs of disposal and value in use.

The assessments require the use of estimates and assumptions such as long-term mineral 
prices (considering current and historical prices, price trends, and related factors), discount 
rates, operating costs, future capital requirements, decommissioning costs, exploration 
potential, reserves, and operating performance (which includes production and sales volumes). 
These estimates and assumptions are subject to risk and uncertainty.  Therefore, there is a 
possibility  that changes in circumstances will impact these projections, which may impact the  
recoverable amount of assets. Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset  or 
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the 
measurement date. 

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The significant accounting policies used in the preparation of these consolidated financial 
statements are set out below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years 
presented.

Cash

Cash consists of deposits at Canadian chartered banks which are available on demand.

Due From Broker

Amounts due from brokers represent cash deposited with securities brokers.
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(AN EXPLORATION STAGE COMPANY)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Exploration and Evaluation Assets

Exploration and evaluation assets include the costs of acquiring licenses and claims, exploratory 
drilling, geological and geophysical activities, acquisition of mineral and surface rights, directly 
attributable expenses and technical studies. Exploration and evaluation expenditures are 
capitalized as exploration and evaluation assets when the technical feasibility and commercial 
viability of extracting mineral reserves have yet to be determined. Costs not directly 
attributable to exploration and evaluation activities, including general and administrative 
overhead costs, are expensed in the period in which they occur.

Exploration and evaluation assets are measured at cost and are not depleted or depreciated. 
Exploration and evaluation assets, net of any impairment loss, are transferred to property and 
equipment when proved and/or probable reserves are determined to exist. 

When a project is deemed to no longer have commercial viable prospects to the Company, 
exploration and evaluation expenditures in respect of that project are deemed to be impaired. 
As a result, those exploration and evaluation expenditure costs, in excess of estimated 
recoveries, are written off to profit or loss. The Company assesses exploration and evaluation 
assets for impairment when facts or circumstances suggest that the carrying amount of an 
asset may exceed its recoverable amount.

Field Equipment

Field equipment is stated at historical cost, less accumulated depreciation and impairment 
losses. Cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. 
The carrying amounts of equipment are depreciated to their estimated residual value, over the 
estimated useful lives of each significant component, as follows:

Mineral exploration equipment 20% straight-line
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

The Company assesses assets or groups of assets for impairment whenever events or changes 
in circumstances indicate that the carrying value of an asset may not be recoverable.  If any 
such indication of impairment exists, the Company makes an estimate of its recoverable 
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its value in 
use. Where the carrying amount of an asset group exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset or 
asset group is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount. In assessing 
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are adjusted for the risks specific to the asset or 
the asset group and are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that 
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money. An assessment is made at 
each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that previously recognized 
impairment may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such indication exists, the 
recoverable amount is estimated. Any previously recognized loss is reversed only if there has 
been a change in the estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the 
last impairment loss was recognized. If that is the case, the carrying amount of the asset is 
increased to its recoverable amount. That increased amount cannot exceed the carrying 
amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss been 
recognized for the asset in prior years. Such reverse is recognized in the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income (loss). After such reversal, the depreciation charge is 
adjusted in future periods to allocate the asset’s revised carrying amount, less any residual 
value, on a systematic basis over its remaining useful life.

Exploration and evaluation assets are allocated to cash generate units (“CGU”) for the purpose 
of assessing such assets for impairment. CGU is defined as the lowest levels for which there are 
separately identifiable independent cash inflows. Each CGU to which an exploration and 
evaluation asset is allocated shall not be larger than an operating segment.

Revenue Recognition

Purchases and sales of investments are recognized on the trade date. Realized gains and losses 
on disposal and unrealized gains and losses in the value of investments are reflected in the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive loss. Upon disposal of an investment, previously 
recognized unrealized gains or losses are reversed, so as to recognize the full realized gain or 
loss in the period of disposition. All transaction costs associated with the purchase and sale of 
investments are expensed as incurred. 
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3.    SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Investments Owned and Investments Sold Short

(i) Classification:

Investments owned and sold short are classified upon initial recognition at fair value 
through profit or loss (“FVTPL”).

(ii) Recognition, derecognition, and measurement:

Purchases and sales of investments are recognized on the trade date. 

Investments owned and sold short are initially recognized at fair value. Transaction costs 
are expensed as incurred in the consolidated statements of comprehensive loss. 
Investments are derecognized when the rights to receive cash flows from the security 
have expired or the Company has transferred the financial asset.

Subsequent to initial recognition, all investments owned and sold short are measured at 
fair value. Gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of investments are 
recognized in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income (loss) in the period in 
which they occur.

(iii) Determination of fair values:

The determination of fair value requires judgment and is based on market information, 
where available and appropriate. At the end of each financial reporting period, the 
Company’s management estimates the fair value of investments based on the criteria 
below and reflects such valuations in the consolidated financial statements. The Company 
is also required to disclose details of its financial instrument measured at fair value based 
on the transparency of inputs used in measuring the fair value.

1. Listed securities:

a. Securities including shares, options, and warrants which are traded in an active 
market, such as on a recognized securities exchange and for which no sales 
restrictions apply, are presented at fair value based on quoted closing trade prices 
on the period-end date. If there were no trades on the period-end date, the 
Company uses the closing trade price on the last day that the security traded. 
These instruments are included in Level 1 in the fair value hierarchy.
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3.    SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

        Financial Instruments (Continued)

        (iii).  Determination of fair values (Continued):

2. Unlisted securities:

All unlisted securities are initially recorded at the transaction price, being the fair value 
at the time of acquisition. Thereafter, at each reporting period, the fair value of 
securities may (depending upon the circumstances) be adjusted using one or more of 
the valuation indicators described below. These instruments are included in Level 3 of 
the fair value hierarchy.

The determinations of fair value of the Company’s private company securities at other 
than initial cost are subject to certain limitations. Financial information for private 
companies in which the Company has invested may not be available and, even if 
available, that information may be limited and/or unreliable. Use of the valuation 
approach described below may involve uncertainties and determinations based on the 
Company’s judgment and any value estimated from these techniques may not be 
realized or realizable.

Company-specific information is considered when determining whether the fair value 
of an unlisted security should be adjusted upward or downward at the end of each 
reporting period. 

The fair value of an unlisted security may be adjusted if:

a. there has been a significant subsequent equity financing provided by outside 
investors at a valuation different than the current value of the investee company, 
in which case the fair value of the security is set to the value at which that 
financing took place;

b. there have been significant corporate, political or operating events affecting the 
investee company that, in management’s opinion, have a material impact on the 
investee company’s prospects and therefore its fair value. In these circumstances, 
the adjustment to the fair value of the security will be based on management’s 
judgment and any value estimated may not be realized or realizable;

c. the investee company is placed into receivership or bankruptcy;

d. based on financial information received from the investee company, it is apparent 
to the Company that the investee company is unlikely to be able to continue as a 
going concern;
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3.    SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

        Financial Instruments (Continued)

        (iii) Determination of fair values (Continued):

                2.    Unlisted securities (Continued):

e. receipt/denial by the investee company of environmental, mining, aboriginal or 
similar approvals, which allow the investee company to proceed/prohibit with its 
project(s);

f. filing by the investee company of a National Instrument 43-101 technical report in 
respect of a previously non-compliant resource;

g. release by the investee company of positive/negative exploration results; and

h. important positive/negative management changes by the investee company that 
the Company’s management believes will have a very positive/negative impact on 
the investee company’s ability to achieve its objectives and build value for 
shareholders.

Adjustments to the fair value of a private company security will be based upon 
management’s judgment and any value estimated may not be realized or realizable. 
The resulting values may differ from values that would be realized if a ready market 
existed. In addition, the amounts at which the Company’s private company securities 
could be disposed of currently may differ from the carrying value assigned.

(iv) Offsetting of financial instruments:

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the 
consolidated statement of financial position if, and only if, there is a currently enforceable 
legal right to offset the recognized amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net 
basis, or to realize the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.
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3.    SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

       Financial Instruments At Amortized Cost

Financial assets that are managed to collect contractual cash flows on specified dates are 
classified as subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. 
These financial assets are recognized initially at fair value plus directly attributable transaction 
costs.

A financial asset is derecognized when the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have 
expired or the Company has transferred substantially all of the risks and rewards of the asset. 
The Company assesses at each reporting date whether there is any objective evidence that a 
financial asset is impaired, the impairment provision is based upon the expected loss.

Financial liabilities, other than those classified as FVTPL are classified as subsequently 
measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. These financial liabilities are 
recognized initially at fair value net of directly attributable transaction costs.

The effective interest method is a method for calculating the amortized cost of a financial 
asset or financial liability and of allocating the interest income or interest expense over the 
relevant period.

Share Capital

Common shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of 
common shares are recognized as a deduction from equity. Common shares issued for 
consideration other than cash, are valued based on their market value at the date the shares 
are issued. 

The Company has adopted a residual value method with respect to the measurement of shares 
and warrants issued as private placement units. The residual value method first allocates value 
to the more easily measurable component based on fair value and then the residual value, if 
any, to the less easily measurable component. The Company considers the fair value of 
common shares issued in the private placements to be the more easily measurable component 
and the common shares are valued at their fair value, as determined by the closing market 
price on the announcement date. The balance, if any, is allocated to the attached warrants. Any 
fair value attributed to the warrants is recorded as contributed surplus.
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3.    SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Flow-Through Shares

Resource expenditure deductions for income tax purposes related to exploration activities 
funded by flow-through share arrangements are renounced to investors under Canadian 
income tax legislation. On issuance, the Company separates the flow-through share into i) a 
flow-through share premium, equal to the estimated premium, if any investors pay for the 
flow-through feature, which is recognized as a liability and ii) share capital. Upon expenses 
being incurred, the Company recognizes a deferred tax liability for the amount of tax reduction 
renounced to the shareholders. The premium is recognized as other income and the related 
deferred tax is recognized as a tax provision. To the extent that eligible deferred income tax 
assets are available, the Company will reduce the deferred income tax liability and record a 
deferred income tax recovery.  Proceeds received from the issuance of flow-through shares 
must be expended on Canadian resource property exploration within a period of two years. 
Failure to expend such funds as required under the Canadian income tax legislation will result 
in a Part XII.6 tax to the Company on flow-through proceeds renounced under the “Look-back” 
Rule. When applicable, this tax is accrued as a financial expense until paid.

Loss Per Share

Basic net loss per share is calculated based on the weighted average number of common shares 
outstanding during the year. Diluted net loss per share is determined by adjusting the weighted 
average number of common shares outstanding for the effects of all potentially dilutive shares. 
Instruments which would be anti-dilutive are not included in the calculation of diluted loss per 
share.

Share-Based Payments

The Company’s stock option plan allows Company employees, directors, officers and 
consultants to acquire shares of the Company. The fair value of options granted is recognized 
as share-based payment expense with a corresponding increase in equity reserves. Fair value is 
measured at grant date, and each tranche is recognized using the graded vesting method over 
the period during which the options vest. The fair value of the options granted is measured 
using the Black-Scholes option pricing model, taking into account the terms and conditions 
upon which the options were granted. At each financial position reporting date, the amount 
recognized as an expense is adjusted to reflect the actual number of stock options that are 
expected to vest. In situations where equity instruments are issued to consultants and some or 
all of the goods or services received by the entity as consideration cannot be specifically 
identified, they are measured at the fair value of the share-based payment. Otherwise, share-
based payments are measured at the fair value of goods or services received.
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3.    SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Decommissioning and Restoration Provisions

Decommissioning and restoration provisions are recorded when a present legal or constructive 
obligation exists as a result of past events where it is probable that an outflow of resources 
embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate 
of the amount of the obligation can be made. 

The amount recognized as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to 
settle the present obligation at the reporting date, taking into account the risks and 
uncertainties surrounding the obligation and discount rates. Where a provision is measured 
using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the 
present value of those cash flows discounted for the market discount rate. Over time the 
discounted liability is increased for the changes in the present value based on the current 
market discount rates and liability risks. When some or all of the economic benefits required to 
settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, the receivable is recognized 
as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received and the amount 
receivable can be measured reliably. Changes in reclamation estimates are accounted for 
prospectively as a change in the corresponding capitalized cost.

The Company did not have any decommissioning and restoration provisions for the years 
presented.

Income Taxes

(i) Current income tax: 

Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at 
the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax 
rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or 
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period. 

Current tax assets and current tax liabilities are only offset if a legally enforceable right 
exists to set off the amounts and the intention is to settle on a net basis, or to realize the 
asset and settle the liability simultaneously. Current income tax relating to items 
recognized directly in equity is recognized in equity and not through profit or loss.



GOD'S LAKE RESOURCES INC.
(AN EXPLORATION STAGE COMPANY)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2016 AND 2015
(Presented in Canadian Dollars)

18

3.    SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Income Taxes

(ii) Deferred tax: 

Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences at the 
reporting date between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts 
for financial reporting purposes. Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable 
temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognized for all deductible temporary 
differences, carry-forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses, to the extent that it 
is probable that profit will be available against which the deductible temporary difference 
and the carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilized. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply 
in the year when the asset is realized or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax 
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the consolidated statements of 
financial position date. Deferred tax relating to items recognized directly in equity is also 
recognized in equity and not in the consolidated statements of comprehensive loss. 

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each consolidated statement of 
financial position date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that 
sufficient profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilized. 
Unrecognized deferred tax assets are reassessed at each consolidated statement of 
financial position date and are recognized to the extent that it has become probable that 
future profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered. The Company does not 
record deferred tax assets to the extent that it considers deductible temporary 
differences, the carry-forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses cannot be 
utilized.

Change in Accounting Policies

Effective January 1, 2016, the Company has adopted the following new and revised standards, 
along with any consequential amendments. These changes were made in accordance with the 
applicable transitional provisions for which there was no significant impact on the Company’s 
consolidate financial statements. 

(a) IAS 16, Property, Plant and Equipment (“IAS 16”) and IAS 38, Intangible Assets (“IAS 38”) 
and, were amended in May 2015. Amendments to IAS 16 prohibit entities from using a 
revenue-based depreciation method for items of property, plant and equipment. 
Amendments to IAS 38 introduce a rebuttable presumption that revenue is not an 
appropriate basis for amortization of an intangible asset. The amendments apply 
prospectively for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2016. 
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3.    SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

The following are IFRS changes that have been issued by the IASB, which may affect the 
Company, but are not yet effective:

(a) IFRS 16, Leases (“IFRS 16”) was issued in January 2016 to improve the accounting for 
leases, generally by eliminating a lessees’ classification of leases and introducing a single 
lessee accounting model. The most significant effect of the new standard will be the 
lessee’s recognition of the initial present value of unavoidable future lease payments as 
lease assets and lease liabilities on the statement of financial position. Leases with 
durations of 12 months or less and leases for low value assets are both exempted. The 
measurement of the total lease expense over the term of a lease will be unaffected by the 
new standard. However, the new standard will result in the timing of lease expense 
recognition being accelerated for leases which would be currently accounted for as 
operating leases. The presentation on the statement of loss and other comprehensive loss 
required by the new standard will result in most lease expenses being presented as 
amortization of lease assets and financing costs arising from lease liabilities rather than as 
being a part of goods and services purchased. The standard is effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after January 1, 2019 and will supersede IAS 17 Leases. 

(b) IAS 7, Statement of Cash Flows (“IAS 7”) - In January 2016, the IASB issued amendments to 
IAS 7 pursuant to which entities will be required to provide enhanced information about 
changes in their financial liabilities, including changes from cash flows and non-cash 
changes. The IAS 7 amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 
January 1, 2017.

(c) IAS 12, Income Taxes (“IAS 12”) - In January 2016, the IASB issued amendments to IAS 12, 
which clarify guidance on the recognition of deferred tax assets related to unrealized 
losses resulting from debt instruments that are measured at their fair value. The IAS 12 
amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2017. 

(d) Implication of New and Amended Standards to the Company

The Company has not yet begun the process of assessing the impact that the new and 
amended standards will have on its financial statements or whether to early adopt any of 
the new requirements.
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4.  INVESTMENTS OWNED AND SOLD SHORT, AT FAIR VALUE

Investments Owned

The components of investments owned are as follows:

2016 2015

Cost Fair Value Cost Fair Value

Equities $ 281,228 $ 264,113 $ 261,783 $ 256,340

Investments Sold Short

The components of investments sold short are as follows:

2016 2015

Proceeds Fair Value Proceeds Fair Value

Equities $           1,999,329 $           2,101,719 $                 - $                 -
Options          698          288          -          -

$           2,000,027 $           2,102,007 $                  - $                  -

Fair Value Hierarchy

All long and short securities are categorized into Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy and are 
measured based on quoted market prices, with one exception. As at December 31, 2015 and 
2016, the Company holds one long position in a public company that is not listed on a securities 
exchange. This security is categorized into Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy and is valued 
based on non-observable market inputs. 

There were no transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy during the years presented.
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4.  INVESTMENTS OWNED AND SOLD SHORT, AT FAIR VALUE (Continued)

Fair Value Hierarchy (Continued)

The following table presents the changes in fair value measurements of financial instruments 
classified as Level 3.

2016 2015

Opening balance – January 1 $ 200,000 $ 200,000
Purchases - -
Proceeds on sale - -
Net realized gains (losses) - -
Net unrealized gains (losses) - -
Transfers out of Level 3 - -

Closing balance – December 31 $ 200,000 $ 200,000

The investee company has not performed any equity financings in the 2016 year, however 
subsequent to December 31, 2016, the Company sold the investment for $200,000. 
Accordingly, the Company has determined that the fair market value has not significantly 
changed as at December 31, 2016 and 2015. 

5. FIELD EQUIPMENT

The following is a continuity schedule of field equipment:

Cost 2016 2015

Balance – beginning of year $               59,555 $               54,306
Additions -                  5,249
Disposals - -

Balance – end of year $ 59,555 $ 59,555

Accumulated Amortization 2016 2015

Balance – beginning of year $                16,675 $                 9,051
Amortization 8,576 7,624

Balance – end of year $ 25,251 $ 16,675
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5. FIELD EQUIPMENT (Continued)

Carrying Value 2016 2015

Balance $ 34,304 $ 42,880

6. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS

The following is a continuity of the Company’s exploration and evaluation assets for the year 
ended December 31, 2016:

Muskasenda 
Lake Project

Castlewood 
Lake Project

Shaw 
Township 

Project Total

Acquisition Costs

Balance – December 31, 2015 $ - $         40,000 $           31,201 $           71,021
Additions - - - -
Impairment - - - -

Balance – December 31, 2016 $ - $ 40,000 $ 31,021 $ 71,021

Deferred Exploration Costs

Balance – December 31, 2015 $ 49,424 $       497,866 $       148,250 $ 695,540
Additions          
   Consulting - 22,500 7,500 30,000
   Travel 473 378 1,828 2,679
   Supplies & Services 1,555 6,128 9,420 17,103
   Contractor 1,100 6,520 - 7,620
Impairment - - - -

Balance – December 31, 2016 $ 52,552 $ 533,392 $       166,998 $ 752,942

Total – December 31, 2016 $ 52,552 $ 573,392 $ 198,019 $ 823,963
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6.  EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS (Continued)

The following is a continuity of the Company’s exploration and evaluation assets for the year 
ended December 31, 2015:

Muskasenda 
Lake Project

Castlewood 
Lake Project

Shaw 
Township 

Project Total

Acquisition Costs

Balance – December 31, 2014 $ - $         40,000 $           31,021 $           71,021
Additions - - - -
Impairment - - - -

Balance – December 31, 2015 $ - $ 40,000 $ 31,021 $ 71,021

Deferred Exploration Costs

Balance – December 31, 2014 $ 49,424 $       272,948 $ - $ 322,372
Additions          
  Rehabilitation - 92,750 - 92,750
   Consulting - 40,250 31,500 71,750
   Travel - 37,401 13,839 51,240
   Supplies & Services - 61,389 23,456 84,845
   Contractor - 16,309 23,250 39,559
   Building - - 33,024 33,024
Reallocation - (23,181) 23,181 -

Balance – December 31, 2015 $ 49,424 $ 497,866 $       148,250 $ 695,540

Total – December 31, 2015 $ 49,424 $ 537,866 $ 179,271 $ 766,561

Muskasenda Lake Project

In September 2013, the Company acquired the Muskasenda Lake Project, which is a 100% 
interest in unpatented mining claims at no cost and with no underlying royalty, in English and 
Beemer Townships in the District of Cochrane, Porcupine Mining Division. The claims are 
accessible by road, approximately 40 kilometers south of Timmins, Ontario, Canada. Historic 
published information indicates numerous gold occurrences, some of which have been 
trenched and drilled. Exploration activities on this property included prospecting, geological 
mapping and sampling. As at December 31, 2016, the Company has 12 claim units in the 
Muskasenda Lake Project.
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6.  EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS (Continued)

Castlewood Lake Project

On January 27, 2014, the Company acquired a 100% interest in one unpatented mining claim in 
the Castlewood Lake Area of the Thunder Bay Mining Division (the Sage Gold Project) for 
$40,000.  A total of 16 claims were purchased.     

This project is subject to a net smelter returns royalty as described in note 9.

Shaw Township Project

On November 4, 2014 the Company completed the purchase of a 100% interest in two patented 
mining claims, which include both mining and surface rights, in Shaw Township, near Timmins, 
Ontario. A commitment of $700 per annum is due to the City of Timmins for property tax and 
$80 per annum to the Ontario Government for maintaining its patents.

7.  LOANS PAYABLE

The Company has loans payable as follows:

2016 2015

AER Nickel Corporation Limited (i) $               42,000 $               42,000
Mini Metals Inc. (i)                  58,000                  58,000

$ 100,000 $ 100,000

(i) The above corporations are controlled by a director of the Company. These loans are 
unsecured, non-interest bearing, and are due on demand. These loans were provided to 
the Company for general working capital purposes.
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8. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITY

The components of deferred income taxes have been determined at the combined federal and 
provincial statutory rate of 26.50% (2015 – 26.50%) and are as follows:

2016 2015

Exploration and evaluation assets $ (194,027) $ (261,602)
Investments owned and sold short 29,875 721
Field equipment (1,095) (702)
Non-capital losses 265 414
Net capital losses 16,061 -

Deferred income tax liability $ (148,921) $ (261,169)

9. COMMITMENTS

Mineral Claims

In order to keep its mining claims in good standing with the Ontario Ministry of Northern 
Development and Mines, the Company is required to perform work totaling $4,800 on the 
claims for the Muskasenda Lake Project by December 2018, and $6,400 on the Castlewood 
Lake claims by October 2019. If the Company does not perform the required work on a claim 
before the due date, it will forfeit its rights to the claim.

Royalty

The Castlewood Lake Project is subject to a net smelter returns royalty of 3% for precious 
metals and 2% for base metals payable to the original property vendors.
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10.SHARE CAPITAL

(a) Authorized

Unlimited number of common shares, no par value.

(b) Issued and Outstanding

Number of 
Common Shares Amount

Balance as at December 31, 2014 8,832,888 $ 8,848,742

Shares issued (i)                 400,000 100,000

Balance as at December 31, 2015 and 2016              9,232,888 $ 8,948,742

(i) On February 13, 2015, the Company issued 400,000 flow-through shares at a price of 
$0.25 per share for gross proceeds of $100,000.  These shares were issued to SPG 
Royalties Inc., a corporation controlled by a director. The Company determined that 
there was no flow-through premium upon issuance of these shares.

(c) Stock Option Plan

The Company has a stock option plan (the “Plan”), whereby it can grant options for the 
purchase of common shares to its directors, officers and certain consultants.  The 
maximum aggregate number of shares that may be issuable pursuant to options granted 
under the Plan shall not exceed 10% of the issued and outstanding shares of the Company.  
No more than 5% of the issued shares of the Company may be granted to any one 
optionee, and no more than 2% of the issued shares of the Company may be granted to 
any one consultant or employee conducting “Investor Relations Activities” in any twelve-
month period.  The options are non-transferable and non-assignable and may be granted 
for a term not exceeding five years.  The exercise price of the options is fixed by the board 
of directors of the Company at the time of grant at the market price of the common 
shares, subject to all applicable regulatory requirements.  The Company did not grant any 
options during the years ended December 31, 2016 or 2015. The Company currently does 
not have any options outstanding.
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10.SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

(d) Loss Per Share

Basic and diluted loss per common share are calculated as follows:

Numerator: 2016 2015

Net loss $ (341,251) $ (150,244)

Denominator: 2016 2015

Weighted average number of common shares
outstanding - diluted 9,232,888 9,184,668

Loss per share: 2016 2015

Basic and diluted $ (0.04) $ (0.02)

11.  RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

All transactions with related parties have occurred in the normal course of operations.

(a) The Company advanced $4,000 to Michael Sheridan, a director of the Company in March 
2015 and a further $2,401 in November 2016.  These advances remain outstanding as of 
December 31, 2016. The advances are unsecured, non-interest bearing, and are due on 
demand. These amounts are included in sundry receivables on the consolidated statement 
of financial position. The advances were repaid in full on April 20, 2017.

(b) The Company subleases its office space from Sheridan Brothers Limited Partnership, which 
is an entity controlled by a director. Rent paid for the year ended December 31, 2016 
totaled $24,000 (2015 - $24,000) and the lease is on a month-to-month basis. 

(c) Related parties subscribed and purchased flow-through common shares from the 
Company as described in notes 10 (b). 
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11.  RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(d) Key management personnel are defined as those individuals having authority and 
responsibility for planning, directing, and controlling the activities of the Company. God's 
Lake considers its directors and officers to be its key management personnel. 
Compensation paid to key management personnel was $67,000 and $81,767 in fiscal years 
2016 and 2015, respectively. These expenditures were allocated as follows in the 
consolidated financial statements:

2016 2015

Exploration and evaluation assets $ 30,000 $ 65,600
Consulting fees 12,000 12,000
Salaries 25,000 4,167

$ 67,000 $ 81,767

(e) The Company has loans payable to two related corporations as described in note 7.

(f) The CEO of the Company was advanced $16,737 in 2016. The advance is unsecured, non-
interest bearing, and is due on demand. This amount is included in sundry receivables on 
the consolidated statement of financial position. The CEO repaid $13,270 of these 
advances on April 20, 2017.

12. INCOME TAXES

The following is a reconciliation of income tax expense to the combined federal and provincial 
statutory income tax rate:

2015 2015

Loss before taxes $ (453,499) $ (120,995)
Statutory tax rate 26.5% 26.5%

Expected tax recovery at statutory rates (120,177) (32,064)
Non-taxable portion of trading gains 29,602 (2,287)
Difference in tax rates on investment income (21,673) -
Renunciation on flow-through shares - 63,600

Income tax expense (recovery) $ (112,248) $ 29,249
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12. INCOME TAXES (Continued)

The components of income tax expense are as follows:

2015 2015

Current income taxes $ - $ -
Deferred income taxes (recovery) (112,248) 29,249

Income tax expense (recovery) $ (112,248) $ 29,249

13. MANAGEMENT OF CAPITAL

The Company includes the following in its managed capital:

2015 2015

Common shares $ 8,948,742 $ 8,948,742
Contributed surplus 417,784 417,784
Deficit (6,583,102) (6,241,851)

$ 2,783,424 $ 3,124,675

The Company’s objectives when managing capital is to ensure that it maintains the level of 
capital necessary to continue its exploration work for viable mineral properties. The Company 
manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, based on the funds available to the 
Company and the anticipated future requirements of its mineral property.

The Company will continue to assess new properties and seek to acquire an interest in them if 
it feels there is sufficient geologic or economic potential and if it has adequate financial 
resources to do so.

The Board of Directors does not establish quantitative return on capital criteria for 
management, but rather relies on the expertise of the Company’s management to sustain 
future development of a business. The Company is not subject to externally imposed capital 
requirements.

14. SEGMENTED INFORMATION

The Company has one operating and geographic segment, which is the acquisition, exploration, 
and evaluation of Canadian resource properties. All of the Company’s operations, assets, and 
revenues belong to this segment.
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15. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Credit Risk

Credit risk is the risk of loss associated with a counter-party’s inability to fulfil its payment 
obligations. The Company's maximum exposure to credit risk as of December 31, 2016 is
$4,149,939 (2015 - $2,412,634), being the value of its due from brokers and sundry receivables. 
These receivables consist of amounts due from the brokers holding the Company’s 
investments, sales taxes recoverable from the Government of Canada and advances to
directors of the Company.  Management believes these receivables are a low credit risk. There 
have been no changes to the Company's methods for managing credit risk during the year. 

Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will have sufficient cash resources to meet its 
financial obligations as they come due. The Company does not generate cash flows from its 
principal operations of mineral exploration and relies on its cash balance and investments
transactions to pay its liabilities. Management regularly reviews securities investments to 
ensure it maintains sufficient cash on hand for continued operations.

There have been no changes to management’s methods for managing liquidity risk since 
December 31, 2015. The Company has working capital of $2,074,078 as of December 31, 2016 
(2015 - $2,576,403) and in management’s judgment, the Company has sufficient working 
capital to continue to fund its exploration work and to pay its liabilities for the next fiscal year.

The following is a maturity analysis of financial liabilities based on their contractual maturities:

Payments due by period

Less than
1 year

1 - 3
years

4 - 5
years Total

December 31, 2016
Investments sold short $     2,102,007 $ - $ - $     2,102,007
Accounts payable 167,493 - - 167,493
Loans payable 100,000 - - 100,000

$ 2,369,500 $ - $ - $ 2,369,500

December 31, 2015
Accounts payable $ 24,950 $ - $ - $ 24,950
Loans payable 100,000 - - 100,000

$ 124,950 $ - $ - $ 124,950
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15. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Liquidity Risk (Continued)

The following is a liquidity analysis of the Company's assets:

Liquidity by period

Less than
1 year

More than
1 year Non-liquid Total

December 31, 2016
Cash $ 29,526 $ - $ - $ 29,526
Investments owned 264,113 - - 264,113
Due from broker 4,110,735 - - 4,110,735
Sundry receivables 39,204 - - 39,204
Field equipment - - 34,304 34,304
Exploration and evaluation costs - - 823,963 823,963

$ 4,443,578 $ - $ 858,267 $ 5,301,845

December 31, 2015
Cash $ 32,379 $ - $ - $ 32,379
Investments owned 256,340 - - 256,340
Due from broker 2,354,595 - - 2,354,595
Sundry receivables 58,039 - - 58,039
Field equipment - - 42,880 44,363
Exploration and evaluation costs - - 766,561 764,913

$ 2,701,353 $ - $ 809,441 $ 3,510,794

Market Risk

Market risk is comprised of equity price risk, foreign currency risk, and interest rate risk. The 
Company’s exposure to these risks is described below.

Equity Price Risk

Equity price risk is the risk that the fair value of, or future cash flows from, the Company’s 
financial instruments will significantly fluctuate due to changes in stock market prices.  The 
value of the Company's investments owned and sold short are affected by changes in market 
prices. Management reduces its exposure to market prices by holding investments for short 
periods of time. The Company also manages market risk by having a diversified portfolio which 
is not singularly exposed to any one or class of issuers. There have been no changes in the 
Company's risk management strategies for the year ended December 31, 2016.
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15. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Market Risk (Continued)

Equity Price Risk (Continued)

A sensitivity analysis of the impact on the net income (loss) of the Company for changes in the 
market prices of investments owned and sold short is presented below:

2016 2015

Market rises by 10% $ (183,760) $ 25,634
Market rises by 5% (91,880) 12,817
No change - -
Market falls by 5% 91,880 (12,817)
Market falls by 10% 183,760 (25,634)

The above sensitivity analysis does not give effect to the timing of changes in fair value, or the 
effect of management actions that may be taken to mitigate unfavorable market movements. 
The effect of timing is relevant to the above analysis, as the Company holds positions in options 
which have short term expiry dates.

Foreign Currency Risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk that fluctuations in the rates of exchange on foreign currency 
would impact the Company’s future cash flows.  The Company is exposed to foreign exchange 
fluctuations in cash and portfolio investments that are denominated in United States (“US”) 
dollars. The Company has a net liability exposure to US dollar instruments of $270,602 (2015 –
$183,384). There have been no changes in the Company's risk management strategies for the 
year ended December 31, 2016.

A sensitivity analysis of the impact on the Company’s net income (loss) for changes in the 
exchange rate on US dollars is presented below:

2016 2015

US dollar strengthens by 4% $ (10,824) $ (7,335)
US dollar strengthens by 2% (5,412) (3,667)
No change - -
US dollar weakens by 2% 5,412 3,667
US dollar weakens by 4% 10,824 7,335



 GOD’S LAKE RESOURCES INC. 
MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2016 

 
This Management Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”) should be read in conjunction with the 
audited consolidated financial statements of God’s Lake Resources Inc. (the “Company”), for the 
year ended December 31, 2016 and the related notes.  The Company’s reporting currency is the 
Canadian dollar and all amounts in this MD&A are expressed in Canadian dollars.  This MD&A is 
prepared as of April 26, 2017. 

 
The audited consolidated financial statements as at and for the year ended December 31, 2016 
have been prepared in accordance with IFRS accounting policies.   
 
The following MD&A may contain forward-looking statements.  Forward-looking statements are 
based on current expectations that involve a number of risks and uncertainties which could cause 
actual events or results to differ materially from those reflected herein.  Forward-looking 
statements are based on the estimates and opinions of management of the Company at the time 
the statements were made. 
  
Additional information relating to the Company is on the System for Electronic Document Analysis 
and Retrieval (SEDAR) at www.sedar.com. 
 
OVERALL PERFORMANCE 
 
The Company is considered to be an exploration stage entity, and currently holds three 
exploration properties. 
 
The Muskasenda Lake Project is located in English Township in the District of Cochrane, 
Porcupine Mining Division.   The claims are accessible by road, located approximately 40 kms 
south of Timmins, Ontario, Canada. The Company acquired the claims on September 10, 2013 at 
no cost and with no underlying royalty.  Historic, published information indicates numerous gold 
occurrences, some of which have been trenched and drilled.  Exploration activities on this 
property include prospecting, geological mapping and sampling. A total of $4,800 worth of 
assessment work is required to maintain the claim in good standing by December 2018. 
 
On January 27, 2014, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company acquired a 100% interest in one 
unpatented mining claim in the Castlewood Lake Area of the Thunder Bay Mining Division for 
$40,000.  A total of 16 claim units were purchased.  The property was acquired for its previous 
high-grade gold results.  A site visit in early July 2014, evaluated the exposed quartz veining on 
the property, with all 20 grab samples containing visible gold.   
 
During August and September 2014 a field crew was sent to the property to begin prospecting 
and sampling the area around the previously located high grade gold veins.  A total of 110, 20 kg 
samples were taken from the existing veins utilizing GPS for control along with a 1m x1m grid 
over all the veins.  Samples will be crushed, pulverized to 80% minus 200 mesh and passed 
through a lab size nelson concentrator.  Concentrates produced will be assayed to determine the 
amount of native gold present.  An initial assay will be taken before the sample is concentrated to 
determine the head grade.  During March 2015 a rehabilitation program was undertaken filling 
larger open holes which were created by previous operators.  An old shaft was excavated to 
bottom which was determined to be at 7 metres.  The walls of the shaft were blasted inward and 
filled with rock covered by a layer of sand.  In October 2015 a final clean-up of the site was 
undertaken, removing any garbage that was buried in the snow from the March program.    

http://www.sedar.com/
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On November 4, 2014, the Company completed the purchase of two patented mining claims, 
which include both mining and surface rights, in Shaw Township, near Timmins, Ontario.  The 
acquisition cost $31,021 for a 100% interest.  The property was purchased to build a storage 
facility for equipment.  Furthermore, the land is strategically placed geologically within the Shaw 
Dome structure, and was also acquired for its favourable geology and strategic location.  A 
commitment of $700 per annum is due to the City of Timmins for property tax and $80 per annum 
to the Ontario Government for maintaining its patents.  Additions to the land package may be 
made, as new claims become available. 
 
The Company continues to evaluate new properties and prospects for future exploration. 
 
In addition to the information contained in this management discussion and analysis, and the risk 
factors discussed below under “Risks and Uncertainties”, shareholders should carefully consider 
the risk factors which may have a material adverse effect on the business, financial condition or 
results of operations of the Company.   
 
EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS 

The following is a continuity of the Company’s exploration and evaluation assets for the year 
ended December 31, 2016: 

 
Muskasenda 
Lake Project 

Castlewood 
Lake Project 

Shaw 
Township 

Project Total 
     
Acquisition Costs     

Balance – December 31, 2015 $ -  $         40,000 $           31,021 $           71,021 
Additions  -   -   -   -  
Impairment  -   -   -   -  

Balance – December 31, 2016 $ -  $ 40,000  $ 31,021  $ 71,021  
     

Deferred Exploration Costs     

Balance – December 31, 2015 $ 49,424  $ 497,866  $ 148,250  $ 695,540  
Additions     
   Rehabilitation  -   -   -   -  
   Consulting  -  22,500 7,500 30,000 
   Travel 473 378 1,828 2,679 
   Supplies and services  1,555 6,128 9,420 17,103 
   Contractor  1,100 6,520  -  7,620 
Impairment  -              -   -   -  

Balance – December 31, 2016 $ 52,552  $ 533,392  $ 166,998  752,942 

Total – December 31, 2016 $ 52,552  $ 573,392  $ 198,019  $ 823,963  
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SELECTED ANNUAL INFORMATION 
 
Statement of Financial Position Highlights  
 
 December 31,  

2016 
December 31,  

2015 
December 31, 

2014 
(Restated) 

Current Assets 4,443,578 2,701,353 3,970,142 
Current Liabilities 2,369,500    124,950  1,001,951 
Working Capital 2,074,078 2,576,403 2,968,191 
Total Assets 5,301,845 3,510,794 4,408,790 
Total Liabilities 2,518,421 386,119 1,233,871 
Total Equity 2,783,424 3,124,675 3,174,919 

 
Statement of Comprehensive Loss – years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015. 
 
 Year Ended 

 December 31, 
2016 

 

Year Ended 
 December 31, 

2015 
 

Year Ended 
 December 31, 

2014 
(Restated) 

Total Revenue (196,957)  17,260 8,963 
Total Expenses  256,542  138,255 148,060 
Loss Before Taxes (453,499)  (120,995) (139,097) 
Deferred Income Tax Recovery (Loss) (112,248)   29,249 28,143 
Net Loss and Comprehensive Loss (341,251) (150,244) (167,240) 
Net Loss 
Per Common Share – basic and diluted 

 
$(0.04) 

 
$(0.02) 

 
$(0.02) 

 
 
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 
 
 
Year Ended December 31, 2016 
 
For the year ended December 31, 2016, the Company had a trading loss of ($196,957) compared 
to trading revenue of $17,260 for the year ended December 31, 2015. The trading loss incurred in 
2016 related to difficult market conditions for trading compared with 2015. 
 
For the year ended December 31, 2016 the Company incurred expenses of $256,542 compared 
to $138,255 for 2015.  The increase in expenses in 2016 primarily relate to the penalties and 
fines incurred of $75,010 related to the Company and its subsidiary pleading guilty to the offence 
of mining more than 100 tonnes of mineral bearing substance from an unpatented mining claim 
for the purpose of testing mineral content without first obtaining the Minister’s written permission. 
 
Transaction costs for fiscal 2016 were $26,451 compared to $35,839 for fiscal 2015. The 
decrease was due to fewer trades being transacted.   
 
Professional fees, being audit and legal services, were $50,897 in fiscal 2016 compared to 
$19,215 for fiscal 2015. This increase was due to the legal fees incurred to minimize the penalties 
and fines expense.  
 
Rent expenses for both 2016 and 2015 remained consistent at $24,000.  Similarly, consulting 
fees for the CFO for both 2016 and 2015 remained consistent at $12,000. 
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Office and general expense for fiscal 2016 were $22,511 compared with $21,113 for fiscal 2015.  
The increase is mainly attributable to higher business promotion expenses.   
 
Filing fees increased slightly year over year, with fiscal 2016 being $9,145 and fiscal 2015 being 
$8,570. 
 
Amortization increased from $7,624 in fiscal 2015 to $8,576 in fiscal 2016, as the net book value 
of equipment added in mid-2015 was depreciated throughout 2016. No purchases of depreciable 
property were made in fiscal 2016.  
 
Travel expenditures decreased from $5,727 in fiscal 2015 to $2,952 in fiscal 2016.  
 
Salaries and benefits increased from $4,167 in fiscal 2015 to $25,000 in fiscal 2016. The 
employee was hired for the final two months of fiscal 2015. There were no increases in pay rates. 
 
Net loss for the year ended December 31, 2015 was $150,244, or approximately $0.02 per share 
compared to a net loss of $341,251 or $0.04 per share for the year ended December 31, 2016.   
   
SUMMARY OF QUARTERLY RESULTS 
 
The following table sets out selected quarterly results of the Company for the eight quarters prior 
to the effective date of this report.  The information contained herein is drawn from the interim 
financial statements of the Company for each of the last eight quarters. 
 
 

Year 2016 2016 2016 2016 2015 2015 2015 2015 

Quarter Dec 31 Sept 30 Jun 30 Mar 31 Dec 31 Sept 30 Jun 30 Mar 31 

Working Capital 2,077,107  2,292,906 2,412,538  2,545,923 2,576,403  2,634,126 2,668,922  2,812,934 

Net Loss Before 
Taxes 

(197,468) (107,827) (124,661) (23,543) (11,536) (7,602) (68,319) (33,538) 

Net Loss 
per share - basic 
and diluted 

 
(0.021) 
(0.021) 

 
(0.014) 
(0.014) 

 
(0.014) 
(0.014) 

 
(0.003) 
(0.003) 

 
(0.004) 
(0.004) 

 
(0.006) 
(0.006) 

 
(0.003) 
(0.003) 

 
(0.003) 
(0.003) 

 
QUARTERLY TREND ANALYSIS 
 
The Company’s net earnings before taxes have had some dramatic fluctuations from quarter to 
quarter, which are primarily based on economic, political and market conditions, directly affecting 
the securities trading activity. 
 
 
FOURTH QUARTER ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2016 
 
Loss before taxes for the fourth quarter of 2016 was $197,468, in contrast to a loss before taxes 
in the fourth quarter of 2015 of $11,536.  The decrease in profitability was primarily related to the 
trading of securities and the penalties and fines expense.       
 
EQUITY 
 
The Company’s issued capital as of December 31, 2016 consists of 9,232,888 common shares 
(2015 – 9,232,888 common shares).  As at April 26, 2017, a total of 9,232,888 common shares 
were issued and outstanding. 
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES 
 
The Company had a cash balance of $29,526 at December 31, 2016, compared to $32,379 as at 
December 31, 2015.  As at December 31, 2016, the Company had working capital of $2,074,078, 
compared with working capital of $2,576,403 as at December 31, 2015.   
 
The Company’s equity was $2,783,424 as at December 31, 2016, compared to $3,124,675 as at 
December 31, 2015.  Current liabilities increased to $2,369,500 at December 31, 2016, from 
$124,950 at December 31, 2015. This increase was primarily due to the Company’s short security 
positions as at December 31, 2016. 
 
The Company has sufficient working capital to meet its liabilities and commitments as they come 
due, as well as to continue exploration work on its properties. 
 
Other than as discussed herein, the Company is not aware of any trends, demands, 
commitments, events or uncertainties that may result in the Company’s liquidity or capital 
resources either materially increasing or decreasing at present or in the foreseeable future.  
Material increases or decreases in the Company’s liquidity and capital resources will be 
substantially determined by the success or failure of its new ventures.   
  
OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS 
 
The Company does not have any off-balance sheet arrangements. 
 
TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES 

All transactions with related parties have occurred in the normal course of operations. 

(a) The Company advanced $4,000 to Michael Sheridan, a director of the Company on March 
2, 2015 and a further $2,401 on November 28, 2016.  These advances remain outstanding 
as of December 31, 2016. The advances are unsecured, non-interest bearing, and are due 
on demand. This amount is included in sundry receivables on the consolidated statement of 
financial position. The advances were repaid in full on April 20, 2017. 

(b) The Company subleases its office space from Sheridan Brothers Limited Partnership, 
which is an entity controlled by a director. Rent paid for the year ended December 31, 2016 
totaled $24,000 (2015 - $24,000) and the lease is on a month-to-month basis.  

(c) On February 13, 2015, the Company issued 400,000 flow-through shares at a price of 
$0.25 per share for gross proceeds of $100,000. These shares were issued to SPG 
Royalties Inc., a corporation controlled by a director. The Company determined that there 
was no flow-through premium upon issuance of these shares.  
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(d) Key management personnel are defined as those individuals having authority and 
responsibility for planning, directing, and controlling the activities of the Company. God's 
Lake considers its directors and officers to be its key management personnel. 
Compensation paid to key management personnel was $67,000 and $81,767 in fiscal years 
2016 and 2015, respectively. These expenditures were allocated as follows in the 
consolidated financial statements: 

 
 2016 2015 

Exploration and evaluation assets $ 30,000  $ 65,600  
Consulting fees 12,000 12,000 
Salaries  25,000 4,167 

 $ 67,000  $ 81,767  

(e) The CEO of the Company was advanced $16,737 in 2016. The advance is unsecured, non-
interest bearing, and is due on demand. This amount is included in sundry receivables on 
the consolidated statement of financial position. The CEO repaid $13,270 on April 20, 
2017. 

(f) The Company has loans payable as follows: 

 2016 2015 
AER Nickel Corporation Limited (i) $               42,000 $               42,000 
Mini Metals Inc. (i)  58,000   58,000  
 $ 100,000  $ 100,000  

 
The above corporations are controlled by a director of the Company. These loans are 
unsecured, non-interest bearing, and are due on demand. These loans were provided to 
the Company for general working capital purposes. 

 
RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES 
 
An investment in the securities of the Company is highly speculative and involves numerous and 
significant risks and should be undertaken only by investors whose financial resources are 
sufficient to enable them to assume such risks and who have no need for immediate liquidity in 
their investment.   
 
Exploration Stage Company and Exploration Risks 
 
Junior natural resource issuers are typically focused primarily on the acquisition and exploration 
of resource properties.  Such properties often have no established reserves.  There is usually no 
assurance that any of the projects can be mined or operated profitably.  Accordingly, it is not 
assured that such issuers will realize any profits in the short to medium term, if at all.  Any 
profitability in the future from the business of a junior natural resource issuer is often dependent 
upon developing and commercially mining or operating an economic deposit of minerals or oil 
and gas reserves which in itself is subject to numerous risk factors.  The exploration and 
development of mineral and oil and gas deposits involves a high degree of financial risk over a 
significant period of time of which even a combination of careful evaluation, experience and 
knowledge of management may not eliminate.  While discovery of ore-bearing or petroleum-
hosting structures may result in substantial rewards, few properties that are explored are 
ultimately developed into producing mines or wells. 
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Major expenses may be required to establish reserves by drilling and to construct mining, 
processing and transport facilities at a particular site.  It is impossible to ensure that the current 
exploration, development and production programs of a junior natural resource issuer will result in 
profitable commercial mining or oil and gas operations.  The profitability of a junior natural 
resource issuer’s operations will be, in part, directly related to the cost and success of its 
exploration and development programs which may be affected by a number of factors.  
Substantial expenditures are required to establish reserves which are sufficient to commercially 
mine resource and oil and gas properties and to construct, complete and install mining, 
processing and transport facilities in those properties that are actually mined and developed. 
 
No History of Profitability 

 
A junior natural resource issuer is typically a development or exploration stage company with no 
history of profitability.  There can be no assurance that the operations of a junior natural 
resources issuer will be profitable in the future.  A junior natural resource issuer often has limited 
financial resources and will require additional financing to acquire and further explore, develop, 
retain and engage in commercial production on its property interests and, if financing is 
unavailable for any reason, the junior natural resource issuer may become unable to acquire and 
retain its mineral concessions and carry out its business plan. 
 
Government Regulations 
 
A junior natural resource issuer's exploration operations will be subject to government legislation, 
policies and controls relating to prospecting, development, production, environmental protection, 
mining and oil and gas taxes and labour standards.  In order for the junior natural resource issuer 
to carry out its mining and operating activities, its exploitation licences must be kept current.  
There is no guarantee that exploitation licences will be extended or that new exploitation licences 
will be granted.  In addition, such exploitation licences could be changed and there can be no 
assurances that any application to renew any existing licences will be approved.  The junior 
natural resource issuer may be required to contribute to the cost of providing the required 
infrastructure to facilitate the development of its properties.  The junior natural resource issuer will 
also have to obtain and comply with permits and licences which may contain specific conditions 
concerning operating procedures, water use, waste disposal, spills, environmental studies, 
abandonment and restoration plans and financial assurances.  There can be no assurance that 
the junior natural resource issuer will be able to comply with any such conditions. 
 
Market Fluctuation and Commercial Quantities 
 
The market for minerals, oil and gas is influenced by many factors beyond the control of a junior 
natural resource issuer such as changing production costs, the supply and demand for minerals 
and petroleum products, the rate of inflation, the inventory of mineral producing corporations, the 
international economic and political environment, changes in international investment patterns, 
global or regional consumption patterns, costs of substitutes, currency availability and exchange 
rates, interest rates, speculative activities in connection with minerals and petroleum, and 
increased production due to improved mining and production methods.  The metals industry in 
general is intensely competitive and there is no assurance that, even if commercial quantities and 
qualities of metals, oil and gas are discovered, a market will exist for the profitable sale of such 
metals, oil and gas.  Commercial viability of precious and base metals and other mineral deposits 
and oil and gas reserves may be affected by other factors that are beyond the junior natural 
resource issuer’s control including particular attributes of the deposit such as its size, quantity and 
quality, the cost of mining and processing, proximity to infrastructure and the availability of 
transportation and sources of energy, financing, government legislation and regulations including 
those relating to prices, taxes, royalties, land tenure, land use, import and export restrictions, 
exchange controls, restrictions on production, as well as environmental protection.   
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It is impossible to assess with certainty the impact of various factors that may affect commercial 
viability so that any adverse combination of such factors may result in the junior natural resource 
issuer not receiving an adequate return on invested capital. 
 
Mining Risks and Insurance 
 
A junior natural resource issuer is subject to risks normally encountered in the mining industry, 
such as unusual or unexpected geological formations, cave-ins or flooding.  The junior natural 
resource issuer may become subject to liability for pollution, damage to life or property and other 
hazards of mineral and oil and gas exploration against which it or the operator if its exploration 
programs cannot insure or against which it or such operator may elect not to insure because of 
high premium costs or other reasons.  Payment of such liabilities would reduce funds available for 
acquisition of mineral and oil and gas prospects or exploration and development and would have 
a material adverse affect on the financial position of the junior natural resource issuer. 
 
Environmental Protection 
 
The mining and mineral processing industries are subject to extensive governmental regulations 
for the protection of the environment, including regulations relating to air and water quality, mine 
reclamation, solid and hazardous waste handling and disposal and the promotion of occupational 
health and safety, which may adversely affect a junior natural resource issuer or require it to 
expend significant funds. 
 
Capital Investment 
 
The ability of a junior natural resource issuer to continue exploration and development of its 
property interests will be dependent upon its ability to raise significant financing.  There is no 
assurance that adequate financing will be available or that the terms of such financing will be 
favourable.  Should a junior natural resource issuer not be able to obtain such financing, its 
properties may be lost entirely. 
 
Key Executives 
 
The Company is dependent on the services of key executives, including the directors of the 
Company and a small number of highly skilled and experienced executives and personnel.  Due 
to the relatively small size of the Company, the loss of these persons or the Company's inability 
to attract and retain additional highly skilled employees may adversely affect its business and 
future operations. 
 
Conflicts of Interest 
 
Certain of the directors and officers of the Company may also serve as directors and officers of 
other companies involved in natural resource and oil and gas exploration and development and 
consequently, the possibility of conflict exists.  Any decisions made by such directors involving 
the Company will be made in accordance with the duties and obligations of directors to deal fairly 
and in good faith with the Company and such other companies.  In addition, such directors 
declare, and refrain from voting on any matters in which such directors may have a conflict of 
interest. 
 
CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES 

Preparation of interim consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires 
management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of 
accounting policies, the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent 
assets and liabilities, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the period. 
Estimates and assumptions are continuously evaluated and are based on management’s 
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experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be 
reasonable under the circumstances. Uncertainty about these judgments, estimates, and 
assumptions could result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment to the carrying 
amount of the asset or liability affected in future periods. 

Information about significant areas of estimation uncertainty considered by management in 
preparing the consolidated financial statements are as follows: 

Fair Value of Securities Not Quoted in an Active Market 

Where the fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded on the consolidated 
statements of financial position cannot be derived from active markets, they are determined using 
a variety of valuation techniques. The inputs to these models are derived from observable market 
data where possible, but where observable market data are not available, judgment is required to 
establish fair values.  

Fair Value of Financial Derivatives 

Investments in options and warrants that are not traded on a recognized securities exchange do 
not have a readily available market value. When there are sufficient and reliable observable 
market inputs, a valuation technique is used; if no such market inputs are available, the warrants 
and options are valued at intrinsic value.  

Amount of Accrued Liabilities 

Accrued liabilities are recorded based on an estimate of unbilled work performed by the 
Company’s vendors as well as any other payments which the Company will be required to make 
in relation to the current year's operations. Management makes these estimates based on 
historical billings and its knowledge of current operations. These estimates will affect the reported 
amounts of accrued liabilities and expenses. 

Deferred Tax Assets and Liabilities 

Deferred tax assets are recognized in respect of tax losses and other temporary differences to 
the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the losses can be 
utilized. Judgment is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be 
recognized, based upon the likely timing and level of future taxable profits, together with future 
tax planning strategies. 

A deferred tax liability exists as a result of the involuntary disposal of the Company’s mineral 
property in 2012. The Company was able to defer paying tax on the gain that resulted from the 
disposal and is using its current period losses to reduce the amount of the gain that will become 
taxable. Management has made a judgment that the Company’s exploration credits can be used 
to offset the deferred gain. This estimate affects the income tax liability and expense reported in 
these interim consolidated financial statements.  

Exploration and Evaluation Assets 

The application of the Company’s accounting policy for exploration and evaluation assets 
requires judgment in determining whether it is likely that costs incurred will be recovered through 
successful exploration and development or sale of the asset. Furthermore, the assessment 
whether economically recoverable reserves exist is itself an estimation process. If, after 
expenditures are capitalized, information becomes available suggesting that the recovery of the 
expenditures is unlikely, the asset is deemed to be impaired and the amount capitalized is written 
off in the consolidated statements of comprehensive loss in the period when the new information 
becomes available.  
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Impairment of Assets 

At each consolidated statement of financial position reporting date, the carrying amounts of the 
Company’s assets or cash-generating units are reviewed to determine whether there is any 
indication that those assets are impaired. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of 
the asset is assessed in order to determine the extent of the impairment, if any. Where the asset 
does not generate cash flows that are independent from other assets, the Company reviews the 
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. 

CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

Effective January 1, 2016, the Company has adopted the following new and revised 
standards, along with any consequential amendments.  These changes were made in 
accordance with the applicable transitional provisions. 

(a) IAS 16, Property, Plant and Equipment (“IAS 16”) and IAS 38, Intangible Assets (“IAS 
38”) and, were amended in May 2015. Amendments to IAS 16 prohibit entities from using 
a revenue-based depreciation method for items of property, plant and equipment. 
Amendments to IAS 38 introduce a rebuttable presumption that revenue is not an 
appropriate basis for amortization of an intangible asset. The amendments apply 
prospectively for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2016.  

 
 
FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT  

Credit Risk 

Credit risk is the risk of loss associated with a counter-party’s inability to fulfil its payment 
obligations. The Company's maximum exposure to credit risk as of December 31, 2016 is 
$4,149,939 (2015 - $2,412,634), being the value of the amounts due from brokers and sundry 
receivables. These receivables consist of cash held on deposit by the brokers holding the 
Company’s securities, sales taxes recoverable from the Government of Canada, advances to 
directors of the Company and a related company.  Management believes these receivables 
are a low credit risk. There have been no changes to the Company's methods for managing 
credit risk during the year. As at December 31, 2016, the brokers had collateral against the 
Company’s receivable balances of $2,102,007, being the fair value of the short security 
positions held by these brokers. 

Liquidity Risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will have sufficient cash resources to meet its 
financial obligations as they come due. The Company does not generate cash flows from its 
principal operations of mineral exploration and relies on its cash balance and securities 
transactions to pay its liabilities. Management regularly reviews securities investments to 
ensure it maintains sufficient cash on hand for continued operations. 

There have been no changes to management’s methods for managing liquidity risk since 
December 31, 2015. The Company has working capital of $2,074,078 as of December 31, 
2016 (2015 - $2,576,403) and in management’s judgment, the Company has sufficient 
working capital to continue to fund its exploration work and to pay its liabilities for the next 
fiscal year. 
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The following is a maturity analysis of financial liabilities based on their contractual maturities: 

 Payments due by period 

 
Less than 

1 year 
1 - 3 

years 
4 - 5 

years Total 

December 31, 2016     
Securities sold short $     2,102,007  $ -  $ -  $     2,102,007  
Accounts payable  167,493   -   -   167,493  
Loans payable  100,000   -   -   100,000  

 $ 2,369,500  $ -  $ -  $ 2,369,500  

December 31, 2015     
Securities sold short $               -   $ -  $ -  $                -  
Accounts payable  24,950   -   -   24,950  
Loans payable  100,000   -   -   100,000  

 $ 124,950  $ -  $ -  $ 124,950  

The following is a liquidity analysis of the Company's assets: 

  Liquidity by period 

 
Less than 

1 year 
More than 

1 year Non-liquid Total 

December 31, 2016     
Cash $ 29,526  $ -  $ -  $ 29,526  
Securities owned  264,113   -   -   264,113  
Due from broker  4,110,735   -   -   4,110,735  
Sundry receivables  39,204   -   -   39,204  
Field equipment  -   -   34,304   34,304  
Exploration and evaluation costs  -   -   823,963   823,963  

 $ 4,443,578  $ -  $ 858,267  $ 5,301,845  

December 31, 2015     
Cash $ 32,379  $ -  $ -  $ 32,379  
Securities owned  256,340   -   -   256,340  
Due from broker  2,354,595   -   -   2,354,595  
Sundry receivables  58,039   -   -   58,039  
Field equipment  -   -   42,880   42,880  
Exploration and evaluation costs  -   -   766,561   766,561  

 $ 2,701,353  $ -  $ 809,441  $ 3,510,794  

Market Risk 

Market risk is comprised of equity price risk, foreign currency risk, and interest rate risk. The 
Company’s exposure to these risks is described below. 
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Equity Price Risk 

Equity price risk is the risk that the fair value of, or future cash flows from, the Company’s 
financial instruments will significantly fluctuate due to changes in stock market prices.  The 
value of the Company's securities owned and sold short are affected by changes in market 
prices. Management reduces its exposure to market prices by holding securities for short 
periods of time. The Company also manages market risk by having a diversified portfolio 
which is not singularly exposed to any one or class of issuers. There have been no changes in 
the Company's risk management strategies for the year ended December 31, 2016. 

A sensitivity analysis of the impact on the net income (loss) of the Company for changes in the 
market prices of securities owned and sold short is presented below: 

 2016 2015 

Market rises by 10% $ (183,760)  $ 25,634  
Market rises by 5%  (91,880)  12,817 
No change  -  - 
Market falls by 5%  91,880   (12,817)  
Market falls by 10%  183,760   (25,634)  

The above sensitivity analysis does not give effect to the timing of changes in fair value, or the 
effect of management actions that may be taken to mitigate unfavorable market movements. 
The effect of timing is relevant to the above analysis, as the Company holds several positions 
in options which have short term expiry dates. 

Foreign Currency Risk 

Foreign currency risk is the risk that fluctuations in the rates of exchange on foreign currency 
would impact the Company’s future cash flows.  The Company is exposed to foreign 
exchange fluctuations in cash and portfolio securities that are denominated in United States 
(“US”) dollars. The Company has a net liability exposure to US dollar instruments of $270,602 
(2015 – $183,384). There have been no changes in the Company's risk management 
strategies for the year ended December 31, 2016. 

A sensitivity analysis of the impact on the Company’s net income (loss) for changes in the 
exchange rate on US dollars is presented below: 

 2016 2015 

US dollar strengthens by 4% $ (10,824)  $ (7,335)  
US dollar strengthens by 2%  (5,412)   (3,667)  
No change  -   -  
US dollar weakens by 2%  5,412   3,667  
US dollar weakens by 4%  10,824   7,335  

 
 
MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
The information provided in this report, including the financial statements, is the responsibility of 
management.  In the preparation of these statements, estimates are sometimes necessary to make 
a determination of future values for certain assets or liabilities.  Management believes such 
estimates have been based on careful judgments and have been properly reflected in the financial 
statements. 
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CAUTION REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS 
 
Statements contained in this document, which are not historical facts are forward looking 
statements that involve risks, uncertainties and other factors that could cause actual results to 
differ materially from those expressed or implied by such forward looking statements.  Factors 
that could cause differences include, but are not limited to, volatility and sensitivity to market 
prices for base metals, environmental and safety issues, changes in government regulations and 
policies and significant changes in the supply-demand fundamentals for base metals that could 
negatively affect prices.  Although the Company believes that the assumptions used are 
reasonable, these statements should not be heavily relied upon.  The Company disclaims any 
intention or obligation to update or revise any forward-looking statements whether as a result of 
new information, future events or otherwise. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

To the Shareholders of 
God’s Lake Resources Inc.

Report on the Consolidated Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of God’s Lake Resources Inc., 
which comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as at December 31, 2015 and 2014, 
and the consolidated statements of comprehensive loss, changes in equity, and cash flows for the years
then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Management's Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control 
as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors' Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our 
audits. We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. 
Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audits to 
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material 
misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in 
the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors' judgment, 
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control 
relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in 
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. An audit also includes 
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated 
financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of God’s Lake Resources Inc. as at December 31, 2015 and 2014, and its financial performance 
and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards.

Emphasis of Matter

We draw your attention to note 15 of the notes to the consolidated financial statements which 
describes a restatement for a correction of an error for the year ended December 31, 2014.

DNTW Toronto LLP
April 26, 2016 Chartered Professional Accountants

Toronto, Ontario Licensed Public Accountants
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GOD’S LAKE RESOURCES INC. 
(AN EXPLORATION STAGE COMPANY) 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2015 AND 2014 
(Presented in Canadian Dollars) 
 

  2015 

2014 
Restated 

(See Note 15) 

ASSETS 

Current Assets    
Cash  $ 32,379  $ 85,249  
Securities owned 4  256,340   313,500  
Due from broker   2,354,595   3,516,648  
Sundry receivables   58,039   54,745  

Total Current Assets   2,701,353   3,970,142  

Long Term Assets    
Field equipment 5  42,880   45,255  
Exploration and evaluation assets 6  766,561   393,393  

Total Long Term Assets   809,441   438,648  

Total Assets  $ 3,510,794  $ 4,408,790  

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 

Current Liabilities    
Securities sold short 4 $                   -   $ 975,459  
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities   24,950   26,492  
Loans payable 7 100,000 - 

Total Current Liabilities   124,950   1,001,951  

Long Term Liabilities    
Deferred tax liability 8  261,169   231,920  

Total Liabilities   386,119   1,233,871  

Commitments 9   

Equity 
Common shares 10  8,948,742   8,848,742  
Contributed surplus 10  417,784   417,784  
Deficit   (6,241,851)    (6,091,607)  

Total Equity   3,124,675   3,174,919  

Total Liabilities and Equity  $ 3,510,794  $ 4,408,790  

Approved on Behalf of the Board 

Signed - "Eduard Ludwig" 
Director 

Signed - "Michael Sheridan" 
Director 
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GOD’S LAKE RESOURCES INC. 
(AN EXPLORATION STAGE COMPANY) 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS 
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2015 AND 2014 
(Presented in Canadian Dollars) 
 

  2015 

2014 
Restated 

(See Note 15) 

REVENUE    
Trading income  $ 17,260  $ 8,695  
Oil & gas income                    -   268  

   17,260   8,963  

EXPENSES    
Transaction costs   35,839   37,440  
Professional fees 11 (d)  31,215   26,186  
Rent 11 (b)  24,000   24,000  
Office and general   21,113   36,341  
Filing fees   8,570   8,550  
Depreciation   7,624   9,051  
Travel   5,727   6,492  
Salaries and benefits 11 (d)  4,167                    -  

   138,255   148,060  

LOSS BEFORE TAXES   (120,995)   (139,097)  

Income tax expense 12  29,249   28,143  

NET LOSS AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS  $ (150,244)  $ (167,240)  

 

LOSS PER SHARE   

Basic and diluted $ (0.02)  $ (0.02)  

   

WEIGHTED AVERAGE NUMBER OF SHARES OUTSTANDING   

Basic and diluted  9,184,668   8,499,956  



 

 

GOD'S LAKE RESOURCES INC. 
(AN EXPLORATION STAGE COMPANY) 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2015 AND 2014 
(Presented in Canadian Dollars) 
 

 
Common 

Shares Share Capital 
Contributed 

Surplus Warrants Deficit 
Total 

Equity 

Balance at January 1, 2014  
(Restated – See Note 15)  8,272,888  $ 8,708,742  $ 215,834  $ 201,950  $ (5,924,367)  $ 3,202,159  

Expiration of warrants  -   -   201,950   (201,950)   -   -  

Issuance of common shares          560,000          140,000  -   -   -           140,000 

Net loss  -   -   -   -   (167,240)   (167,240)  

Balance at December 31, 2014 
(Restated – See Note 15)  8,832,888  $ 8,848,742  $ 417,784              -  $ (6,091,607)  $ 3,174,919  

Issuance of common shares            400,000            100,000  -   -   -             100,000 

Net loss  -   -   -   -   (150,244)   (150,244)  

Balance at December 31, 2015  9,232,888  $ 8,948,742  $ 417,784  $ -  $ (6,241,851)  $ 3,124,675  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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GOD’S LAKE RESOURCES INC. 
(AN EXPLORATION STAGE COMPANY) 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2015 AND 2014 
(Presented in Canadian Dollars) 
 

 2015 

2014 
Restated 

(See Note 15) 

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES   
Net loss $ (150,244)  $ (167,240)  

Adjustments for non-cash item:   
Trading (income) loss  (17,260)   (8,695)  
Amortization  7,624   9,051  
Income tax expense  29,249   28,143  

Changes in non-cash working capital:   
Due from broker  1,162,053   (663,152)  
Sundry receivables  (3,294)   (11,193)  
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  (1,542)   10,458  

  1,026,586   (802,628)  

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES   
Proceeds from issuance of common shares            100,000             140,000  
Proceeds from loans payable            100,000  - 

            200,000             140,000  

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES   
Acquisition of field equipment -   (54,306)  
Exploration and evaluation expenditures  (378,417)   (350,439)  
Proceeds on sale (cost of purchases) of securities, net   (901,039)   861,553  

  (1,279,456)   456,808  

NET DECREASE IN CASH  (52,870)   (205,820)  

CASH, BEGINNING OF YEAR  85,249   291,069  

CASH, END OF YEAR $ 32,379  $ 85,249  

 
 

SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION   

   
Interest paid $ -  $ -  
Income taxes paid $ -  $ -  
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1. NATURE OF OPERATIONS 

God’s Lake Resources Inc. (the “Company”), was incorporated in Ontario in 1923, until it was 
continued federally under the laws of Canada in 1978.  The Company is engaged in the 
acquisition, exploration and development of properties for the mining of precious and base 
metals. 

The Company is domiciled in the Province of Ontario, and its registered office address is 73 
Richmond Street West, Suite 107, Toronto, Ontario, M5H 4E8, and its common shares are listed 
on the Canadian Securities Exchange under the symbol GLR.  

The Board approved these consolidated financial statements for issue on April 26, 2016. 

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION 

Statement of Compliance 

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards 
Board (“IASB”). Significant accounting estimates, judgments, and assumptions used or 
exercised by management in preparation of these consolidated financial statements are 
presented below. 

Basis of Measurement 

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except 
for certain financial instruments which are stated at fair value. 

Functional and Presentation Currency 

The Company's functional and presentation currency is the Canadian dollar. 

Basis of Consolidation 

These consolidated financial statements include the accounts of God's Lake Resources Inc. and 
its wholly-owned subsidiary, Golden Brick Exploration Inc. This subsidiary is fully consolidated 
from the date of acquisition, being the date on which the Company obtained control, and will 
continue to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases. The financial statements of 
the subsidiary are prepared for the same reporting period as the Company, using consistent 
accounting policies. All intercompany account balances and transactions have been eliminated 
upon consolidation. 
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2.   BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued) 

Critical Accounting Judgments, Estimates, and Assumptions 

Preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management 
to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting 
policies, the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and 
liabilities, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the period. Estimates 
and assumptions are continuously evaluated and are based on management’s experience and 
other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under 
the circumstances. Uncertainty about these judgments, estimates, and assumptions could 
result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of the asset 
or liability affected in future periods. 

Information about significant areas of judgment and estimation uncertainty considered by 
management in preparing the consolidated financial statements are as follows: 

Going Concern 

Management has made an assessment of the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern 
and is satisfied that the Company has the resources to continue in business for the foreseeable 
future. 

Fair Value of Securities Not Quoted in an Active Market 

Where the fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded on the consolidated 
statements of financial position cannot be derived from active markets, they are determined 
using a variety of valuation techniques. The inputs to these models are derived from 
observable market data where possible, but where observable market data are not available, 
judgment is required to establish fair values.  

Fair Value of Financial Derivatives 

Investments in options and warrants that are not traded on a recognized securities exchange 
do not have a readily available market value. When there are sufficient and reliable observable 
market inputs, a valuation technique is used; if no such market inputs are available, the 
warrants and options are valued at intrinsic value.  

Amount of Accrued Liabilities 

Accrued liabilities are recorded based on an estimate of unbilled work performed by the 
Company's vendors as well as any other payments which the Company will be required to make 
in relation to the current year's operations. Management makes these estimates based on 
historical billings and its knowledge of current operations. These estimates will affect the 
reported amounts of accrued liabilities and expenses.  
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2.   BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued) 

Critical Accounting Judgments, Estimates, and Assumptions (Continued) 

Deferred Tax Assets and Liabilities 

Deferred tax assets are recognized in respect of tax losses and other temporary differences to 
the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the losses can be 
utilized. Judgment is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be 
recognized, based upon the likely timing and level of future taxable profits, together with 
future tax planning strategies. 

A deferred tax liability exists as a result of the involuntary disposal of the Company’s mineral 
property in 2012. The Company was able to defer paying tax on the gain that resulted from the 
disposal and is using its current period losses to reduce the amount of the gain that will 
become taxable. Management has made a judgment that the Company’s exploration credits 
can be used to offset the deferred gain. This estimate affects the income tax liability and 
expense reported in these consolidated financial statements.  

Exploration and Evaluation Assets 

The application of the Company’s accounting policy for exploration and evaluation assets 
requires judgment in determining whether it is likely that costs incurred will be recovered 
through successful exploration and development or sale of the asset. Furthermore, the 
assessment whether economically recoverable reserves exist is itself an estimation process. If, 
after expenditures are capitalized, information becomes available suggesting that the recovery 
of the expenditures is unlikely, the asset is deemed to be impaired and the amount capitalized 
is written off in the consolidated statements of comprehensive loss in the period when the new 
information becomes available.  

Impairment of Assets 

At each consolidated statement of financial position reporting date, the carrying amounts of 
the Company’s assets or cash-generating units are reviewed to determine whether there is any 
indication that those assets are impaired. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount 
of the asset is assessed in order to determine the extent of the impairment, if any. 
Recoverability is dependent on various factors, including the discovery of economically 
recoverable reserves, the ability of the Company to obtain the necessary financing to complete 
the development and upon future profitable production or proceeds from the disposition of 
the assets themselves. Additionally, there are numerous geological, economic, environmental 
and regulatory factors and uncertainties that could impact management’s assessment as to the 
overall viability of its properties or to the ability to generate future cash flows necessary to 
cover or exceed the carrying value of the Company’s exploration and evaluation assets.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

Cash 

Cash consists of deposits at Canadian chartered banks which are available on demand. 

Due From Broker 

Amounts due from brokers represent cash deposited with securities brokers. 

Exploration and Evaluation Assets 

Exploration and evaluation expenditures include the costs of acquiring licenses and claims, 
exploratory drilling, geological and geophysical activities, acquisition of mineral and surface 
rights, directly attributable expenses and technical studies. Exploration and evaluation 
expenditures are capitalized as exploration and evaluation assets when the technical feasibility 
and commercial viability of extracting mineral reserves have yet to be determined. Costs not 
directly attributable to exploration and evaluation activities, including general and 
administrative overhead costs, are expensed in the period in which they occur. 

Exploration and evaluation assets are measured at cost and are not depleted or depreciated. 
Exploration and evaluation assets, net of any impairment loss, are transferred to property and 
equipment when proved and/or probable reserves are determined to exist.  

When a project is deemed to no longer have commercial viable prospects to the Company, 
exploration and evaluation expenditures in respect of that project are deemed to be impaired. 
As a result, those exploration and evaluation expenditure costs, in excess of estimated 
recoveries, are written off to profit or loss. The Company assesses exploration and evaluation 
assets for impairment when facts or circumstances suggest that the carrying amount of an 
asset may exceed its recoverable amount. 

Field Equipment 

Field equipment is stated at historical cost, less accumulated depreciation and impairment 
losses. Cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. 
The carrying amounts of equipment are depreciated to their estimated residual value, over the 
estimated useful lives of each significant component, as follows: 

Mineral exploration equipment 20% straight-line 
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets 

The Company assesses assets or groups of assets for impairment whenever events or changes 
in circumstances indicate that the carrying value of an asset may not be recoverable.  If any 
such indication of impairment exists, the Company makes an estimate of its recoverable 
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its value in 
use. Where the carrying amount of an asset group exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset or 
asset group is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount. In assessing 
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are adjusted for the risks specific to the asset or 
the asset group and are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that 
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money. An assessment is made at 
each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that previously recognized 
impairment may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such indication exists, the 
recoverable amount is estimated. Any previously recognized loss is reversed only if there has 
been a change in the estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the 
last impairment loss was recognized. If that is the case, the carrying amount of the asset is 
increased to its recoverable amount. That increased amount cannot exceed the carrying 
amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss been 
recognized for the asset in prior years. Such reverse is recognized in the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income (loss). After such reversal, the depreciation charge is 
adjusted in future periods to allocate the asset’s revised carrying amount, less any residual 
value, on a systematic basis over its remaining useful life. 

Exploration and evaluation assets are allocated to cash generate units (“CGU”) for the purpose 
of assessing such assets for impairment. CGU is defined as the lowest levels for which there are 
separately identifiable independent cash inflows. Each CGU to which an exploration and 
evaluation asset is allocated shall not be larger than an operating segment. 

Oil and Gas Revenue 

Oil and gas revenue is a royalty that is periodically received on a historical fractional interest in 
a property. Such revenue is recognized upon receipt of funds, at which time the amount has 
become measurable and there are no performance requirements. 

Trading Income (Loss) 

The Company earns trading income (loss) through investment of surplus funds. Trading income 
is comprised of realized and unrealized gains/losses from securities trading transactions, which 
are calculated on an average cost basis for securities owned and on an average proceeds basis 
for securities sold short. Securities trading transactions are accounted for on a trade date basis. 
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3.    SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

Financial Instruments 

(i) Classification: 

Securities owned and sold short are classified upon initial recognition at fair value through 
profit or loss (“FVTPL”). 

Due from broker and sundry receivables are classified as loans and receivables and are 
measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities are classified as other liabilities and are measured 
at amortized cost using the effective interest method. 

(ii) Recognition, derecognition, and measurement: 

Purchases and sales of securities are recognized on the trade date.  

Securities owned and sold short are initially recognized at fair value. Transaction costs are 
expensed as incurred in the consolidated statements of comprehensive loss. Securities are 
derecognized when the rights to receive cash flows from the security have expired or the 
Company has transferred the financial asset. 

Subsequent to initial recognition, all securities owned and sold short are measured at fair 
value. Gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of securities are recognized in 
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income (loss) in the period in which they 
occur. 

(iii) Determination of fair values: 

The determination of fair value requires judgment and is based on market information, 
where available and appropriate. At the end of each financial reporting period, the 
Company’s management estimates the fair value of securities based on the criteria below 
and reflects such valuations in the consolidated financial statements. The Company is also 
required to disclose details of its financial instrument measured at fair value based on the 
transparency of inputs used in measuring the fair value. 
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3.    SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

        Financial Instruments (Continued) 

        (iii).  Determination of fair values (Continued): 

1. Listed securities: 

a. Securities including shares, options, and warrants which are traded in an active 
market, such as on a recognized securities exchange and for which no sales 
restrictions apply, are presented at fair value based on quoted closing trade prices 
on the period-end date. If there were no trades on the period-end date, the 
Company uses the closing trade price on the last day that the security traded. 
These instruments are included in Level 1 in the fair value hierarchy. 

b. Securities which are traded on a recognized securities exchange but which are 
escrowed or otherwise restricted as to sale or transfer are recorded at amounts 
discounted from market value to a maximum of 10%. In determining the discount 
for such securities, the Company considers the nature and length of the 
restriction. These instruments are included in Level 2 in the fair value hierarchy. 

c. For options and warrants which are not traded on a recognized securities 
exchange, no market value is readily available. When there are sufficient and 
reliable observable market inputs, a valuation technique is used. If no such market 
inputs are available or reliable, the options and warrants are valued at intrinsic 
value, which is equal to the higher of the closing trade price of the underlying 
security at the period-end date, less the exercise price of the option or warrant, 
and zero. These instruments are included in Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy. 

2. Unlisted securities: 

All unlisted securities are initially recorded at the transaction price, being the fair value 
at the time of acquisition. Thereafter, at each reporting period, the fair value of 
securities may (depending upon the circumstances) be adjusted using one or more of 
the valuation indicators described below. These financial instruments are included in 
Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. 

The determinations of fair value of the Company’s unlisted securities at other than 
initial cost are subject to certain limitations. Financial information for unlisted 
companies in which the Company has invested may not be available and, even if 
available, that information may be limited and/or unreliable. Use of the valuation 
approach described below may involve uncertainties and determinations based on the 
Company’s judgment and any value estimated from these techniques may not be 
realized or realizable. 
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3.    SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

        Financial Instruments (Continued) 

        (iii) Determination of fair values (Continued): 

                2.    Unlisted securities (Continued): 

Company-specific information is considered when determining whether the fair value 
of an unlisted security should be adjusted upward or downward at the end of each 
reporting period. 

The fair value of an unlisted security may be adjusted if: 

a. there has been a significant subsequent equity financing provided by outside 
investors at a valuation different than the current value of the investee company, 
in which case the fair value of the security is set to the value at which that 
financing took place; 

b. there have been significant corporate, political or operating events affecting the 
investee company that, in management’s opinion, have a material impact on the 
investee company’s prospects and therefore its fair value. In these circumstances, 
the adjustment to the fair value of the security will be based on management’s 
judgment and any value estimated may not be realized or realizable; 

c. the investee company is placed into receivership or bankruptcy; 

d. based on financial information received from the investee company, it is apparent 
to the Company that the investee company is unlikely to be able to continue as a 
going concern; 

e. receipt/denial by the investee company of environmental, mining, aboriginal or 
similar approvals, which allow the investee company to proceed/prohibit with its 
project(s); 

f. filing by the investee company of a National Instrument 43-101 technical report in 
respect of a previously non-compliant resource; 

g. release by the investee company of positive/negative operating results; and 

h. important positive/negative management changes by the investee company that 
the Company’s management believes will have a very positive/negative impact on 
the investee company’s ability to achieve its objectives and build value for 
shareholders.  
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3.    SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

       Financial Instruments (Continued) 

        (iii) Determination of fair values (continued): 

                2.    Unlisted securities (Continued): 

Adjustments to the fair value of an unlisted security will be based upon 
management’s judgment and any value estimated may not be realized or realizable. 
The resulting values may differ from values that would be realized if a ready market 
existed. In addition, the amounts at which the Company’s unlisted securities could be 
disposed of currently may differ from the carrying value assigned. 

(iv) Offsetting of financial instruments: 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the 
consolidated statement of financial position if, and only if, there is a currently enforceable 
legal right to offset the recognized amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net 
basis, or to realize the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously. 

(v) Financial instruments at amortized cost 

Financial assets that are managed to collect contractual cash flows on specified dates are 
classified as subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. 
These financial assets are recognized initially at fair value plus directly attributable 
transaction costs. 

A financial asset is derecognized when the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have 
expired or the Company has transferred substantially all of the risks and rewards of the 
asset. The Company assesses at each reporting date whether there is any objective 
evidence that a financial asset is impaired, the impairment provision is based upon the 
expected loss. 

Financial liabilities, other than those classified as FVTPL are classified as subsequently 
measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. These financial liabilities 
are recognized initially at fair value net of directly attributable transaction costs. 

The effective interest method is a method for calculating the amortized cost of a financial 
asset or financial liability and of allocating the interest income or interest expense over the 
relevant period. 
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3.    SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

Share Capital 

Common shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of 
common shares are recognized as a deduction from equity. Common shares issued for 
consideration other than cash, are valued based on their market value at the date the shares 
are issued.  

The Company has adopted a residual value method with respect to the measurement of shares 
and warrants issued as private placement units. The residual value method first allocates value 
to the more easily measurable component based on fair value and then the residual value, if 
any, to the less easily measurable component. The Company considers the fair value of 
common shares issued in the private placements to be the more easily measurable component 
and the common shares are valued at their fair value, as determined by the closing market 
price on the announcement date. The balance, if any, is allocated to the attached warrants. Any 
fair value attributed to the warrants is recorded as contributed surplus. 

Flow-Through Shares 

Resource expenditure deductions for income tax purposes related to exploration activities 
funded by flow-through share arrangements are renounced to investors under Canadian 
income tax legislation. On issuance, the Company separates the flow-through share into i) a 
flow-through share premium, equal to the estimated premium, if any investors pay for the 
flow-through feature, which is recognized as a liability and ii) share capital. Upon expenses 
being incurred, the Company recognizes a deferred tax liability for the amount of tax reduction 
renounced to the shareholders. The premium is recognized as other income and the related 
deferred tax is recognized as a tax provision. To the extent that eligible deferred income tax 
assets are available, the Company will reduce the deferred income tax liability and record a 
deferred income tax recovery.  Proceeds received from the issuance of flow-through shares 
must be expended on Canadian resource property exploration within a period of two years. 
Failure to expend such funds as required under the Canadian income tax legislation will result 
in a Part XII.6 tax to the Company on flow-through proceeds renounced under the “Look-back” 
Rule. When applicable, this tax is accrued as a financial expense until paid. 

Loss Per Share 

Basic net loss per share is calculated based on the weighted average number of common shares 
outstanding during the year. Diluted net loss per share is determined by adjusting the weighted 
average number of common shares outstanding for the effects of all potentially dilutive shares. 
Instruments which would be anti-dilutive are not included in the calculation of diluted loss per 
share. 
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3.    SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

Share-Based Payments 

The Company’s stock option plan allows Company employees, directors, officers and 
consultants to acquire shares of the Company. The fair value of options granted is recognized 
as share-based payment expense with a corresponding increase in equity reserves. Fair value is 
measured at grant date, and each tranche is recognized using the graded vesting method over 
the period during which the options vest. The fair value of the options granted is measured 
using the Black-Scholes option pricing model, taking into account the terms and conditions 
upon which the options were granted. At each financial position reporting date, the amount 
recognized as an expense is adjusted to reflect the actual number of stock options that are 
expected to vest. In situations where equity instruments are issued to consultants and some or 
all of the goods or services received by the entity as consideration cannot be specifically 
identified, they are measured at the fair value of the share-based payment. Otherwise, share-
based payments are measured at the fair value of goods or services received. 

Decommissioning and Restoration Provisions 

Decommissioning and restoration provisions are recorded when a present legal or constructive 
obligation exists as a result of past events where it is probable that an outflow of resources 
embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate 
of the amount of the obligation can be made.  

The amount recognized as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to 
settle the present obligation at the reporting date, taking into account the risks and 
uncertainties surrounding the obligation and discount rates. Where a provision is measured 
using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the 
present value of those cash flows discounted for the market discount rate. Over time the 
discounted liability is increased for the changes in the present value based on the current 
market discount rates and liability risks. When some or all of the economic benefits required to 
settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, the receivable is recognized 
as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received and the amount 
receivable can be measured reliably. Changes in reclamation estimates are accounted for 
prospectively as a change in the corresponding capitalized cost. 

The Company did not have any decommissioning and restoration provisions for the years 
presented. 
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3.    SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

Income Taxes 

(i)  Current income tax:  

Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at 
the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax 
rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantively 
enacted by the end of the reporting period.  

Current tax assets and current tax liabilities are only offset if a legally enforceable right 
exists to set off the amounts and the intention is to settle on a net basis, or to realize the 
asset and settle the liability simultaneously. Current income tax relating to items 
recognized directly in equity is recognized in equity and not through profit or loss.  

(ii)  Deferred tax:  

Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences at the 
reporting date between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for 
financial reporting purposes. Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable 
temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognized for all deductible temporary 
differences, carry-forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses, to the extent that it 
is probable that profit will be available against which the deductible temporary difference 
and the carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilized. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply 
in the year when the asset is realized or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax 
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the consolidated statements of 
financial position date. Deferred tax relating to items recognized directly in equity is also 
recognized in equity and not in the consolidated statements of comprehensive loss.  

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each consolidated statement of 
financial position date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient 
profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilized. 
Unrecognized deferred tax assets are reassessed at each consolidated statement of 
financial position date and are recognized to the extent that it has become probable that 
future profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered. The Company does not 
record deferred tax assets to the extent that it considers deductible temporary differences, 
the carry-forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses cannot be utilized. 
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3.    SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

      Change in Accounting Policies 

Effective January 1, 2015, the Company has adopted the following new and revised standards, 
along with any consequential amendments.  These changes were made in accordance with the 
applicable transitional provisions. 

(a) IFRS 9, Financial Instruments 

IFRS 9 introduces a logical, single classification and measurement approach for financial 
assets that reflects the business model in which they are managed and their cash flow 
characteristics. Built upon this is a forward-looking expected credit loss model that will 
result in more timely recognition of loan losses and is a single model that is applicable to 
all financial instruments subject to impairment accounting. The Company's financial 
instruments are limited to cash and trade receivables and payables, and accordingly, there 
was no impact on the Company's consolidated financial statements due to this standard.  

(b) IFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers 

IFRS 15 provides a single, principles based five-step model that will apply to all contracts 
with customers, with limited exceptions, including all leases and financial instruments. In 
addition to the five-step model, the standard specifies how to account for the incremental 
costs of obtaining a contract and the costs directly related to fulfilling a contract. The 
Company's contracts with customers do not involve incremental costs for being obtained 
or fulfilled. Accordingly, there was no impact on the Company's consolidated financial 
statements due to this standard. 

 

4. SECURITIES OWNED AND SOLD SHORT 

Securities Owned 

The components of securities owned are as follows: 

 2015 2014 

 Cost Fair Value Cost Fair Value 

     
Equities $ 261,783  $ 256,340  $ 328,017  $ 313,500  
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4. SECURITIES OWNED AND SOLD SHORT (Continued) 

Securities Sold Short 

The components of securities sold short are as follows: 

 2015 2014 

 Proceeds Fair Value Proceeds Fair Value 

Equities $                 -  $                 -  $ 921,297  $ 955,186  
Options          -           -   9,403                    20,273 

 $                  -  $                  -  $ 930,700  $ 975,459  

Fair Value Hierarchy 

All long and short securities are categorized into Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy and are 
measured based on quoted market prices, with one exception. As at December 31, 2015, the 
Company holds one long position in a public company that is not listed on a securities 
exchange. This security is categorized into Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy and is valued 
based on non-observable market inputs.  

There were no transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy during the years presented. 

The following table presents the changes in fair value measurements of financial instruments 
classified as Level 3.  

 2015 2014 

Opening balance – January 1 $ 200,000  $ -  
Purchases  -   200,000  
Proceeds on sale  -   -  
Net realized gains (losses)  -   -  
Net unrealized gains (losses)  -   -  
Transfers out of Level 3  -   -  

Closing balance – December 31 $ 200,000  $ 200,000  

The investee company has not performed any equity financings in the 2015 year, however the 
investee did issue options to officers and directors at a higher strike price than the price used 
by the Company in calculating fair value. Management has reviewed the available information 
of the investee and there is no indication that it has not been granted or denied any required 
approvals; there have been no positive or negative management changes; and it has not ceased 
to be a going concern. Accordingly, the Company has determined that the fair value has not 
significantly changed as at December 31, 2015.  
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5. FIELD EQUIPMENT 

The following is a continuity schedule of field equipment: 

Cost 2015 2014 

Balance – beginning of  year $                54,306  $ -  
Additions                  5,249   54,306  
Disposals  -   -  

Balance – end of year $ 59,555  $ 54,306  

 

Accumulated Amortization 2015 2014 

Balance – beginning of  year $                  9,051  $ -  
Amortization  7,624   9,051  

Balance – end of year $ 16,675  $ 9,051  

 

Carrying Value 2015 2014 

Balance $ 42,880  $ 45,255  
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6. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS 

The following is a continuity of the Company’s exploration and evaluation assets for the year 
ended December 31, 2015: 

 
Muskasenda 
Lake Project 

Castlewood 
Lake Project 

Shaw 
Township 

Project Total 

     
Acquisition Costs     

Balance – December 31, 2014 $ -  $         40,000  $           31,021 $           71,021 
Additions  -   -   -   -  
Impairment  -   -   -   -  

Balance – December 31, 2015 $ -  $ 40,000  $ 31,021  $ 71,021  

     

Deferred Exploration Costs     

Balance – December 31, 2014 $ 49,424  $       272,948  $ -  $ 322,372  
Additions                     
   Rehabilitation  -  92,750  -  92,750 
   Consulting  -  40,250 31,500 71,750 
   Travel  -  37,401 13,838 51,239 
   Supplies and services  -  61,389 23,456 90,094 
   Contractor  -  16,309 23,250 39,559 
   Building  -   -  33,024 33,024 
Reallocation – building  -  (23,181) 23,181  -  

Total additions  -  224,918 148,249 373,167 
Impairment  -               -  -   -  

Balance – December 31, 2015 $ 49,424  $ 497,866  148,249 695,539 

Total – December 31, 2015 $ 49,424  $ 537,866  $ 179,270  $ 766,560  
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6.  EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS (Continued) 

The following is a continuity of the Company’s exploration and evaluation assets for the year 
ended December 31, 2014: 

 
Muskasenda 
Lake Project 

Castlewood 
Lake Project 

Shaw 
Township 

Project Total 

     
Acquisition Costs     

Balance – December 31, 2013 $          -  $        -  $         - $ -  
Additions  -  40,000 31,021 71,021 
Impairment  -   -   -   -  

Balance – December 31, 2014 $ -  $ 40,000  $ 31,021  $         71,021  

     
Deferred Exploration Costs     
Balance – December 31, 2013 $         42,954  $        -  $ -  $       322,372  
Additions                               
   Consulting 5,000 75,208  -  80,208 
   Travel  -  90,334  -  90,334 
   Supplies & Services  -  37,020  -  37,020 
   Contractor  -  47,205  -  47,205 
   Building  -  23,181  -  23,181 
Staking 1,470  -  -  1,470 
Impairment  -   -  -   -  

Balance – December 31, 2014 $         49,424  $ 312,948  $ 31,021  $ 393,393  

Muskasenda Lake Project 

In September 2013, the Company acquired the Muskasenda Lake Project, which is a 100% 
interest in unpatented mining claims at no cost and with no underlying royalty, in English and 
Beemer Townships in the District of Cochrane, Porcupine Mining Division. The claims are 
accessible by road, approximately 40 kms south of Timmins, Ontario, Canada. Historic 
published information indicates numerous gold occurrences, some of which have been 
trenched and drilled. Exploration activities on this property included prospecting, geological 
mapping and sampling. During the year, the Company allowed 34 claim units to expire, in order 
to focus on the most promising claim units. As at December 31, 2015, the Company has 18 
claim units in the Muskasenda Lake Project. 
  



GOD'S LAKE RESOURCES INC. 
(AN EXPLORATION STAGE COMPANY) 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
DECEMBER 31, 2015 AND 2014 
(Presented in Canadian Dollars) 
 

23 

 

6.  EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS (Continued) 

Castlewood Lake Project 

On January 27, 2014, the Company acquired a 100% interest in one unpatented mining claim in 
the Castlewood Lake Area of the Thunder Bay Mining Division (the Sage Gold Project) for 
$40,000.  A total of 16 claims were purchased. 

This project is subject to a net smelter returns royalty as described in note 9. 

Shaw Township Project 

On November 4, 2014 the Company completed the purchase of a 100% interest in two patented 
mining claims, which include both mining and surface rights, in Shaw Township, near Timmins, 
Ontario.  A commitment of $700 per annum is due to the City of Timmins for property tax and 
$80 per annum to the Ontario Government for maintaining its patents.  

 

7. LOANS PAYABLE 

The Company has loans payable as follows: 

 2015 2014 

   
AER Nickel Corporation Limited(i) $ 42,000 $ -  
Mini Metals Inc. (i)  58,000   -  

 $ 100,000  $ -  

(i) The above corporations are controlled by a director of the Company. These loans are 
unsecured, non-interest bearing, and are due on demand. These loans were provided to 
the Company for general working capital purposes. 
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8. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITY 

The components of deferred income taxes have been determined at the combined federal and 
provincial statutory rate of 26.50% (2014 – 26.50%) and are as follows: 

 2015 2014 

   
Deferred gain on involuntary disposition of property (i) $ (225,118) $ (278,118)  
Exploration and evaluation assets  (36,485)   40,365  
Securities owned and sold short  721   5,168  
Field equipment  (702)   600  
Non-capital losses  414   65  

Deferred income tax liability $ (261,169)  $ (231,920)  

(i) The Company has filed an election with the Canada Revenue Agency to defer the gain that 
was realized on the involuntary disposition of its mineral property in 2012. This election 
requires that the Company incurs expenses and deductions of $849,500 
(2014 - $1,049,500) prior to the end of fiscal 2022. To the extent that the Company does 
not incur these expenses, the surplus will be taxed retroactive to the year of disposition, 
being 2012. As at December 31, 2015, the Company has unapplied mineral exploration 
credits of $628,883 which it intends to use in future years to reduce the deferred gain 
(2014 – $545,715). 

 

9. COMMITMENTS 

Mineral Claims 

In order to keep its mining claims in good standing with the Ontario Ministry of Northern 
Development and Mines, the Company is required to perform work totaling $13,600 on the 
claims for the Muskasenda Lake and Castlewood Lake Projects. The due dates for these 
commitments range from August 7, 2016 to October 20, 2018. If the Company does not 
perform the required work on a claim before the due date, it will forfeit its rights to the claim. 

Royalty 

The Castlewood Lake Project is subject to a net smelter returns royalty of 3% for precious 
metals and 2% for base metals payable to the original property vendors. 
  



GOD'S LAKE RESOURCES INC. 
(AN EXPLORATION STAGE COMPANY) 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
DECEMBER 31, 2015 AND 2014 
(Presented in Canadian Dollars) 
 

25 

 

10. SHARE CAPITAL 

(a) Authorized 

Unlimited number of common shares, no par value. 

(b) Issued and Outstanding 

  
Number of 

Common Shares Amount 

 Balance as of December 31, 2013   8,272,888  $ 8,708,742  

 Shares issued (i)  560,000   140,000  

 Balance as of December 31, 2014              8,832,888 $ 8,848,742 

 Shares issued (ii)                 400,000                 100,000 

 Balance as of December 31, 2015  9,232,888  $ 8,948,742  

(i) On October 14, 2014, the Company issued 560,000 flow-through shares at a price of 
$0.25 per share for gross proceeds of $140,000. These shares were issued to Tough 
Oakes Exploration Ltd., a corporation controlled by a director. The Company 
determined that there was no flow-through premium upon issuance of these shares.  

(ii) On February 13, 2015, the Company issued 400,000 flow-through shares at a price of 
$0.25 per share for gross proceeds of $100,000.  These shares were issued to SPG 
Royalties Inc., a corporation controlled by a director. The Company determined that 
there was no flow-through premium upon issuance of these shares. 

(c) Warrants 

As of December 31, 2013 the Company had 5,110,000 warrants outstanding with an 
exercise price of $0.75 per share. The warrants expired on June 12, 2014. Upon expiration, 
the Company reallocated $201,950 within equity from warrants to contributed surplus. 
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10. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued) 

(d) Stock Option Plan 

The Company has a stock option plan (the “Plan”), whereby it can grant options for the 
purchase of common shares to its directors, officers and certain consultants.  The 
maximum aggregate number of shares that may be issuable pursuant to options granted 
under the Plan shall not exceed 10% of the issued and outstanding shares of the Company.  
No more than 5% of the issued shares of the Company may be granted to any one 
optionee, and no more than 2% of the issued shares of the Company may be granted to 
any one consultant or employee conducting “Investor Relations Activities” in any twelve- 
month period.  The options are non-transferable and non-assignable and may be granted 
for a term not exceeding five years.  The exercise price of the options is fixed by the board 
of directors of the Company at the time of grant at the market price of the common 
shares, subject to all applicable regulatory requirements.  The Company did not grant any 
options during the years ended December 31, 2015 or 2014. The Company currently does 
not have any options outstanding. 

 (e) Loss Per Share 

Basic and diluted loss per common share are calculated as follows: 

Numerator: 2015 2014 

Net loss $ (150,244)  $ (167,240)  

 

Denominator: 2015 2014 

Weighted average number of common shares 
outstanding - diluted  9,184,668   8,499,956  

 

Loss per share: 2015 2014 

Basic and Diluted $ (0.02)  $ (0.02)  
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11.  RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

All transactions with related parties have occurred in the normal course of operations. 

(a) A director of the Company, Eduard Ludwig, was advanced $4,000 on March 2, 2015.  This 
advance remains outstanding as at December 31, 2015. The loan is unsecured, non-
interest bearing, and is due on demand. 

(b) The Company began subleasing its office space from Sheridan Brothers Limited 
Partnership, which is an entity controlled by a director, on January 1, 2014. Rent paid for 
the year ended December 31, 2015 totaled $24,000 (2014 - $24,000) and is paid on a 
month-to-month basis.  

(c) Related parties subscribed and purchased flow-through common shares from the 
Company as described in notes 10 (b).  

(d) Key management personnel are defined as those individuals having authority and 
responsibility for planning, directing, and controlling the activities of the Company. God's 
Lake considers its officers and directors to be its key management personnel. 
Compensation paid to key management personnel, was $81,767 and 52,400 in fiscal years 
2015 and 2014, respectively. These expenditures were allocated as follows in the 
consolidated statements of financial position and the consolidated statements of 
comprehensive loss: 

 

 2015 2014 

Exploration and evaluation assets $ 65,600  $ 40,400  
Professional fees 12,000 12,000 
Salaries and benefits 4,167 - 

 $ 81,767  $ 52,400  

(e) The Company has loans payable to two related corporations as described in note 7. 
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12. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 

The following is a reconciliation of income tax expense to the combined federal and provincial 
statutory income tax rate: 

 2015 2014 

   
Loss before taxes $ (120,995)  $ (139,097)  
Statutory tax rate  26.5%   26.5%  

Expected tax recovery at statutory rates  (32,064)   (44,319)  
Non-taxable portion of trading gains  (2,287)   72,462  
Renunciation on flow-through shares  63,600   -  

Income tax expense $ 29,249  $ 28,413  

The components of income tax expense are as follows: 

 2015 2014 

   
Current income taxes $ -  $ -  
Deferred income taxes  29,249   28,413  

Income tax expense $ 29,249  $ 28,413  

 

13. MANAGEMENT OF CAPITAL 

The Company includes the following in its managed capital: 

 2015 2014 

   
Common shares $ 8,948,742  $ 8,708,742  
Contributed surplus  417,784   417,784  
Deficit  (6,241,851)   (6,091,607)  

 $ 3,124,675  $ 3,174,919  

The Company’s objectives when managing capital is to ensure that it maintains the level of 
capital necessary to continue its exploration work for viable mineral properties. The Company 
manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, based on the funds available to the 
Company and the anticipated future requirements of its mineral property. 
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13. MANAGEMENT OF CAPITAL (Continued) 

The Company will continue to assess new properties and seek to acquire an interest in them if 
it feels there is sufficient geologic or economic potential and if it has adequate financial 
resources to do so. 

The Board of Directors does not establish quantitative return on capital criteria for 
management, but rather relies on the expertise of the Company’s management to sustain 
future development of a business. The Company is not subject to externally imposed capital 
requirements. 

14. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

Credit Risk 

Credit risk is the risk of loss associated with a counter-party’s inability to fulfil its payment 
obligations. The Company's maximum exposure to credit risk as of December 31, 2015 is 
$2,412,634 (2014 - $3,571,393), being the value of the amounts due from brokers and sundry 
receivables. These receivables consist of cash held on deposit by the brokers holding the 
Company’s securities, sales taxes recoverable from the Government of Canada, and an advance 
to a director of the Company.  Management believes these receivables are a low credit risk. 
There have been no changes to the Company's methods for managing credit risk during the 
year.  

Liquidity Risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will have sufficient cash resources to meet its 
financial obligations as they come due. The Company does not generate cash flows from its 
principal operations of mineral exploration and relies on its cash balance and securities 
transactions to pay its liabilities. Management regularly reviews securities investments to 
ensure it maintains sufficient cash on hand for continued operations. 

There have been no changes to management’s methods for managing liquidity risk since 
December 31, 2014. The Company has working capital of $2,576,403 as of December 31, 2015 
(2014 - $2,968,191) and in management’s judgment, the Company has sufficient working 
capital to continue to fund its exploration work and to pay its liabilities for the next fiscal year. 
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14. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 

The following is a maturity analysis of financial liabilities based on their contractual maturities: 

 Payments due by period 

 
Less than 

1 year 
1 - 3 

years 
4 - 5 

years Total 

December 31, 2015     
Securities sold short $               -   $ -  $ -  $                -  
Accounts payable  24,950   -   -   24,950  
Loans payable  100,000   -   -   100,000  

 $ 124,950  $ -  $ -  $ 124,950  

December 31, 2014     
Securities sold short $ 975,459  $ -  $ -  $ 975,459  
Accounts payable  26,492   -   -   26,492  

  $ 1,001,951  $ -  $ -  $ 1,001,951  

The following is a liquidity analysis of the Company's assets: 

  Liquidity by period 

 
Less than 

1 year 
More than 

1 year Non-liquid Total 

December 31, 2015     
Cash $ 32,379  $ -  $ -  $ 32,379  
Securities owned  256,340   -   -   256,340  
Due from broker  2,354,595   -   -   2,354,595  
Sundry receivables  58,039   -   -   58,039  
Field equipment  -   -   42,880   42,880  
Exploration and evaluation costs  -   -   766,561   766,561  

 $ 2,701,353  $ -  $ 809,441  $ 3,510,794  

December 31, 2014     
Cash $ 85,249  $ -  $ -  $ 85,249  
Securities owned  313,500   -   -   313,500  
Due from broker  3,516,648   -   -   3,516,648  
Sundry receivables  54,745   -   45,255   54,745  
Exploration and evaluation costs  -   -   393,393   45,255  

  
 $    3,970,142  

$ -  $ 438,648  $ 4,408,790  
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14. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 

Market Risk 

Market risk is comprised of equity price risk, foreign currency risk, and interest rate risk. The 
Company’s exposure to these risks is described below. 

Equity Price Risk 

Equity price risk is the risk that the fair value of, or future cash flows from, the Company’s 
financial instruments will significantly fluctuate due to changes in stock market prices.  The 
value of the Company's securities owned and sold short are affected by changes in market 
prices. Management reduces its exposure to market prices by holding securities for short 
periods of time. The Company also manages market risk by having a diversified portfolio which 
is not singularly exposed to any one or class of issuers. There have been no changes in the 
Company's risk management strategies for the year ended December 31, 2015. 

Equity Price Risk (Continued) 

A sensitivity analysis of the impact on the net income (loss) of the Company for changes in the 
market prices of securities owned and sold short is presented below: 

 2015 2014 

Market rises by 10% $ 25,634  $ (159,271)  
Market rises by 5%  12,817  (57,463) 
No change  -  20,273 
Market falls by 5%  (12,817)   49,760  
Market falls by 10%  (25,634)   (12,057)  

The above sensitivity analysis does not give effect to the timing of changes in fair value, or the 
effect of management actions that may be taken to mitigate unfavorable market movements. 
The effect of timing is relevant to the above analysis, as the Company holds several positions in 
options which have short term expiry dates. 
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14. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 

Foreign Currency Risk 

Foreign currency risk is the risk that fluctuations in the rates of exchange on foreign currency 
would impact the Company’s future cash flows.  The Company is exposed to foreign exchange 
fluctuations in cash and portfolio securities that are denominated in United States (“US”) 
dollars. The Company has a net asset (liability) exposure to US dollar instruments of $(183,384) 
(2014 – ($55,156)). There have been no changes in the Company's risk management strategies 
for the year ended December 31, 2015. 

A sensitivity analysis of the impact on the Company’s net income (loss) for changes in the 
exchange rate on US dollars is presented below: 

 2015 2014 

Increases by 4% $ (7,335)  $ (2,206)  
Increases by 2%  (3,667)   (1,103)  
No change  -   -  
Decreases by 2%  3,667   1,103  
Decreases by 4%  7,335   2,206  

 

15. CORRECTION OF AN ERROR 

In computing the deferred income tax liability, the Company did not previously include the 
book value of its exploration and evaluation assets as a reduction against the exploration tax 
credits. The consolidated financial statements have been retrospectively restated as detailed in 
the following tables. 

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 

The following is a continuity of the changes to the consolidated statement of financial position 
as at December 31, 2014:  

 
Previously 
Reported 

Correction of 
Error Restated 

Deferred tax liability $ 122,503  $ 109,417  $ 231,920  

Total liabilities  1,124,454   109,417   1,233,871  

Deficit  (5,982,190)   (109,417)   (6,091,607)  

Total equity  3,284,336   (109,417)   3,174,919  
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15. CORRECTION OF AN ERROR (Continued) 

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity 

The following is a continuity of the changes to the consolidated statement of changes in equity 
for the year ended December 31, 2014:  

 
Previously 
Reported 

Correction of 
Error Restated 

Deficit – December 31, 2013 $ (5,846,496)  $ (77,871)  $ (5,924,367)  

Net loss  (135,694)   (31,546)   (167,240)  

Deficit – December 31, 2014  (5,982,190)   (109,417)   (6,091,607)  

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Loss 

The following is a continuity of the changes to the consolidated statement of comprehensive 
loss for the year ended December 31, 2014:  

 
Previously 
Reported 

Correction of 
Error Restated 

Net loss before taxes $ (139,097)  $ -  $ (139,097)  

Income tax expense  3,403   (31,546)   (28,143)  

Net loss and comprehensive loss  (135,694)   (31,546)   (167,240)  

Loss per share  (0.02)   (0.00)   (0.02)  

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 

The following is a continuity of the changes to the consolidated statement of cash flows for the 
year ended December 31, 2014:  

 
Previously 
Reported 

Correction of 
Error Restated 

Net loss $ (135,694)  $ (31,546)  $ (167,240)  

Income tax expense (recovery)  (3,403)   31,546   28,143  

Cash flows from operations  (802,628)   -   (802,628)  

 



 GOD’S LAKE RESOURCES INC. 
MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2015 

 
This Management Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”) should be read in conjunction with the 
audited consolidated financial statements of God’s Lake Resources Inc. (the “Company”), for the 
year ended December 31, 2015 and the related notes.  The Company’s reporting currency is the 
Canadian dollar and all amounts in this MD&A are expressed in Canadian dollars.  This MD&A is 
prepared as of April 26, 2016. 

 
The audited consolidated financial statements as at and for the year ended December 31, 2015 
have been prepared in accordance with IFRS accounting policies.   
 
The following MD&A may contain forward-looking statements.  Forward-looking statements are 
based on current expectations that involve a number of risks and uncertainties which could cause 
actual events or results to differ materially from those reflected herein.  Forward-looking statements 
are based on the estimates and opinions of management of the Company at the time the 
statements were made. 
  
Additional information relating to the Company is on the System for Electronic Document Analysis 
and Retrieval (SEDAR) at www.sedar.com. 
 
OVERALL PERFORMANCE 
 
The Company is considered to be an exploration stage entity, and currently holds three exploration 
properties. 
 
The Muskasenda Lake Project is located in English Township in the District of Cochrane, Porcupine 
Mining Division.   The claims are accessible by road, located approximately 40 kms south of 
Timmins, Ontario, Canada. The Company acquired the claims on September 10, 2013 at no cost 
and with no underlying royalty.  Historic, published information indicates numerous gold 
occurrences, some of which have been trenched and drilled.  Exploration activities on this property 
include prospecting, geological mapping and sampling for September and October 2013.  Results 
are pending.  A second phase of work is anticipated and will be announced upon the compilation 
of new results with historic work. The claim group has been reduced to a total of 12 units.  A total 
of $4,800 worth of assessment work is required to maintain the claim in good standing by November 
21, 2016.  In 2016, the Company intends to continue with exploration on the Muskasenda Lake 
Project.  The work will include drilling and blasting rock for sampling and metallurgical work. 
 
On January 27, 2014, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company acquired a 100% interest in one 
unpatented mining claim in the Castlewood Lake Area of the Thunder Bay Mining Division for 
$40,000.  A total of 16 claims were purchased.  The property was acquired for its previous high-
grade gold results.  A site visit in early July 2014, evaluated the exposed quartz veining on the 
property, with all 20 grab samples containing visible gold.   
 
During August and September 2014 a field crew was sent to the property to begin prospecting and 
sampling the area around the previously located high grade gold veins.  A total of 110, 20 kg 
samples were taken from the existing veins utilizing GPS for control along with a 1m x1m grid over 
all the veins.  Samples will be crushed, pulverized to 80% minus 200 mesh and passed through a 
lab size nelson concentrator.  Concentrates produced will be assayed to determine the amount of 
native gold present.  An initial assay will be taken before the sample is concentrated to determine 
the head grade.  During March 2015 a rehabilitation program was undertaken filling larger open 
holes which were created by previous operators.  An old shaft was excavated to bottom which was 
determined to be at 7 metres.  The walls of the shaft were blasted inward and filled with rock 

http://www.sedar.com/


 

 

 

2 

covered by a layer of sand.  In October 2015 a final clean-up of the site was undertaken, removing 
any garbage that was buried in the snow from the March program.    
 
On November 4, 2014, the Company completed the purchase of two patented mining claims, which 
include both mining and surface rights, in Shaw Township, near Timmins, Ontario.  The acquisition 
cost $31,021 for a 100% interest.  The property was purchased to build a storage facility for 
equipment.  Furthermore, the land is strategically placed geologically within the Shaw Dome 
structure, and was also acquired for its favourable geology and strategic location.  A commitment 
of $700 per annum is due to the City of Timmins for property tax and $80 per annum to the Ontario 
Government for maintaining its patents.  Additions to the land package may be made, as new 
claims become available.  There is currently no work planned for 2016 on both the Castlewood 
Lake property or the Shaw Township property. 
 
The Company continues to evaluate new properties and prospects for future exploration. 
 
In addition to the information contained in this management discussion and analysis, and the risk 
factors discussed below under “Risks and Uncertainties”, shareholders should carefully consider 
the risk factors which may have a material adverse effect on the business, financial condition or 
results of operations of the Company.   
 
EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS 

The following is a continuity of the Company’s exploration and evaluation assets for the year ended 
December 31, 2015: 

 
Muskasenda 
Lake Project 

Castlewood 
Lake Project 

Shaw 
Township 

Project Total 
     
Acquisition Costs     

Balance – December 31, 2014 $ -  $         40,000 $           31,021 $           71,021 
Additions  -   -   -   -  
Impairment  -   -   -   -  

Balance – December 31, 2015 $ -  $ 40,000  $ 31,021  $ 71,021  
     

Deferred Exploration Costs     

Balance – December 31, 2014 $ 49,424  
$       272,948

  $ -  $ 322,372  
Additions     
   Rehabilitation  -  92,750  -  92,750 
   Consulting  -  40,250 31,500 71,750 
   Travel  -  37,401 13,838 51,239 
   Supplies and services  -  66,638 23,456 90,094 
   Contractor  -  16,309 23,250 39,559 
   Building  -   -  33,024 33,024 
Reallocation – building  -  (23,181) 23,181  -  
Reallocation – field equipment  -  (5,249)  -  (5,249) 

Total additions  -  224,918 148,249 373,167 
Impairment  -              -   -   -  

Balance – December 31, 2015 $ 49,424  $ 497,866  148,249 695,539 

Total – December 31, 2015 $ 49,424  $ 537,866  $ 179,270  $ 766,560  
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SELECTED ANNUAL INFORMATION 
 
Statement of Financial Position Highlights  
 

 December 31,  
2015 

December 31, 
2014 

(Restated) 

December 31,  
2013 

(Restated) 

Current Assets 2,701,353 3,970,142 3,873,497 
Current Liabilities    124,950  1,001,951   510,515 
Working Capital 2,576,403 2,968,191 3,362,982 
Total Assets 3,510,794 4,408,790 3,916,451 
Shareholders’ Equity 3,124,675 3,174,919 3,202,159 

 
Statement of Comprehensive Loss – years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014. 
 

 Year Ended 
 December 31, 

2015 
 

Year Ended 
 December 31, 

2014 
(Restated) 

Year Ended 
 December 31, 

2013 
(Restated) 

Revenue Income (Loss)  17,260 8,963 (315,625) 
Total Expenses   138,420 148,060 123,877 
Loss Before Taxes  (121,160) (139,097) (439,502) 
Income Tax Expense   29,249 28,143 122,688 
Net Comprehensive Loss (150,244) (167,240) (316,814) 
Net Loss Per Common Share – basic 
and diluted 

 
$(0.02) 

 
$(0.02) 

 
$(0.03) 

 
 
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 
 
 
Year Ended December 31, 2015 
 
For the year ended December 31, 2015, the Company had revenue of $17,260 compared to 
revenue of $8,963 for the year ended December 31, 2014.  The increase in revenue from 2015 to 
2014 relates to trading in securities. 
 
For the year ended December 31, 2015 the Company incurred expenses of $138,255 compared to 
$148,060 for 2014.  Transaction costs for fiscal 2015 were $35,839 compared to $37,440 for fiscal 
2014.  The slight decrease was due to slightly fewer trades being transacted.   
 
Office and general expense for fiscal 2015 were $21,113 compared with $36,341 for fiscal 2014.  
The decrease is mainly attributable to lower business promotion expenses.   
 
Professional fees, being audit, legal and accounting services, were $31,215 in fiscal 2015 
compared to $26,186 for fiscal 2014.  Audit fees were higher in fiscal 2014 than anticipated due to 
additional work involved in restating the prior year’s financials to recognize the effect of the tax 
liability incurred on the expropriation of its mining property in 2012.  
 
Rent expenses for both 2015 and 2014 remained the same at $24,000.   
 
Depreciation decreased from $9,051 in fiscal 2014 to $7,789 in fiscal 2015, as the netbook value 
of equipment decreased and no purchases of depreciable property were made in fiscal 2015.  
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Filing fees remained constant year over year, with fiscal 2015 being $8,570 and fiscal 2014 being 
$8,550.   
 
Travel expenditures decreased minimally from $6,492 in fiscal 2014 to $5,727 in fiscal 2015.  
 
Salaries and benefits increased over the prior year as one director began drawing a salary of 
$25,000 per year, starting in November 2015. 
 
Net loss and comprehensive loss for the year ended December 31, 2015 was $150,244, or 
approximately $0.02 per share compared to a net loss and comprehensive loss of $167,240 or 
$0.02 per share for the twelve months ended December 31, 2014.   
   
SUMMARY OF QUARTERLY RESULTS 
 
The following table sets out selected quarterly results of the Company for the eight quarters prior 
to the effective date of this report.  The information contained herein is drawn from the interim 
financial statements of the Company for each of the aforementioned eight quarters. 
 
 

Year 2015 2015 2015 2015 2014 2014 2014 2014 

Quarter Dec 31 Sept 30 Jun 30 Mar 31 Dec 31 Sept 30 Jun 30 Mar 31 

Working Capital 2,576,403  2,634,126 2,668,922  2,812,934 2,968,191 3,102,142 3,364,452 3,398,421 

Net Income (Loss) 
Before Taxes 

(11,536) (7,602) (68,319) (33,538) 17,347 (249,010) 9,193 83,373 

Net Income (Loss) 
per share - basic 
and diluted 

 
(0.004) 
(0.004) 

 
(0.006) 
(0.006) 

 
(0.003) 
(0.003) 

 
(0.003) 
(0.003) 

 
0.00 
0.00 

 

 
(0.017) 
(0.017) 

 
0.002 
0.002 

 
0.001 
0.001 

 
QUARTERLY TREND ANALYSIS 
 
The Company’s net earnings before taxes have had some dramatic fluctuations from quarter to 
quarter, which are primarily based on economic, political and market conditions, directly affecting 
the securities trading activity, and the extent of our exploration activities. 
 
 
FOURTH QUARTER ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2015 
 
Losses before taxes for the fourth quarter of 2015 were $11,536, in contrast to earnings before 
taxes in the fourth quarter of 2014 of $17,347.  The decrease in profitability was primarily related 
to the trading of securities.       
 
SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 
 
The Company’s issued capital as of December 31, 2015 consists of 9,232,888 common shares 
(2014 - 8,832,888 common shares).  Common shares increased due to a purchase on February 
13, 2015 of 400,000 flow-through shares at $0.25 per share. As at April 26, 2016, a total of 
9,232,888 common shares were issued and outstanding. 
 
LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES 
 
The Company had a cash balance of $32,379 at December 31, 2015, compared to $85,249 as at 
December 31, 2014.  As at December 31, 2015, the Company had working capital of $2,576,403, 
compared with working capital of $2,968,191 as at December 31, 2014.   
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The Company’s equity was $3,124,675 as at December 31, 2015, compared to $3,174,919 as at 
December 31, 2014.  Current liabilities decreased to $124,950 at December 31, 2015, from 
$1,001,951 at December 31, 2014.  This decrease was primarily due to settlement of the 
Company’s short security positions as at December 31, 2015. 
 
The Company has sufficient working capital to meet its liabilities and commitments as they come 
due, as well as to continue exploration work on its properties. 
 
Other than as discussed herein, the Company is not aware of any trends, demands, commitments, 
events or uncertainties that may result in the Company’s liquidity or capital resources either 
materially increasing or decreasing at present or in the foreseeable future.  Material increases or 
decreases in the Company’s liquidity and capital resources will be substantially determined by the 
success or failure of its new ventures.   
  
OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS 
 
The Company does not have any off-balance sheet arrangements. 
 
TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES 

All transactions with related parties have occurred in the normal course of operations. 

(a) A director of the Company, Eduard Ludwig, was advanced $4,000 on March 2, 2015.  This 
advance remains outstanding as at December 31, 2015.  

(b) The Company began subleasing its office space from Sheridan Brothers Limited Partnership, 
which is an entity controlled by a director, on January 1, 2014. Rent paid for the year ended 
December 31, 2015 totaled $24,000 (2014 - $24,000) and is paid on a month-to-month basis.  

(c) Key management personnel are defined as those individuals having authority and 
responsibility for planning, directing, and controlling the activities of the Company. God's Lake 
considers its officers and directors to be its key management personnel. Compensation paid 
to key management personnel, was $81,767 and 52,400 in fiscal years 2015 and 2014, 
respectively. These expenditures were allocated as follows in the consolidated statements of 
financial position and consolidated statements of comprehensive loss: 

 
 2015 2014 

Exploration and evaluation assets $ 65,600  $ 40,400  
Professional fees 12,000 12,000 
Salaries and benefits 4,167 - 

 $ 81,767  $ 52,400  

(d) On October 14, 2014, the Company issued 560,000 flow-through shares at a price of $0.25 
per share for gross proceeds of $140,000. These shares were issued to Tough Oakes 
Exploration Ltd., a corporation controlled by a director. The Company determined that there 
was no flow-through premium upon issuance of these shares.  

(e) On February 13, 2015, the Company issued 400,000 flow-through shares at a price of $0.25 
per share for gross proceeds of $100,000.  These shares were issued to SPG Royalties Inc., 
a corporation controlled by a director. The Company determined that there was no flow-
through premium upon issuance of these shares. 

 

(f) The Company has loans payable to related parties as follows: 
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 2015 2014 
   
AER Nickel Corporation Limited(i) $ 42,000 $ -  
Mini Metals Inc. (i)  58,000   -  

 $ 100,000  $ -  

(i) The above corporations are controlled by a director of the Company. These loans are 
unsecured, non-interest bearing, and are due on demand. These loans were provided to 
the Company for general working capital purposes. 

 
RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES 
 
An investment in the securities of the Company is highly speculative and involves numerous and 
significant risks and should be undertaken only by investors whose financial resources are sufficient 
to enable them to assume such risks and who have no need for immediate liquidity in their 
investment.   
 
Exploration Stage Company and Exploration Risks 
 
Junior natural resource issuers are typically focused primarily on the acquisition and exploration of 
resource properties.  Such properties often have no established reserves.  There is usually no 
assurance that any of the projects can be mined or operated profitably.  Accordingly, it is not 
assured that such issuers will realize any profits in the short to medium term, if at all.  Any 
profitability in the future from the business of a junior natural resource issuer is often dependent 
upon developing and commercially mining or operating an economic deposit of minerals or oil and 
gas reserves which in itself is subject to numerous risk factors.  The exploration and development 
of mineral and oil and gas deposits involves a high degree of financial risk over a significant period 
of time of which even a combination of careful evaluation, experience and knowledge of 
management may not eliminate.  While discovery of ore-bearing or petroleum-hosting structures 
may result in substantial rewards, few properties that are explored are ultimately developed into 
producing mines or wells.  Major expenses may be required to establish reserves by drilling and to 
construct mining, processing and transport facilities at a particular site.  It is impossible to ensure 
that the current exploration, development and production programs of a junior natural resource 
issuer will result in profitable commercial mining or oil and gas operations.  The profitability of a 
junior natural resource issuer’s operations will be, in part, directly related to the cost and success 
of its exploration and development programs which may be affected by a number of factors.  
Substantial expenditures are required to establish reserves which are sufficient to commercially 
mine resource and oil and gas properties and to construct, complete and install mining, processing 
and transport facilities in those properties that are actually mined and developed. 
 
No History of Profitability 

 
A junior natural resource issuer is typically a development or exploration stage company with no 
history of profitability.  There can be no assurance that the operations of a junior natural resources 
issuer will be profitable in the future.  A junior natural resource issuer often has limited financial 
resources and will require additional financing to acquire and further explore, develop, retain and 
engage in commercial production on its property interests and, if financing is unavailable for any 
reason, the junior natural resource issuer may become unable to acquire and retain its mineral 
concessions and carry out its business plan. 
 
Government Regulations 
 
A junior natural resource issuer's exploration operations will be subject to government legislation, 
policies and controls relating to prospecting, development, production, environmental protection, 
mining and oil and gas taxes and labour standards.  In order for the junior natural resource issuer 
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to carry out its mining and operating activities, its exploitation licences must be kept current.  There 
is no guarantee that exploitation licences will be extended or that new exploitation licences will be 
granted.  In addition, such exploitation licences could be changed and there can be no assurances 
that any application to renew any existing licences will be approved.  The junior natural resource 
issuer may be required to contribute to the cost of providing the required infrastructure to facilitate 
the development of its properties.  The junior natural resource issuer will also have to obtain and 
comply with permits and licences which may contain specific conditions concerning operating 
procedures, water use, waste disposal, spills, environmental studies, abandonment and restoration 
plans and financial assurances.  There can be no assurance that the junior natural resource issuer 
will be able to comply with any such conditions. 
 
Market Fluctuation and Commercial Quantities 
 
The market for minerals, oil and gas is influenced by many factors beyond the control of a junior 
natural resource issuer such as changing production costs, the supply and demand for minerals 
and petroleum products, the rate of inflation, the inventory of mineral producing corporations, the 
international economic and political environment, changes in international investment patterns, 
global or regional consumption patterns, costs of substitutes, currency availability and exchange 
rates, interest rates, speculative activities in connection with minerals and petroleum, and increased 
production due to improved mining and production methods.  The metals industry in general is 
intensely competitive and there is no assurance that, even if commercial quantities and qualities of 
metals, oil and gas are discovered, a market will exist for the profitable sale of such metals, oil and 
gas.  Commercial viability of precious and base metals and other mineral deposits and oil and gas 
reserves may be affected by other factors that are beyond the junior natural resource issuer’s 
control including particular attributes of the deposit such as its size, quantity and quality, the cost 
of mining and processing, proximity to infrastructure and the availability of transportation and 
sources of energy, financing, government legislation and regulations including those relating to 
prices, taxes, royalties, land tenure, land use, import and export restrictions, exchange controls, 
restrictions on production, as well as environmental protection.  It is impossible to assess with 
certainty the impact of various factors that may affect commercial viability so that any adverse 
combination of such factors may result in the junior natural resource issuer not receiving an 
adequate return on invested capital. 
 
Mining Risks and Insurance 
 
A junior natural resource issuer is subject to risks normally encountered in the mining industry, such 
as unusual or unexpected geological formations, cave-ins or flooding.  The junior natural resource 
issuer may become subject to liability for pollution, damage to life or property and other hazards of 
mineral and oil and gas exploration against which it or the operator if its exploration programs 
cannot insure or against which it or such operator may elect not to insure because of high premium 
costs or other reasons.  Payment of such liabilities would reduce funds available for acquisition of 
mineral and oil and gas prospects or exploration and development and would have a material 
adverse effect on the financial position of the junior natural resource issuer. 
 
Environmental Protection 
 
The mining and mineral processing industries are subject to extensive governmental regulations 
for the protection of the environment, including regulations relating to air and water quality, mine 
reclamation, solid and hazardous waste handling and disposal and the promotion of occupational 
health and safety, which may adversely affect a junior natural resource issuer or require it to expend 
significant funds. 
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Capital Investment 
 
The ability of a junior natural resource issuer to continue exploration and development of its 
property interests will be dependent upon its ability to raise significant financing.  There is no 
assurance that adequate financing will be available or that the terms of such financing will be 
favourable.  Should a junior natural resource issuer not be able to obtain such financing, its 
properties may be lost entirely. 
 
Key Executives 
 
The Company is dependent on the services of key executives, including the directors of the 
Company and a small number of highly skilled and experienced executives and personnel.  Due to 
the relatively small size of the Company, the loss of these persons or the Company's inability to 
attract and retain additional highly skilled employees may adversely affect its business and future 
operations. 
 
Conflicts of Interest 
 
Certain of the directors and officers of the Company may also serve as directors and officers of 
other companies involved in natural resource and oil and gas exploration and development and 
consequently, the possibility of conflict exists.  Any decisions made by such directors involving the 
Company will be made in accordance with the duties and obligations of directors to deal fairly and 
in good faith with the Company and such other companies.  In addition, such directors declare, and 
refrain from voting on any matters in which such directors may have a conflict of interest. 
 
CORRECTION OF AN ERROR 

In computing the deferred income tax liability, the Company did not previously include the book 
value of its exploration and evaluation assets as a reduction against the exploration tax credits. 
The consolidated financial statements have been retrospectively restated as detailed in the 
following tables. 

The change in deferred taxes did not impact the corporate tax returns that were filed and did not 
have an impact in the amount of taxes payable for any of the years. 

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 

The following is a continuity of the changes to the consolidated statement of financial position as 
at December 31, 2014:  

 
Previously 
Reported 

Correction of 
Error Restated 

Deferred tax liability $ 122,503  $ 109,417  $ 231,920  

Total liabilities  1,124,454   109,417   1,233,871  

Deficit  (5,982,190)   (109,417)   (6,091,607)  

Total equity  3,284,336   (109,417)   3,174,919  
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity 

The following is a continuity of the changes to the consolidated statement of changes in equity for 
the year ended December 31, 2014:  

 
Previously 
Reported 

Correction of 
Error Restated 

Deficit – December 31, 2013 $ (5,846,496)  $ (77,871)  $ (5,924,367)  

Net loss  (135,694)   (31,546)   (167,240)  

Deficit – December 31, 2014  (5,982,190)   (109,417)   (6,091,607)  

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Loss 

The following is a continuity of the changes to the consolidated statement of comprehensive loss 
for the year ended December 31, 2014:  

 
Previously 
Reported 

Correction of 
Error Restated 

Net loss before taxes $ (139,097)  $ -  $ (139,097)  

Income tax expense  3,403   (31,546)   (28,143)  

Net loss and comprehensive loss  (135,694)   (31,546)   (167,240)  

Loss per share  (0.02)   (0.00)   (0.02)  

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 

The following is a continuity of the changes to the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year 
ended December 31, 2014:  

 
Previously 
Reported 

Correction of 
Error Restated 

Net loss $ (135,694)  $ (31,546)  $ (167,240)  

Income tax expense (recovery)  (3,403)   31,546   28,143  

Cash flows from operations  (802,628)   -   (802,628)  
 
 
CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES 

Preparation of interim consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires 
management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of 
accounting policies, the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent 
assets and liabilities, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the period. 
Estimates and assumptions are continuously evaluated and are based on management’s 
experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be 
reasonable under the circumstances. Uncertainty about these judgments, estimates, and 
assumptions could result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment to the carrying 
amount of the asset or liability affected in future periods. 

Information about significant areas of estimation uncertainty considered by management in 
preparing the consolidated financial statements are as follows: 
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Fair Value of Securities Not Quoted in an Active Market 

Where the fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded on the consolidated 
statements of financial position cannot be derived from active markets, they are determined using 
a variety of valuation techniques. The inputs to these models are derived from observable market 
data where possible, but where observable market data are not available, judgment is required to 
establish fair values.  

Fair Value of Financial Derivatives 

Investments in options and warrants that are not traded on a recognized securities exchange do 
not have a readily available market value. When there are sufficient and reliable observable market 
inputs, a valuation technique is used; if no such market inputs are available, the warrants and 
options are valued at intrinsic value.  

Amount of Accrued Liabilities 

Accrued liabilities are recorded based on an estimate of unbilled work performed by the Company’s 
vendors as well as any other payments which the Company will be required to make in relation to 
the current year's operations. Management makes these estimates based on historical billings and 
its knowledge of current operations. These estimates will affect the reported amounts of accrued 
liabilities and expenses. 

Deferred Tax Assets and Liabilities 

Deferred tax assets are recognized in respect of tax losses and other temporary differences to the 
extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the losses can be utilized. 
Judgment is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognized, based 
upon the likely timing and level of future taxable profits, together with future tax planning strategies. 

A deferred tax liability exists as a result of the involuntary disposal of the Company’s mineral 
property in 2012. The Company was able to defer paying tax on the gain that resulted from the 
disposal and is using its current period losses to reduce the amount of the gain that will become 
taxable. Management has made a judgment that the Company’s exploration credits can be used 
to offset the deferred gain. This estimate affects the income tax liability and expense reported in 
these interim consolidated financial statements.  

Exploration and Evaluation Assets 

The application of the Company’s accounting policy for exploration and evaluation assets requires 
judgment in determining whether it is likely that costs incurred will be recovered through successful 
exploration and development or sale of the asset. Furthermore, the assessment whether 
economically recoverable reserves exist is itself an estimation process. If, after expenditures are 
capitalized, information becomes available suggesting that the recovery of the expenditures is 
unlikely, the asset is deemed to be impaired and the amount capitalized is written off in the 
consolidated statements of comprehensive loss in the period when the new information becomes 
available.  

Impairment of Assets 

At each consolidated statement of financial position reporting date, the carrying amounts of the 
Company’s assets or cash-generating units are reviewed to determine whether there is any 
indication that those assets are impaired. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of 
the asset is assessed in order to determine the extent of the impairment, if any. Where the asset 
does not generate cash flows that are independent from other assets, the Company reviews the 
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.  
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CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

Effective January 1, 2015, the Company has adopted the following new and revised standards, 
along with any consequential amendments.  These changes were made in accordance with the 
applicable transitional provisions. 

(a) IFRS 9, Financial Instruments 

IFRS 9 introduces a logical, single classification and measurement approach for financial 
assets that reflects the business model in which they are managed and their cash flow 
characteristics. Built upon this is a forward-looking expected credit loss model that will 
result in more timely recognition of loan losses and is a single model that is applicable to 
all financial instruments subject to impairment accounting. The Company's financial 
instruments are limited to cash and trade receivables and payables, and accordingly, there 
was no impact on the Company's consolidated financial statements due to this standard. 
 

(b) IFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers 

IFRS 15 provides a single, principles based five-step model that will apply to all contracts 
with customers, with limited exceptions, including all leases and financial instruments. In 
addition to the five-step model, the standard specifies how to account for the incremental 
costs of obtaining a contract and the costs directly related to fulfilling a contract. The 
Company's contracts with customers do not involve incremental costs for being obtained 
or fulfilled. Accordingly, there was no impact on the Company's consolidated financial 
statements due to this standard. 

 
 
FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT  

Credit Risk 

Credit risk is the risk of loss associated with a counter-party’s inability to fulfil its payment 
obligations. The Company's maximum exposure to credit risk as of December 31, 2015 is 
$2,412,634 (2014 - $3,571,393), being the value of the amounts due from brokers and sundry 
receivables. These receivables consist of cash held on deposit by the brokers holding the 
Company’s securities, sales taxes recoverable from the Government of Canada, and an 
advance to a director of the Company.  Management believes these receivables are a low credit 
risk. There have been no changes to the Company's methods for managing credit risk during 
the year. As at December 31, 2014, the brokers had collateral against the Company’s receivable 
balances of $975,459, being the fair value of the short security positions held by these brokers. 

Liquidity Risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will have sufficient cash resources to meet its financial 
obligations as they come due. The Company does not generate cash flows from its principal 
operations of mineral exploration and relies on its cash balance and securities transactions to 
pay its liabilities. Management regularly reviews securities investments to ensure it maintains 
sufficient cash on hand for continued operations. 

There have been no changes to management’s methods for managing liquidity risk since 
December 31, 2014. The Company has working capital of $2,576,403 as of December 31, 2015 
(2014 - $2,968,191) and in management’s judgment, the Company has sufficient working capital 
to continue to fund its exploration work and to pay its liabilities for the next fiscal year. 
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The following is a maturity analysis of financial liabilities based on their contractual maturities: 

 Payments due by period 

 
Less than 

1 year 
1 - 3 

years 
4 - 5 

years Total 

December 31, 2015     
Securities sold short $               -   $ -  $ -  $                -  
Accounts payable  24,950   -   -   24,950  
Loans payable  100,000   -   -   100,000  

 $ 124,950  $ -  $ -  $ 124,950  

December 31, 2014     
Securities sold short $ 975,459  $ -  $ -  $ 975,459  
Accounts payable  26,492   -   -   26,492  

  $ 1,001,951  $ -  $ -  $ 1,001,951  

The following is a liquidity analysis of the Company's assets: 

  Liquidity by period 

 
Less than 

1 year 
More than 

1 year Non-liquid Total 

December 31, 2015     
Cash $ 32,379  $ -  $ -  $ 32,379  
Securities owned  256,340   -   -   256,340  
Due from broker  2,354,595   -   -   2,354,595  
Sundry receivables  58,039   -   -   58,039  
Field equipment  -   -   42,880   42,880  
Exploration and evaluation costs  -   -   766,561   766,561  

 $ 2,701,353  $ -  $ 809,441  $ 3,510,794  

December 31, 2014     
Cash $ 85,249  $ -  $ -  $ 85,249  
Securities owned  313,500   -   -   313,500  
Due from broker  3,516,648   -   -   3,516,648  
Sundry receivables  54,745   -   45,255   54,745  
Exploration and evaluation costs  -   -   393,393   45,255  

  
 $    3,970,142  

$ -  $ 438,648  $ 4,408,790  

Market Risk 

Market risk is comprised of equity price risk, foreign currency risk, and interest rate risk. The 
Company’s exposure to these risks is described below. 
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Equity Price Risk 

Equity price risk is the risk that the fair value of, or future cash flows from, the Company’s 
financial instruments will significantly fluctuate due to changes in stock market prices.  The value 
of the Company's securities owned and sold short are affected by changes in market prices. 
Management reduces its exposure to market prices by holding securities for short periods of 
time. The Company also manages market risk by having a diversified portfolio which is not 
singularly exposed to any one or class of issuers. There have been no changes in the 
Company's risk management strategies for the year ended December 31, 2015. 

A sensitivity analysis of the impact on the net income (loss) of the Company for changes in the 
market prices of securities owned and sold short is presented below: 

 2015 2014 

Market rises by 10% $ 25,634  $ (159,271)  
Market rises by 5%  12,817  (57,463) 
No change  -  20,273 
Market falls by 5%  (12,817)   49,760  
Market falls by 10%  (25,634)   (12,057)  

The above sensitivity analysis does not give effect to the timing of changes in fair value, or the 
effect of management actions that may be taken to mitigate unfavorable market movements. 
The effect of timing is relevant to the above analysis, as the Company holds several positions 
in options which have short term expiry dates. 

 
 
MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
The information provided in this report, including the financial statements, is the responsibility of 
management.  In the preparation of these statements, estimates are sometimes necessary to make 
a determination of future values for certain assets or liabilities.  Management believes such estimates 
have been based on careful judgments and have been properly reflected in the financial statements. 
 
CAUTION REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS 
 
Statements contained in this document, which are not historical facts are forward looking 
statements that involve risks, uncertainties and other factors that could cause actual results to differ 
materially from those expressed or implied by such forward looking statements.  Factors that could 
cause differences include, but are not limited to, volatility and sensitivity to market prices for base 
metals, environmental and safety issues, changes in government regulations and policies and 
significant changes in the supply-demand fundamentals for base metals that could negatively affect 
prices.  Although the Company believes that the assumptions used are reasonable, these 
statements should not be heavily relied upon.  The Company disclaims any intention or obligation 
to update or revise any forward-looking statements whether as a result of new information, future 
events or otherwise. 



  

 
 

APPENDIX “C”  
 

Interim financial statements and accompanying MD&A  
 
[Please see attached such documents for the nine (9) months ended September 

30, 2018.] 
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GOD’S LAKE RESOURCES INC. 

 
 
 
 
 

NOTICE OF NO AUDITOR REVIEW OF INTERIM FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
 
Under National Instrument 51-102, Part 4, subsection 4.3(3)(a), if an auditor has not performed a 
review of the interim financial statements, they must be accompanied by a notice indicating that the 
financial statements have not been reviewed by an auditor. 
 
The accompanying unaudited interim financial statements of the Company have been prepared by 
and are the responsibility of the Company's management. 
 
The Company's independent auditor has not performed a review of these financial statements in 
accordance with the standards established by the Chartered Professional Accountants of Canada 
for a review of interim financial statements by an entity's auditor. 
 
 
 
 
"Blair Driscoll" 
 
Blair Driscoll 
Chief Executive Officer 
 
 
 
 



GOD'S LAKE RESOURCES INC.
INTERIM CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
(Presented in Canadian Dollars)  

September 30 December 31 
2018 2017

Notes (Unaudited) (Audited)
Assets

Current Assets
Cash 1,462,192$     26,217$          
Investments owned, at fair value 4 -                     277                 
Due from broker 14,230            3,992,171       
Sundry receivables 30,090            14,314            

Total Current Assets 1,506,512       4,032,979       

Long Term Assets
Exploration and evaluation assets 5 -                     100,000          

Total Long Term Assets -                     100,000          
Total Assets 1,506,512$     4,132,979$     

Liabilities and Equity

Current Liabilities
Investments sold short, at fair value 4 -$                   2,350,663$     
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 165,912          58,297            
Loans payable 6 -                     100,000          

Total Current Liabilities 165,912          2,508,960       
Total Liabilities 165,912          2,508,960       

Equity
Share capital 7 8,948,742       8,948,742       
Contributed Surplus 417,784          417,784          
Deficit (8,025,926)     (7,742,507)     

Total Equity 1,340,600       1,624,019       
Total Liabilities and Equity 1,506,512$     4,132,979$     

Going Concern (Note 2)

Approved on Behalf of the Board:

Signed:  "Frank Potter", Director

Signed:  "Blair Driscoll", Director

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these interim consolidated financial statements.
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GOD'S LAKE RESOURCES INC.
INTERIM CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
FOR THE THREE AND NINE MONTHS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2018 AND 2017
(Presented in Canadian Dollars)
(Unaudited)

Three Months Three Months Nine Months Nine Months
Ended Ended Ended Ended

Sept 30, 2018 Sept 30, 2017 Sept 30, 2018 Sept 30, 2017

Revenues
Net realized losses on investments -$                   (3,284)$          (329,375)$      (224,220)$      
Net change in unrealized gains (losses)

on investments -                     (79,956)          270,786         (11,703)          
Interest and other income 2,842             -                     3,426             91                  

2,842             (83,240)          (55,163)          (235,832)        

Expenses
Transaction costs 711                1,891             5,985             7,551             
Salaries -                     6,250             13,433           18,750           
Office and general 1,173             2,998             13,159           16,166           
Professional fees 133,649         6,000             172,537         25,985           
Rent -                     6,000             8,000             18,000           
Amortization -                     1,715             -                     5,146             
Filing fees 2,956             1,850             8,971             6,895             
Consulting fees -                     3,000             -                     9,000             
Insurance -                     -                     918                -                     
Travel -                     3,361             5,253             6,660             

138,489         33,065           228,256         114,153         
Loss Before Taxes (135,647)$      (116,305)$      (283,419)$      (349,985)$      

Income tax expense (recovery) -                     (25,635)          -                     (66,277)          
Net Loss and Comprehensive Loss (135,647)$      (90,670)$        (283,419)$      (283,708)$      

Average Number of Shares Outstanding
Basic and diluted 9,232,888      9,232,888      9,232,888      9,232,888      

Loss per Share
Basic and diluted (0.015)$          (0.010)$          (0.031)$          (0.031)$          

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these interim consolidated financial statements.
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GOD'S LAKE RESOURCES INC.
INTERIM CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE NINE MONTHS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2018 AND 2017
(Presented in Canadian Dollars)
(Unaudited)

Number of Share Contributed Total
Shares Capital Surplus Deficit Equity

Balance at January 1, 2017 9,232,888  8,948,742$ 417,784$       (6,583,102)$ 2,783,424$ 

Net loss (283,708)      (283,708)     

Balance at September 30, 2017 9,232,888  8,948,742$ 417,784$       (6,866,810)$ 2,499,716$ 

Balance at January 1, 2018 9,232,888  8,948,742$ 417,784$       (7,742,507)$ 1,624,019$ 

Net loss (283,419)      (283,419)     

Balance at September 30, 2018 9,232,888  8,948,742$ 417,784$       (8,025,926)$ 1,340,600$ 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these interim consolidated financial statements.
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GOD'S LAKE RESOURCES INC.
INTERIM CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE NINE MONTHS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2018 AND 2017
(Presented in Canadian Dollars)
(Unaudited)

2018 2017

Cash Flows Provided By (Used In) Operating Activities
Net loss (283,419)$      (283,708)$      

Adjustments for non-cash items:
Net realized losses on disposal of investments 329,375         224,200          
Net unrealized (gains) losses on investments (270,786)        11,703            
Income tax expense (recovery) -                     (66,277)          
Amortization -                     5,146              

Changes in non-cash working capital:
Sundry receivables (15,776)          28,123            
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 107,615         (128,248)        

(132,991)        (209,061)        

Cash Flows Provided By (Used In) Financing Activities
Decrease in loans payable (100,000)        -                     

(100,000)        -                     

Cash Flows Provided By (Used In) Investing Activities
Decrease in due from broker 3,977,941      117,667          
Exploration and evaluation expenditures 100,000         (25,836)          
Purchase of securities (14,340,782)   -                     
Proceeds from sale of securities 11,931,807    -                     
Proceeds from sale of securities, net of purchases -                     119,190          

1,668,966      211,021          

Net Increase in Cash 1,435,975      1,960              
Cash, Beginning of Period 26,217           29,526            
Cash, End of Period 1,462,192$    31,486$          

Supplemental Cash Flow Information
Interest paid -$                   -$                   
Income taxes paid -                     -                     

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these interim consolidated financial statements.
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GOD'S LAKE RESOURCES INC. 

NOTES TO THE INTERIM CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE NINE MONTHS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2018 AND 2017 

(Presented in Canadian Dollars) 
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1. NATURE OF BUSINESS 

God’s Lake Resources Inc. (the “Company”), was incorporated in Ontario in 1923, until it was 
continued federally under the laws of Canada in 1978. The Company was engaged in the 
acquisition, exploration and development of properties for the mining of precious and base 
metals. 

The Company is domiciled in the Province of Ontario, and its registered office address is 100 
Wellington Street West, Suite 2110, Toronto, Ontario, M5K 1H1, and its common shares are 
listed on the Canadian Securities Exchange under the symbol GLR.  

The Board approved these interim consolidated financial statements for issue on November 7, 
2018. 

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION 

Going Concern 

These interim consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the going concern 
basis, which assumes that the Company will continue in operations for the foreseeable future 
and will be able to realize its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business. 
Realization values may be substantially different from carrying values as shown in these 
consolidated financial statements. These consolidated financial statements do not give effect to 
adjustments that would be necessary to the carrying values and classification of assets and 
liabilities should the Company be unable to continue as a going concern. 

As at September 30, 2018, the Company had working capital of $1,340,600 (December 31, 2017 
- $1,524,019) and an accumulated deficit of $8,025,926 (December 31, 2017 - $7,742,507). On 
April 25, 2018, the Company sold its subsidiary which owned the Company’s field equipment 
and exploration and evaluation assets, which comprised the principal assets of its mineral 
exploration business.  

On May 30, 2018, Fax Investments Inc. (formerly 2625312 Ontario Inc.) purchased 4,976,075 
common shares of the Company from Michael Sheridan (Sheridan), former President and Chief 
Executive Officer of the Company, and 560,000 common shares of the Company from 
Sheridan’s wholly owned company, Tough-Oakes Explorations Inc., pursuant to a share 
purchase agreement with Sheridan and Tough-Oakes. The 5,536,075 common shares acquired 
represented approximately 59.96% of the issued and outstanding common shares of the 
Company. Also on May 30, 2018, the former board of directors and officers of the Company 
resigned. At the time of such resignations, the Company announced the appointment of new 
directors and officers. 

On June 20, 2018, the Company announced its intention to proceed with a change of business 
from an exploration stage mining company to an investment company. The Company’s intention 
to proceed with a change of business is a material uncertainty that casts doubt about the 
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. 
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NOTES TO THE INTERIM CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE NINE MONTHS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2018 AND 2017 

(Presented in Canadian Dollars) 
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued) 

Statement of Compliance 

These interim consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) issued by the International Accounting 
Standards Board (“IASB”) and interpretations of the International Financial Reporting 
Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”). Specifically, these statements have been prepared in 
accordance with International Accounting Standards 34 (“IAS 34”), Interim Financial Reporting.  

The accounting policies and methods of computation applied by the Company in these interim 
consolidated financial statements are the same as those applied in the Company’s annual 
financial statements as at and for the year ended December 31, 2017.  The interim consolidated 
financial statements do not include all of the information required for full annual financial 
statements and should be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements 
for the year ended December 31, 2017.  

Basis of Presentation 

These interim consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost 
convention except for certain financial instruments which are measured at fair value. 

Functional and Presentation Currency 

The Company's functional and presentation currency is the Canadian dollar. 

Basis of Consolidation 

These interim consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of God's Lake 
Resources Inc. and its wholly-owned subsidiary, Golden Brick Exploration Inc., which is a 
corporation formed under the laws of the Province of Ontario. This subsidiary was fully 
consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the date on which the Company obtained 
control, until April 25, 2018, the date that such control ceased (see note 3). The financial 
statements of the subsidiary were prepared for the same reporting period as the Company, 
using consistent accounting policies. All intercompany account balances and transactions were 
eliminated upon consolidation. 

 

3.   DISPOSAL OF GOLDEN BRICK AND SETTLEMENT OF LOANS PAYABLE 

On April 25, 2018, the Company entered into an agreement to sell the shares of its wholly-
owned subsidiary, Golden Brick Exploration Inc., in settlement of the loans payable to AER 
Nickel Corporation Limited and Mini Metals Inc. in the aggregate amount of $100,000 (see note 
6). Golden Brick held title to the field equipment and exploration and evaluation assets described 
in note 5. 
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NOTES TO THE INTERIM CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
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4. INVESTMENTS OWNED AND SOLD SHORT, AT FAIR VALUE 

Investments Owned 

The components of securities owned are as follows: 

Cost Fair Value Cost Fair Value

Equities -$              -$              -$              -$              
Options -                -                1,141            277               

-$              -$              1,141$          277$             

September 30, 2018 December 31, 2017

 

Investments Sold Short 

The components of securities sold short are as follows: 

Proceeds Fair Value Proceeds Fair Value

Equities -$              -$              2,080,215$    2,349,782$    
Options -                -                526               881               

-$              -$              2,080,741$    2,350,663$    

September 30, 2018 December 31, 2017

 

Fair Value Hierarchy 

All long and short securities are categorized into Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy and are 
measured based on quoted market prices.  

There were no transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy during the periods presented. 
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5. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS 
On April 25, 2018, the Company disposed of its wholly-owned subsidiary, Golden Brick, which 
owned all of the exploration and evaluation assets. The consideration received of $100,000 was 
attributed entirely to the Castlewood Lake Project. Management determined that the carrying 
value of the exploration and evaluation assets was not recoverable as at December 31, 2017 
and recorded an impairment of $754,102 for the year then ended in the consolidated statement 
of comprehensive loss to reduce the exploration and evaluation assets to their recoverable 
amount. 

The following is a continuity of the Company’s exploration and evaluation assets for the nine 
months ended September 30, 2018: 

Shaw
Muskasenda Castlewood Township
Lake Project Lake Project Project Total

Acquisition Costs
Balance - January 1, 2018 -$              40,000$         -$              40,000$         
Additions -                -                -                -                
Impairment -                -                -                -                
Disposals -                (40,000)         -                (40,000)         
Balance - September 30, 2018 -$              -$              -$              -$              

Deferred Exploration Costs
Balance - January 1, 2018 -$              60,000$         -$              60,000$         
Additions -                -                -                -                
Impairment -                -                -                -                
Disposals -                (60,000)         -                (60,000)         
Balance - September 30, 2018 -$              -$              -$              -$              
Total - September 30, 2018 -$              -$              -$              -$               
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5.  EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS (Continued) 

The following is a continuity of the Company’s exploration and evaluation assets for the year 
ended December 31, 2017: 

Shaw
Muskasenda Castlewood Township
Lake Project Lake Project Project Total

Acquisition Costs
Balance - January 1, 2017 -$              40,000$         31,021$         71,021$         
Additions -                -                -                -                
Impairment -                -                (31,021)         (31,021)         
Balance - December 31, 2017 -$              40,000$         -$              40,000$         

Deferred Exploration Costs
Balance - January 1, 2017 52,552$         533,392$       166,998$       752,942$       
Additions

Rehabilitation -                -                -                -                
Consulting -                7,130            9,375            16,505          
Travel -                53                 1,762            1,815            
Supplies & Services -                120               8,949            9,069            
Contractor -                2,750            -                2,750            
Building -                -                -                -                

Reallocation -                -                -                -                
Impairment (52,552)         (483,445)       (187,084)       (723,081)       
Balance - December 31, 2017 -$              60,000$         -$              60,000$         
Total - December 31, 2017 -$              100,000$       -$              100,000$        
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6. LOANS PAYABLE 

The Company has loans payable as follows: 

September 30 December 31
2018 2017

AER Nickel Corporation Limited (i) -$              42,000$         
Mini Metals Inc. (i) -                58,000          

Balance - September 30, 2018 -$              100,000$        

(i) The above corporations are controlled by a former director of the Company. These loans 
were unsecured, non-interest bearing, and were due on demand. These loans were 
provided to the Company for general working capital purposes. On April 25, 2018, the 
Company entered into an agreement to sell the shares of its wholly-owned subsidiary, 
Golden Brick Exploration Inc., in settlement of the loans payable to AER Nickel 
Corporation Limited and Mini Metals Inc. in the aggregate amount of $100,000. As a 
result of the change in control on May 30, 2018, these two entities are no longer related 
parties to the Company. 

 

7. SHARE CAPITAL 

(a) Authorized 

Unlimited number of common shares, no par value. 

(b) Issued and Outstanding 

Number of Stated
Common Shares Value

Balance as at September 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017 9,232,888             8,948,742$     

 (c) Stock Option Plan 

The Company has a stock option plan (the “Plan”), whereby it can grant options for the 
purchase of common shares to its directors, officers and certain consultants. The maximum 
aggregate number of shares that may be issuable pursuant to options granted under the 
Plan shall not exceed 10% of the issued and outstanding shares of the Company. No more 
than 5% of the issued shares of the Company may be granted to any one optionee, and no 
more than 2% of the issued shares of the Company may be granted to any one consultant 
or employee conducting “Investor Relations Activities” in any twelve-month period. The 
options are non-transferable and non-assignable and may be granted for a term not 
exceeding five years. The exercise price of the options is fixed by the board of directors of  
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7.  SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)  

the Company at the time of grant at the market price of the common shares, subject to all 
applicable regulatory requirements. The Company did not grant any options during the nine 
month period ended September 30, 2018 or in the year ended December 31, 2017. The 
Company currently does not have any options outstanding. 

(d) Loss Per Share 

Basic and diluted loss per common share are calculated as follows: 

2018 2017 2018 2017

Net income (135,647)$       (90,670)$        (283,419)$       (283,708)$      

Average number of common
shares outstanding - basic
and fully diluted 9,232,888       9,232,888       9,232,888       9,232,888      

Earnings per common share
Basic and fully diluted (0.015)$          (0.010)$          (0.031)$          (0.031)$          

Three Months Ended 
September 30

 Nine Months Ended 
September 30

 

 
 

8. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

All transactions with related parties have occurred in the normal course of operations. 

(a) Prior to the change in control on May 30, 2018, the Company subleased its office space 
from Sheridan Brothers Limited Partnership, an entity controlled by a former director of the 
Company. Rent paid to this entity for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 was 
$8,000 (September 30, 2017 - $18,000). Rent was paid on a month-to-month basis under 
this arrangement. 

(b) The Company had loans payable to two related corporations as described in note 6. 

(c) Key management personnel are defined as those individuals having authority and    
responsibility for planning, directing, and controlling the activities of the Company. God's 
Lake considers its directors and officers to be its key management personnel. Compensation 
paid to key management personnel was $13,433 and $49,000 for the nine months ended 
September 30, 2018 and September 30, 2017, respectively. 
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8. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued) 

(d) These expenditures were allocated as follows in the interim consolidated financial 
statements: 

September 30 September 30
2018 2017

Exploration and evaluation of assets -$                21,250$          
Professional fees -                  9,000              
Salaries and benefits 13,433            18,750            

13,433$          49,000$           

 

 

9. MANAGEMENT OF CAPITAL 

The Company includes the following in its managed capital: 

September 30 December 31
2018 2017

Common shares 8,948,742$      8,948,742$      
Contributed surplus 417,784          417,784          
Deficit (8,025,926)      (7,742,507)      

1,340,600$      1,624,019$       

The Company’s objectives when managing capital is to ensure that it maintains the level of 
capital necessary to continue its exploration work for viable mineral properties. The Company 
manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, based on the funds available to the 
Company and the anticipated future requirements of its mineral property. 

The Board of Directors does not establish quantitative return on capital criteria for management, 
but rather relies on the expertise of the Company’s management to sustain future development 
of a business. The Company is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements. 

The Company’s capital management objectives may change once the change in business from 
an exploration stage company to an investment company is approved.  
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10. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

Credit Risk 

Credit risk is the risk of loss associated with a counter-party’s inability to fulfil its payment 
obligations. The Company's maximum exposure to credit risk as of September 30, 2018 was 
$44,320 (September 30, 2017 - $4,004,149), being the value of its due from brokers and sundry 
receivables. These receivables mainly consist of amounts due from the brokers holding the 
Company’s investments, and sales taxes recoverable from the Government of Canada. 
Management believes these receivables are a low credit risk. There have been no changes to 
the Company's methods for managing credit risk during the nine months ended September 30, 
2018. 

 

Liquidity Risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not have sufficient cash resources to meet its 
financial obligations as they come due. The Company does not generate cash flows from its 
principal operations of mineral exploration and relies on its cash balance and securities 
transactions to pay its liabilities. Management regularly reviews securities investments to ensure 
it maintains sufficient cash on hand for continued operations. 

There have been no changes to management’s methods for managing liquidity risk since 
December 31, 2017. The Company had working capital of $1,340,600 as of September 30, 2018 
(September 30, 2017 - $1,703,403) and in management’s judgment, the Company has sufficient 
working capital to continue to fund its operations and to pay its liabilities for the next fiscal year. 

 

Market Risk 

Market risk is comprised of equity price risk, foreign currency risk, and interest rate risk. The 
Company’s exposure to these risks is described below. 

Equity Price Risk 

Equity price risk is the risk that the fair value of, or future cash flows from, the Company’s 
financial instruments will significantly fluctuate due to changes in stock market prices.  The value 
of the Company's investments owned and sold short is affected by changes in market prices. 
Management reduces its exposure to market prices by holding investments for short periods of 
time. There have been no changes in the Company's risk management strategies for the nine 
months ended September 30, 2018. 
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10. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 

Foreign Currency Risk 

Foreign currency risk is the risk that fluctuations in the rates of exchange on foreign currency 
would impact the Company’s future cash flows.  The Company is exposed to foreign exchange 
fluctuations in cash and portfolio securities that are denominated in United States (“US”) dollars. 
The Company had a net asset (liability) exposure to US dollar instruments of $24 as at 
September 30, 2018 (September 30, 2017 - $(3,646)). There have been no changes in the 
Company's risk management strategies for the nine months ended September 30, 2018. 

Interest Rate Risk 

Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in interest rates would impact the Company's future 
cash flows. The Company does not currently have any interest-bearing debt and the interest 
earned on its cash balances are minimal. As such, the Company is not exposed to significant 
interest rate risk. There have been no changes to managements’ strategies to mitigate interest 
rate risk during the year. 
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GOD’S LAKE RESOURCES INC. 
MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

FOR THE NINE MONTHS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2018 
  

This Management Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”) should be read in conjunction with the audited 

consolidated financial statements of God’s Lake Resources Inc. (the “Company”) for the year ended 
December 31, 2017 and the related notes.  The Company’s reporting currency is the Canadian dollar and 

all amounts in this MD&A are expressed in Canadian dollars.  This MD&A is prepared as of November 7, 
2018.  

The interim consolidated financial statements as at and for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 
have been prepared in accordance with IFRS accounting policies.  

The following MD&A may contain forward-looking statements.  Forward-looking statements are based on 
current expectations that involve a number of risks and uncertainties which could cause actual events or 
results to differ materially from those reflected herein. Forward-looking statements are based on the 
estimates and opinions of management of the Company at the time the statements were made.   Additional 
information relating to the Company is on the System for Electronic Document Analysis and Retrieval 
(SEDAR) at www.sedar.com.  

  

RECENT DEVELOPMENTS  

On April 25, 2018, the Company entered into an agreement to sell the shares of its wholly-owned subsidiary, 
Golden Brick Exploration Inc., in settlement of its loans payable to AER Nickel Corporation Limited and Mini 
Metals Inc. in the aggregate amount of $100,000. At the time of transfer, field equipment and exploration 
and evaluation assets comprised all of the assets and liabilities of Golden Brick. In addition, at that time, 
both AER Nickel Corporation Limited and Mini Metals Inc. were companies controlled by a director of the 
Company.  

On April 30, 2018, the Company announced its intention to discontinue exploration work on its mineral 
properties and to consider other business opportunities. 

On May 30, 2018, Fax Investments Inc. (formerly 2625312 Ontario Inc.) purchased 4,976,075 common 
shares of the Company from Michael Sheridan (Sheridan), former President and Chief Executive Officer of 
the Company, and 560,000 common shares of the Company from Sheridan’s wholly owned company, 
Tough-Oakes Explorations Inc., pursuant to a share purchase agreement with Sheridan and Tough-Oakes. 
The 5,536,075 common shares acquired represented approximately 59.96% of the issued and outstanding 
common shares of the Company. 

Also on May 30, 2018, the former board of directors and officers of the Company resigned. At the time of 
such resignations, the Company announced the appointment of new directors and officers. 

On June 20, 2018, the Company announced its intention to proceed with a change of business from an 
exploration stage mining company to an investment company. 

On June 29, 2018, at the annual and special meeting of shareholders, the Company obtained shareholder 
approval to change the name of the company to FAX Capital Corp. 

On October 25, 2018, the Company announced that it will hold a special meeting of shareholders on 
November 23, 2018 for the purposes of considering and, if thought advisable, approving the following: 

 change the Company’s business from mineral resource exploration to that of an investment holding 
company; 
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 approve an amendment to the articles of the Company to create a new class of convertible shares 
to be classified as multiple voting shares and to change the classification of each common share 
in the capital of the Company into a subordinate voting share; 

 approve the issuance of multiple voting shares in the capital of the Company to a related party of 
the Company; 

 approve, confirm and ratify the New General By-Law of the Company; 
 approve, confirm and ratify the Advance Notice By-Law of the Company; 
 elect one director of the Company; 
 approve a consolidation of the share capital of the Company; and 
 approve an amendment to the articles of the Company to increase the maximum number of 

directors of the Company from five to 11 and to allow the directors, between annual meetings, to 
appoint one or more additional directors of the Company to serve until the next annual meeting. 

 

In addition to the information contained in this management discussion and analysis, and the risk factors 
discussed below under “Risks and Uncertainties”, shareholders should carefully consider the risk factors 

which may have a material adverse effect on the business, financial condition or results of operations of 
the Company.  

 

GOING CONCERN  

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis, which assumes 
that the Company will continue its operations for the foreseeable future and will be able to realize its assets 
and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business. Realization values may be substantially 
different from carrying values as shown in these consolidated financial statements. These consolidated 
financial statements do not give effect to adjustments that would be necessary to the carrying values and 
classification of assets and liabilities should the Company be unable to continue as a going concern.  

As at September 30, 2018, the Company had working capital of $1,340,600 (December 31, 2017 - 
$1,524,019) and an accumulated deficit of $8,025,926 (December 31, 2017 - $7,742,507). On April 25, 
2018, the Company sold its subsidiary which owned the Company’s field equipment and exploration and 
evaluation assets, which comprised the principal assets of its mineral exploration business. The Company’s 

intention to change its principal business from mineral resource exploration to that of an investment holding 
company is a material uncertainty that casts doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going 
concern. 

 

EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS 

On April 25, 2018, the Company disposed of its wholly-owned subsidiary, Golden Brick Exploration Inc., 
which owned all of the exploration and evaluation assets. The consideration received of $100,000 was 
attributed entirely to the Castlewood Lake Project. Management determined that the carrying value of the 
exploration and evaluation assets was not recoverable as at December 31, 2017 and recorded an 
impairment of $754,102 in the consolidated statement of comprehensive loss to reduce the exploration and 
evaluation assets to their recoverable amount. 
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The following is a continuity of the Company’s exploration and evaluation assets for the nine months ended 
September 30, 2018:  

 

 

 

 

SELECTED ANNUAL INFORMATION 

 

Statement of Financial Position Highlights 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

Shaw
Muskasenda Castlewood Township
Lake Project Lake Project Project Total

Acquisition Costs
Balance - January 1, 2018 -$              40,000$         -$              40,000$         
Additions -                -                -                -                
Impairment -                -                -                -                
Disposals -                (40,000)         -                (40,000)         

Balance - September 30, 2018 -$              -$              -$              -$              

Deferred Exploration Costs
Balance - January 1, 2018 -$              60,000$         -$              60,000$         
Additions -                -                -                -                
Impairment -                -                -                -                
Disposals -                (60,000)         -                (60,000)         

Balance - September 30, 2018 -$              -$              -$              -$              

Total - September 30, 2018 -$              -$              -$              -$              

September 30 December 31 December 31
2018 2017 2016

$ $ $
Current Assets 1,506,512        4,032,979        4,443,578        
Current Liabilities 165,912          2,508,960        2,369,500        
Working Capital 1,340,600        1,524,019        2,074,078        
Total Assets 1,506,512        4,132,979        5,301,845        
Shareholders' Equity 1,340,600        1,624,019        2,783,424        
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Statement of Comprehensive Income Highlights 

 

 

  

  

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 

  

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2018  

For the nine months ended September 30, 2018, the Company had negative revenue of $55,163 compared 
to negative revenue of $235,832 for the nine months ended September 30, 2017. The current period had 
lower trading losses than the corresponding period last year, which resulted in an improvement in the 
negative revenue. 

For the nine months ended September 30, 2018 the Company incurred expenses of $228,256 (2017 - 
$114,153). The expense breakdown is as follows: Transactions costs at $5,985 (2017 - $7,551), Salaries 
at $13,433 (2017 - $18,750), Office and general at $13,159 (2017 - $16,166) Professional fees at $172,537 
(2017 - $25,985), Rent at $8,000 (2017 - $18,000), Amortization at $Nil (2017 - $5,146), Filing fees at 
$8,971 (2017 - $6,895), Consulting fees at $Nil (2017 - $9,000), Insurance at $918 (2017 - $Nil), and Travel 
at $5,253 (2017 - $6,660). The increase in total expenses is primarily due to higher professional fees. 

Net loss for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 was $(283,419), or approximately $(0.031) per 
share compared to a net loss of $(283,708) or $(0.031) per share for the nine months ended September 
30, 2017. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Nine Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30, 2018 September 30, 2017

        $         $
Total Revenues (55,163)                     (235,832)                   
Total Expenses 228,256                    114,153                    
Income (Loss) Before Taxes (283,419)                   (349,985)                   
Income Tax Expense (Recovery) -                           (66,277)                     
Net Comprehensive Income (Loss) (283,419)                   (283,708)                   
Net Earnings (Loss)
Per Common Share - basic and fully diluted (0.031)                      (0.031)                      
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SUMMARY OF QUARTERLY RESULTS  

The following table sets out selected quarterly results of the Company for the eight quarters prior to the 
effective date of this report.  The information contained herein is drawn from the interim financial statements 
of the Company for each of the aforementioned eight quarters. 

   

 

 

QUARTERLY TREND ANALYSIS  

The fluctuations in the Company’s quarterly results are primarily attributed to the economic, political and 
market conditions, which directly affected the Company’s securities trading activity. In addition, the quarter 
ended December 31, 2017 was also impacted by impairment charges of $754,102 recorded in respect of 
the Company’s exploration and evaluation assets and $27,443 in respect of the Company’s field equipment.  

  

THIRD QUARTER ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2018  

Net loss before taxes for the quarter ended September 30, 2018 was ($135,647), compared to a net loss 
before taxes in the quarter ended September 30, 2017 of ($116,305). The increase in net loss before taxes 
is primarily due to higher professional fees incurred in the current period offset somewhat by a decline in 
the losses from securities trading activity.        

  

EQUITY  

The Company’s issued capital as of September 30, 2018 consisted of 9,232,888 common shares issued 
and outstanding (2017 – 9,232,888 common shares). The Company does not have any stock options 
outstanding as of September 30, 2018. 

  

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES  

The Company had a cash balance of $1,462,192 as at September 30, 2018, compared to $26,217 as at 
December 31, 2017.  As at September 30, 2018, the Company had working capital of $1,340,600, 
compared to working capital of $1,524,019 as at December 31, 2017.  

The Company’s equity was $1,340,600 as at September 30, 2018, compared to $1,624,019 as at December 
31, 2017.  Current liabilities decreased to $165,912 at September 30, 2018 from $2,508,960 at December 
31, 2017.  

The Company has sufficient working capital to meet its liabilities and commitments as they come due.  

Other than as discussed herein, the Company is not aware of any trends, demands, commitments, events 
or uncertainties that may result in the Company’s liquidity or capital resources either materially increasing 

Year 2018 2018 2018 2017 2017 2017 2017 2016
Quarter Sept 30 Jun 30 Mar 31 Dec 31 Sept 30 Jun 30 Mar 31 Dec 31
Working Capital 1,340,600 1,476,247 1,432,799 1,524,019 1,703,403 1,824,241 1,918,218 2,074,078 
Net Loss
before Taxes (135,647)  (56,552)    (91,220)    (958,340)  (116,305)  (88,192)    (145,489)  (197,468)  
Net Earnings (Loss)
per Common Share -
Basic (0.015)      (0.006)      (0.010)      (0.099)      (0.010)      (0.008)      (0.020)      (0.021)      
and Diluted (0.015)      (0.006)      (0.010)      (0.099)      (0.010)      (0.008)      (0.020)      (0.021)      
before Taxes



6 
 

or decreasing at present or in the foreseeable future.  Material increases or decreases in the Company’s 

liquidity and capital resources will be substantially determined by the success or failure of its new ventures. 

  

 

OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS  

The Company does not have any off-balance sheet arrangements.  

  

TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES  

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2018  

All transactions with related parties have occurred in the normal course of operations.  

(a) Prior to the change in control on May 30, 2018, the Company subleased its office space from Sheridan 
Brothers Limited Partnership, an entity controlled by a former director of the Company. Rent paid to this 
entity for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 was $8,000 (September 30, 2017 - $18,000). Rent 
was paid on a month-to-month basis under this arrangement.   

(b) The Company had loans payable to related parties as follows: 

 

On April 25, 2018, the Company entered into an agreement to sell the shares of its wholly-owned subsidiary, 
Golden Brick Exploration Inc., in settlement of the loans payable to AER Nickel Corporation Limited and 
Mini Metals Inc. in the aggregate amount of $100,000. As a result of the change in control on May 30, 2018, 
these two entities are no longer related parties to the Company. 

(c) Key management personnel are defined as those individuals having authority and responsibility for 
planning, directing, and controlling the activities of the Company. God's Lake considers its officers and 
directors to be its key management personnel. Compensation paid to key management personnel was 
$13,433 and $49,000 for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 and September 30, 2017, 
respectively.  These expenditures were allocated as follows in the interim consolidated financial statements:  

 

 

 

 

 

September 30 December 31
2018 2017

AER Nickel Corporation Limited -$                42,000$          
Mini Metals Inc. -                  58,000            

-$                100,000$         

September 30 September 30
2018 2017

Exploration and evaluation assets -$                21,250$          
Professional fees -                  9,000              
Salaries and benefits 13,433            18,750            

13,433$          49,000$          
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RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES 

An investment in the securities of the Company is highly speculative and involves numerous and significant 
risks and should be undertaken only by investors whose financial resources are sufficient to enable them 
to assume such risks and who have no need for immediate liquidity in their investment. The risks listed 
below relate to the current operations and will change significantly when the change in business from an 
exploration stage company to an investment company is approved. 

 

Exploration Stage Company and Exploration Risks   

Junior natural resource issuers are typically focused primarily on the acquisition and exploration of resource 
properties.  Such properties often have no established reserves.  There is usually no assurance that any of 
the projects can be mined or operated profitably.  Accordingly, it is not assured that such issuers will realize 
any profits in the short to medium term, if at all.  Any profitability in the future from the business of a junior 
natural resource issuer is often dependent upon developing and commercially mining or operating an 
economic deposit of minerals or oil and gas reserves which in itself is subject to numerous risk factors.  The 
exploration and development of mineral and oil and gas deposits involves a high degree of financial risk 
over a significant period of time of which even a combination of careful evaluation, experience and 
knowledge of management may not eliminate.  While discovery of ore-bearing or petroleum hosting 
structures may result in substantial rewards, few properties that are explored are ultimately developed into 
producing mines or wells.   Major expenses may be required to establish reserves by drilling and to construct 
mining, processing and transport facilities at a particular site.  It is impossible to ensure that the current 
exploration, development and production programs of a junior natural resource issuer will result in profitable 
commercial mining or oil and gas operations.  The profitability of a junior natural resource issuer’s 

operations will be, in part, directly related to the cost and success of its exploration and development 
programs which may be affected by a number of factors.  Substantial expenditures are required to establish 
reserves which are sufficient to commercially mine resource and oil and gas properties and to construct, 
complete and install mining, processing and transport facilities in those properties that are actually mined 
and developed. 

  

No History of Profitability   

A junior natural resource issuer is typically a development or exploration stage company with no history of 
profitability.  There can be no assurance that the operations of a junior natural resources issuer will be 
profitable in the future.  A junior natural resource issuer often has limited financial resources and will require 
additional financing to acquire and further explore, develop, retain and engage in commercial production 
on its property interests and, if financing is unavailable for any reason, the junior natural resource issuer 
may become unable to acquire and retain its mineral concessions and carry out its business plan. 

 

Government Regulations   

A junior natural resource issuer's exploration operations will be subject to government legislation, policies 
and controls relating to prospecting, development, production, environmental protection, mining and oil and 
gas taxes and labour standards.  In order for the junior natural resource issuer to carry out its mining and 
operating activities, its exploitation licences must be kept current.  There is no guarantee that exploitation 
licences will be extended or that new exploitation licences will be granted.  In addition, such exploitation 
licences could be changed and there can be no assurances that any application to renew any existing 
licences will be approved.  The junior natural resource issuer may be required to contribute to the cost of 
providing the required infrastructure to facilitate the development of its properties.  The junior natural 
resource issuer will also have to obtain and comply with permits and licences which may contain specific 
conditions concerning operating procedures, water use, waste disposal, spills, environmental studies, 
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abandonment and restoration plans and financial assurances.  There can be no assurance that the junior 
natural resource issuer will be able to comply with any such conditions. 

 

Market Fluctuation and Commercial Quantities   

The market for minerals, oil and gas is influenced by many factors beyond the control of a junior natural 
resource issuer such as changing production costs, the supply and demand for minerals and petroleum 
products, the rate of inflation, the inventory of mineral producing companies, the international economic 
and political environment, changes in international investment patterns, global or regional consumption 
patterns, costs of substitutes, currency availability and exchange rates, interest rates, speculative activities 
in connection with minerals and petroleum, and increased production due to improved mining and 
production methods.  The metals industry in general is intensely competitive and there is no assurance 
that, even if commercial quantities and qualities of metals, oil and gas are discovered, a market will exist 
for the profitable sale of such metals, oil and gas.  Commercial viability of precious and base metals and 
other mineral deposits and oil and gas reserves may be affected by other factors that are beyond the junior 
natural resource issuer’s control including particular attributes of the deposit such as its size, quantity and 

quality, the cost of mining and processing, proximity to infrastructure and the availability of transportation 
and sources of energy, financing, government legislation and regulations including those relating to prices, 
taxes, royalties, land tenure, land use, import and export restrictions, exchange controls, restrictions on 
production, as well as environmental protection.   It is impossible to assess with certainty the impact of 
various factors that may affect commercial viability so that any adverse combination of such factors may 
result in the junior natural resource issuer not receiving an adequate return on invested capital. 

  

Mining Risks and Insurance   

A junior natural resource issuer is subject to risks normally encountered in the mining industry, such as 
unusual or unexpected geological formations, cave-ins or flooding.  The junior natural resource issuer may 
become subject to liability for pollution, damage to life or property and other hazards of mineral and oil and 
gas exploration against which it or the operator if its exploration programs cannot insure or against which it 
or such operator may elect not to insure because of high premium costs or other reasons.  Payment of such 
liabilities would reduce funds available for acquisition of mineral and oil and gas prospects or exploration 
and development and would have a material adverse affect on the financial position of the junior natural 
resource issuer.  

  

Environmental Protection   

The mining and mineral processing industries are subject to extensive governmental regulations for the 
protection of the environment, including regulations relating to air and water quality, mine reclamation, solid 
and hazardous waste handling and disposal and the promotion of occupational health and safety, which 
may adversely affect a junior natural resource issuer or require it to expend significant funds.  

  

Capital Investment  

The ability of a junior natural resource issuer to continue exploration and development of its property 
interests will be dependent upon its ability to raise significant financing.  There is no assurance that 
adequate financing will be available or that the terms of such financing will be favourable.  Should a junior 
natural resource issuer not be able to obtain such financing, its properties may be lost entirely. 
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Key Executives  

The Company is dependent on the services of key executives, including the directors of the Company and 
a small number of highly skilled and experienced executives and personnel.  Due to the relatively small 
size of the Company, the loss of these persons or the Company's inability to attract and retain additional 
highly skilled employees may adversely affect its business and future operations.  

  

Conflicts of Interest   

Certain of the directors and officers of the Company may also serve as directors and officers of other 
companies involved in natural resource and oil and gas exploration and development and consequently, 
the possibility of conflict exists.  Any decisions made by such directors involving the Company will be made 
in accordance with the duties and obligations of directors to deal fairly and in good faith with the Company 
and such other companies.  In addition, such directors declare, and refrain from voting on any matters in 
which such directors may have a conflict of interest.  

  

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES  

Preparation of interim consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to 
make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies, the reported 
amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities, and the reported 
amounts of revenues and expenses during the period. Estimates and assumptions are continuously 
evaluated and are based on management’s experience and other factors, including expectations of future 
events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Uncertainty about these judgments, 
estimates, and assumptions could result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment to the 
carrying amount of the asset or liability affected in future periods.  

Information about significant areas of estimation uncertainty considered by management in preparing the 
consolidated financial statements are as follows:  

Going Concern  

Management has made an assessment of the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern and is 

satisfied that the Company has the resources to continue in business for the foreseeable future. However, 
a material uncertainty exists that casts doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.  

Fair Value of Securities Not Quoted in an Active Market  

Where the fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded on the consolidated statements of 
financial position cannot be derived from active markets, they are determined using a variety of valuation 
techniques. The inputs to these models are derived from observable market data where possible, but where 
observable market data are not available, judgment is required to establish fair values.   

Amount of Accrued Liabilities  

Accrued liabilities are recorded based on an estimate of unbilled work performed by the Company’s vendors 

as well as any other payments which the Company will be required to make in relation to the current year's 
operations. Management makes these estimates based on historical billings and its knowledge of current 
operations. These estimates will affect the reported amounts of accrued liabilities and expenses.  
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Deferred Tax Assets and Liabilities  

Deferred tax assets are recognized in respect of tax losses and other temporary differences to the extent 
that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the losses can be utilized. Judgment is 
required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognized, based upon the likely 
timing and level of future taxable profits, together with future tax planning strategies.  

 

Exploration and Evaluation Assets  

The application of the Company’s accounting policy for exploration and evaluation assets requires judgment 
in determining whether it is likely that costs incurred will be recovered through successful exploration and 
development or sale of the asset. Furthermore, the assessment whether economically recoverable reserves 
exist is itself an estimation process. If, after expenditures are capitalized, information becomes available 
suggesting that the recovery of the expenditures is unlikely, the asset is deemed to be impaired and the 
amount capitalized is written off in the consolidated statements of comprehensive loss in the period when 
the new information becomes available. 

   

Impairment of Assets  

At each consolidated statement of financial position reporting date, the carrying amounts of the Company’s 

assets or cash-generating units are reviewed to determine whether there is any indication that those assets 
are impaired. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is assessed in order to 
determine the extent of the impairment, if any. Where the asset does not generate cash flows that are 
independent from other assets, the Company reviews the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit 
to which the asset belongs.  

  

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT   

  

Credit Risk  

Credit risk is the risk of loss associated with a counter-party’s inability to fulfil its payment obligations. The 
Company's maximum exposure to credit risk as of September 30, 2018 was $44,320 (September 30, 2017 
- $4,004,149), being the value of its due from brokers and sundry receivables. These receivables mainly 
consist of amounts due from the brokers holding the Company’s investments, and sales taxes recoverable 

from the Government of Canada. Management believes these receivables are a low credit risk. There have 
been no changes to the Company's methods for managing credit risk during the nine months ended 
September 30, 2018.  

Liquidity Risk  

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not have sufficient cash resources to meet its financial 
obligations as they come due. The Company does not generate cash flows from its principal operations of 
mineral exploration and relies on its cash balance and securities transactions to pay its liabilities. 
Management regularly reviews securities investments to ensure it maintains sufficient cash on hand for 
continued operations.  

There have been no changes to management’s methods for managing liquidity risk since December 31, 

2017. The Company had working capital of $1,340,600 as of September 30, 2018, (September 30, 2017 - 
$1,703,403) and in management’s judgment, the Company has sufficient working capital to continue to 
fund its exploration work and to pay its liabilities for the next fiscal year.  
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Market Risk  

Market risk is comprised of equity price risk, foreign currency risk, and interest rate risk. The Company’s 

exposure to these risks is described below. 

 

Equity Price Risk  

Equity price risk is the risk that the fair value of, or future cash flows from, the Company’s financial 

instruments will significantly fluctuate due to changes in stock market prices.  The value of the Company's 
investments owned and sold short is affected by changes in market prices. Management reduces its 
exposure to market prices by holding investments for short periods of time. There have been no changes 
in the Company's risk management strategies for the nine months ended September 30, 2018.  

Foreign Currency Risk  

Foreign currency risk is the risk that fluctuations in the rates of exchange on foreign currency would impact 
the Company’s future cash flows.  The Company is exposed to foreign exchange fluctuations in cash and 
portfolio securities that are denominated in United States (“US”) dollars. The Company had a net asset 
(liability) exposure to US dollar instruments of $24 as at September 30, 2018 (September 30, 2017 - 
$(3,646)). There have been no changes in the Company's risk management strategies for the nine months 
ended September 30, 2018. 

Interest Rate Risk  

Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in interest rates would impact the Company's future cash flows. 
The Company does not currently have any interest-bearing debt and the interest earned on its cash 
balances are minimal. As such, the Company is not exposed to significant interest rate risk. There have 
been no changes to managements’ strategies to mitigate interest rate risk during the year.  

  

MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

  

The information provided in this report, including the financial statements, is the responsibility of 
management.  In the preparation of these statements, estimates are sometimes necessary to make a 
determination of future values for certain assets or liabilities.  Management believes such estimates have 
been based on careful judgments and have been properly reflected in the financial statements.  

  

CAUTION REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS  

  

Statements contained in this document, which are not historical facts are forward looking statements that 
involve risks, uncertainties and other factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from those 
expressed or implied by such forward looking statements.  Factors that could cause differences include, 
but are not limited to, volatility and sensitivity to market prices for base metals, environmental and safety 
issues, changes in government regulations and policies and significant changes in the supply-demand 
fundamentals for base metals that could negatively affect prices.  Although the Company believes that the 
assumptions used are reasonable, these statements should not be heavily relied upon.  The Company 
disclaims any intention or obligation to update or revise any forward-looking statements whether as a result 
of new information, future events or otherwise. 
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